
1 Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

Internal Affairs Number: IA208011 1]
[DateofIncident: |Marh23,203 |Date ComplaintReceived: |December 7, 2018
[DateofReport: [Marh2z208 |

‘Case Investigator: ‘Major William R. Newhouse.

© |Etinplainant’s Name: O'Neil Kerr(FormerFMPDDetective)
Address:
City/State/Zip:
Telephone:
InvolvedOfficer: Captain Jay Rodriguez
Identification Number: 235

Division/Unit: Investigative Services Bureau
Represented by counsel: NA
Involved Officer: Officer Jason Greene
Ideiitification Number: 339

on/Unit: OperationsBureawPatrolRindiycom |PoxPronteneonShes
Involved Officer: Detective Wolfgang Daniel
Identification Number: 384

Division/Unit: Investigative Service BureauRepresented by counsel: PBA PresidentM. Sellers

‘SummaryofAllegation(s)for | Former Detective O’Neil Kerr allegedCaptain JayRodriguezCaptainRodriguez: engagedinsexwhileonduty with a“prostitute”orsexworker”.- Mr.Kerrallegedthisoccurredatthe NewAsianMassage parlor{fiainant: O'NeilKerr | under Fort Myers Police report number 2013-02675. Mr. Kerr
Re provided acopyof avideooftheundercoveroperationatthey NewAsianMassageParlor,depicting JayRodriguez engagingin

sexualactivitywhileacting inanundercover capacity on duty.
The FloridaDepartment ofLawEnforcementconducted a
‘criminal investigation into the actions of CaptainRodriguez and
subsequently arrestedhimonSeptember 10, 2019forthe
following criminal charges: FS. 838.022(1Xs) OfficialMisconduct, F.5. 837.02(1) Perjury in Official Proceeding, aadFS. 196.070) Prostitution.

Complainant: Major ‘Captain Rodriguez provided untruthfulsworntestimony duringNewhouse bis January8,2019Internal Affairs subjectofficer interview
ou ‘whenhe denied ever engaginginsexual activity whileondutyi witha “prostitute”or “sexworker”
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{ Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

[ToternalAffairs Number: [TAZom801
[DateofTocident: |March2,2053 |
[DateofReport: |Marchzz2m |
Complainant: Major OnMarch 14,2013,at 8:55 p.m. Captain JayRodriguezsent anNewhouse emailtoLt. Rebecca Prince,containing his written accountofbis actions and the defendant’s actions during his undercoverRd investigationonMarch14,2013at NewAsianMassage. CaptainKis Rodriguez written accountoftheincidentwaslater uscdtoee completethenarrativeportion ofthearrestreportforthissameincident, FMPD Arrest Report2013-02675,asthetwowrittenaccounts were nearly identical. Captain Rodriguez willfullymisrepresentedthefactsofwhatoccurred during his undercover‘operationinhiswritten accountofthe incident,as his written‘accountwasnotsupportedby whatoccurredonthevideooftheincident.

Captain Jay Rodrigue:
eral Order9.1. ~Section |StandardofConduct — Employees must always conductfs themselves, bothon oFoft.duty in 8 waythatreflectsfevorablyEd on the police department. Employees are forbidden fromengaging In conduct that dishonors the police department,discredits theindividual as alawenforcementemployee, orimpairstheefficient operationofthe employeeorthepolicedepartment. Inadditiontothepreceding rules,all employeesareaccountable and responsiblefortheLaw EnforcementCodeofEthicsas aprofessionalguideline.

GeneralOrder9.1-Section |ObediencetoLaws,Rules.Ordinances,Rules orOrders -nA-2: Employeesshallcomply withfederal andstate laws, cityordinances, rules and procedures, and departmental policies,Fre rules,orders,andprocedures.
GeneralOrder9.1-Section Untruthfulnessin_an_officialproceeding (Perjury): PolicenA37: Department personnel shall not knowingly make faisestatementsorintentionalomissions while under oath inanofficialproceedingcontrarytoFlorida law.

GeneralOrder 9.1,Section III | Misrepresentation_or_Falsification: An employee shall not® willfully misrepresent or falsify any matter, verbally, or inwriting.
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

[Internal AffairsNumber: [A200
[Dateof incident: |Marchz3,203 |

December7, 2018

SummaryofAllegation(s)for |On January 31,2019,Officer JasonGreeneprovided a sworn
OfficerJasonGreene: statementto MajorWilliam NewhouseinreferencetoIA2018-

011. On May 14, 2019, former Detective Donald WeathersComplainant: Major provided aswornstatementto FDLEAgentsinrefereaceto 4Newhouse criminal investigation involving former Captain Jay Rodriguez.— Officer Greene's testimonywasinconsistentwith the swornlo testimony provided by former Detective Donald Weathers,int suggesting that Officer Greene possibly provided untruthful
‘sworntestimonyinanofficialproceeding.

OnMay8,2019, OfficerJason Greeneprovided aswornstatementto FDLEAgents inreference fo acriminalinvestigation involvingformerCaptain JayRodriguez. OnMay14,2019,former Detective Donald Weathersprovided a swornstatementtoFDLEAgentsinreferencetothesamecriminal
investigation. OfficerGreene's testimony wasinconsistentwiththe sworn testimony provided by former Detective Donald; Weathers, suggesting that Officer Greene possibly provided
untruthfulsworn testimony inanofficialproceeding.

Ee [|OfficerJasonGreene:
GeneralOrder 9.1-Section |Untruthfulness in_an_offical proceeding (Perlurvl; PoliceTA37: Department personnel shall not knowingly make false

statementsorintentionalomissions whileunder oathinan
officialproceedingcontrarytoFloridalaw.

|
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

TeraalAffeNumbers [IB0I800
[DateofIncident: |March23,208 |

[DateofReport: [Marchaz201 |
‘SummaryofAllgation(s)for | On January 31, 2019, Detective Wolfgang Daniel provided aDetective Wolfgang Daniel: | swornstatementtoMajor William Newhouse in referenceto14

2018-011. OnMay14, 2019,formerDetectiveDonaldWeathers
Complainant:Major provided aswornstatementto FDLE Agentsinreferenceto a
Newhouse criminalinvestigationinvolvingformerCaptainJayRodriguez.Detective Danis esimony was nconsoentwi he ostestimony provided by forme Detective Donald WeathersJ. suggestingthat DetectiveDaniel possibly provided untruthful
Dae ‘sworntestimonyinanofficial proceeding.e-
z On April 30, 2019, Detective WolfgangDaniel provided a sworn

statement to FDLE Agents in reference to a criminal
InvestigationinvolvingformerCaptain JayRodriguez. OnMay14, 2009, formerDetectiveDonald Weathers proviaed osors
statementto FDLEAgentsinreferenceto thesamecriminal
investigation. Officer Daniel’s testimonywasinconsistentwith

‘Weathers, suggesting that Detective Daniel possibly provideduntruth sworn temony inan oMcalprocending,

GeneraOrder 5.1 - Section |UnrateTas3_sTiGal rosea (Pecan FolieTA37: Department personnel shall not knowingly make false
statementsorintentionalomissionswhile under oath in an
‘officialproceedingcontrarytoFloridalaw.

vost
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& Fort Myers Police Department g
Internal Affairs Investigation

a—

[Date of ncdent: [Marenzs, |
[DateofReport: [March2z2021 |
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

DateofIncident:—____|March23,203 |

[DateofReport:  |March2z201 |
Law Enforcement Witnesses

’ Name: |DetectiveO'Neil Kerr(Retired)d Address:
City/State/Zip:

Employer:
Phone:
Email:
‘Name: |Lt Walter Mitchell

Address: |2210WidmanWay
City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers,Florida 33901

‘Employer: | FortMyers Police Department
‘WorkPhone: |(239) 321-7700

Emait:_| smichellwimpaicecon
‘Name:

Address: |2210 Widman Way
City/State/Zip: | FortMyers,Florida 33901

Employer: | FortMyersPoliceDepartment
‘Work Phone: | 239) 321.7700

Email:
‘Name: | Officer VIET Doyle

Address: |2210Widman Way
City/State/Zip:| FortMyers,Florida 33901

Employer: |FortMyersPoliceDepartment
‘WorkPhone: |(239) 321-7700

Ema: _| viovlcafmpolice.co
Name: |OfficerMaryEllen Hughes

Address: |2210Widman Way
City/State/Zip:| FortMyers,Florida 33901

Employer: |Fort Myers PoliceDepartment
‘WorkPhone:|(239) 321-7700

Email:| mheylesfmpolice con
‘Name: |Officer Jason Greene

Address: |2210Widman Way
City/State/Zip:| FortMyers,Florida 33901

Employer: | Fort Myers PoliceDepartment
‘WorkPhone: |(239) 321-7700

Emait:_| jeencafnpoliceson
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

[loternal AffairsNumber: [A20@o0 |
DateofIncident: |Marchz3,208 |

w Enforcement Witnesses
Name: | Detective Wolfgang Daniel

Address: | 2210 Widmen Way
City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33901

Employer: | Fort Myers Police Department.
‘Work Phone: | (239) 321-7700

Email:| wdaniclafpolicecor
pater Name: | Sgt. David Conticelli» Address: | 2210 Widman Way

City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33501
Employer: | Fort Myers Police Department

‘Work Phone: | (239) 321.7700
Emait:_| deonicelliatupolice com
Name:

Address: [ 2210 Widman Way
City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33501

Employer: | Fort Myers Police Department
‘Work Phone: | 239) 321.7700

Email:
Name:

Address: [12210 Widmen Way
City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33901

‘Employer: | Fort MyersPolice Department
‘Work Phone: | (239) 321-7700

Email:
‘Name:| Lt Rebecca Prince (Retired)

Address: | 2295 Victoria Avenue, #145
City/State/Zip: | Fort Myers, Florida 33901

Employer:|ABT- Fort Myers
Coll Phone: | (239) 560-3509

Email: | Unknown
Name: | Sean Havemner (Former Officer)

Address:
City/StateiZip:

Employer:
Cell Phone:

Email:
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

aYT—
[Dateofincident: [March23,208 |

(DateofReport: |March222000 |

Law Enforcement Witness
‘Name:| Special Agent Kendall Bores (FDLE)

~~ Address: | 4700 Terminal Drive, Suite 1
City/State/Zip: | Fort Myers, Florida 33907port|FouWork Pune: |GoSy 278.7080Eon| Comat ees

Name: | SASGrantWagner(FDLE)Addr | S70Pom ve Sut
City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33907rors |FonWork bhanss | Coops 1080Ee|ooec

‘Name:| SA Gary Negrinelli (FDLE)
Address: | 4700 Terminal Drive, Suite 1

City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33907
Employer:|FDLE

‘Work Phone: | (239) 278-7080
Email: yNegrinelli a fdle state.lus
Name: | Special Agent Chris Tissot (FDLE)

Address: |4700 Terminal Drive, Suite 1
City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33907aor |For
‘Work Phone: | (239) 278-7080pol Eas A

Name: |SA Peter Kennedy (FDLE)
Address: | 4700 Terminal Drive, Suite 1

City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33907opr |For
‘Work Phone: | (239) 278-7080

Email: | Peter ennedvifdl te.flus
Name:|SCIAKelly Andriano (FDLE)

= Address: |4700TerminalDrive,Suite1 -
City/State/Zip:|FortMyers, Florida 33907

Employer:|FOLE
‘Work Phone: | (239) 278-7080Ee| leita
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

[Toternal Affairs Rumber: [TAZOI8OL

[March22,2001

ww Enforcemen tnesses
Name: | Special Agent Daniel Chu (FDLE)

Address:| 4700 Terminal Drive, Suite 1
City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33907

‘Employer:| FDLE
‘Work Phone: | (239) 278-7080

Email:| DanielChuwfdle state.flus
Name: |DFC Christopher Vaden

uate ot Address:| 4700TerminalDrive,Suite1
Date City/State/Zip:|Fort Myers, Florida 33907
ve Employer: |FDLE

‘Work Phone:| (239) 278-7080
Email: |Unkoown
Name: | Deputy ChiefJeffrey MeyersAddress;| 2210 Widman Way

City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33901
Employer: | Fort Myers Police Department

‘WorkPhone: | (239) 321-7700
Ema; | invitee con
Name:

Co Address:[2910 Widman Way
City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33901

Employer:| Fort Myers PoliceDepartment‘Work Phone:| 239) 321.7700
Email:
Name: [Detective James Langion

Address: | 2210 Widman Way
City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33901

‘Employer: | Fort Myers Police Department
‘WorkPhone: | (239) 321-7700

Ema: | Jingtonainpsice com
Name: | Lt. Brian O'Reilly (Retired)

2 Address: | 2210 WidmanWay
City/State/Zip: | Fort Myers, Florida 33901

Employer:| Fort MyersPoliceDepartment
‘Work Phone:| (239) 321-7700

Email: | boreil\@impolcs com
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3 Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

[DateofIncident: [March23,208 |
December 7, 2018

PT ——
Name: | FormerDetectiveDonald Weathers.] Adtran| 01SiSe

City/State/Zip: | Labelle, Florida 33939
4 Employer: | Hendry County Sheriff’s Office

‘Work Phone: | (863) 674-4060
Email: _| Unknown

Name: |FormerOfficer Sean FitzpatrickAdin|Eomem
City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33901pons|honeFloriWork Booms: | DatosEna:|on

Name:| Former Sgt. Eric Gutridge
Address: | 2210 Widman WayClysting, | Fnnyemoneoon

Employer: | Retired
‘Work Phone: | (239) 321-7700Ema: |Gatrons

Name:| Detective Brad Dickerson (Retired)
Address:| 430 S. Parish Avenue

City/State/Zip:| Johnstown, CO 80534
Employer: | Johnstown Police

‘Work Phone: | (970) 578-9961

Name:| Sgt.CandicePetaccio (Retired)Ada|Eee
City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33901

Wor |S,Em|UntNome: Cop Weeried
Address: | 2210 Widman Way

City/State/Zip:|Fort Myers, Florida 33901

Worms|Sa00Een|Gone
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of Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

[Dateoffacident:___[Mareh2,205 |

w Enforcement Witnesses
Name:| Capt. James Mulligan (Retired)Address| 2310 Widman Wy

City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33901Air Employer:| Reired
_ ‘WorkPhone: | (239) 321-7700Ema; |Unkeown

Name:|ChiefDennis Eads (Retired)Addres;| 210WidmanWey
City/State/Zip:| Fort Myers, Florida 33901

Employer:| Retired
‘Work Phone: | (239) 321-7700

Email: |Unknown

Name: | ChiefDouglas Baker (Retired)
Address: | 2210 Widman Way

City/State/Zip: | Fort Myers, Florida 33901
Employer: | RetiredWork Phone:| (239 321.7700

Enall_| Untooun
‘Name: | Detective Ralph Louissaint

Address:| 2210 Widman WayCltyStaterzi: | Fort Myer, Frid 33901
‘Employer: | Fort Myers Police Department

‘Work Phone:| (239) 321-7770
Email: | rlouissaini@fimpolice co
Name: | Lt. Enrico Doro (Retired)

Address:| 2210 Widman Way
City/State/Zip: | Fort Myers, Florida 33901Employer | Fort MyerPolisDepartment
‘Work Phone: | (239) 321-7770Ema, | Uniorown

Name:| Sgt. Mike Forbes (Retired)Adres: | 2510 Wiamen Way
City/State/Zip:|Fort Myers, Florida 33901

Employer: | Retired
‘Work Phone:| (239) 321-7700

Email: _| Unknown
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

[InternalAffairsNumber: [iAZORBOL
[DateofTncident: March |

(DateofReport:  |March222001|
‘omplainant(s) - Civilian Witness

‘Name:| Qe} Ker (FormerOfficer)
Address:

Cityrstate:

Telepho
‘Name: | BA T0

Address:|2200Second Street
City/State: | FortMyers,Florida 33902
Employer: |Cityof Fort Myers

ate o Telephone:| 239) 321.7125
: ‘Name:|StevenList

Address:| 2210 Widman Way
City/State: |Fort Myers,Florida33901
Employer:| FortMyers Police
Telephone:| 239) 321.7700

‘Name: | Denise Egolf (Deceased)
Address:| 2210 Widman Way

City/State:| FortMyers, Florida 33901
Employer:| Fort MyersPolice
Telephone: |(239) 321.7700

‘Name: EllenClyatt(HRDirocior)
es Address: |2200 SecondStreet

City/State:| FortMyers, Florida 33902
Employer:|Cityof Fort Myers
Telephone:| (239) 321.7064

‘Name:|RichardCalkins(ITSDirector)
Address:|2200SecondStreet

City/State:|FortMyers,Florida 33902
Employer:|Cityof Fort Myers
Telephone:| (239) 321.7120

‘Name:| JuanSoto(FiscalManage)
Address: |2210Widman Way

City/State: |Fort Myers, Florida 33901
Employer:| FortMyers Police
Telephone:| 239) 321.7759

‘Name:| Holly Simone (Finance)
Address:|2200SecondStreet

City/State: | Fort Myers,Florida33902
Employer: |Cityof Fort MyersTelephone: | 239) 321.7159
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

EE
[Dateoffncident:—___ [March23,203 |

(DateofReport: ~~ [March2z200 |

Name:| Sharon Wright(FormerFiscal)
Address:|Unknown

City/State:| Unknown
Employer:| Unknown
Telephone:| Unknown

Name:| JennetteKreuz(FormerFiscal)
Address:

CltyiState:
Employer: | UnknownN Telephone:

or Name:| ArleenStoebenan
Address:|2210Widman Way

CityState: | FortMyers,Florida 33901
Employer:| FortMyers Police
Telephone: | (239) 321.7723

Name:|DiannKopilec (Fiscal)
Address:|2210 Widman Way

City/State:| Fort Myers,Florida33901
Employer: |Fort Myers Police
Telephone: | (239) 321.7724

‘Name:| JoannDaniels (Fiscal)
Address:| 2210 Wdman Way

City/State:| FortMyers, Florida 33901
Employer:|Fort MyersPolice
Telephone:| (239)321-7689

Name:|KbandyceMosely
Address:|2210 Widman Way

City/State: |FortMyers,Florida 33901
Employer:| FortMyersPolice
Telephone:| (239) 321.7725

Name:|HeideBrescher
Address:|2210 WidmanWay

City/State:| FortMyers, Florida 33901
Employer:|Fort MyersPolice.
Telephone:| (239) 321.8025

Name:|CJISQSBryanPlatten
Address:|CriminalJustice Info Systems

City/State:| Fort Myers, Florida
Employer: | cts
Telephone: | (239) 533-2515
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

[Internal AfuesNumber: [xAzoreomr[Dateofincident [Marehzs,208 |
[DatofReport: [Marchzpziar |

Complainant(s) — Civilian Witness
‘Name:|AnthonyThomasAddres: | 2726LemonBeet

City/State:|FortMyers,Fl33916Employer:|Unnaen
Telephone:| (239) 265-2575; Name |VaGren

1a Address:|Unknown
" City/State:|Unknown

Employer:|Unknown

Name:
Address:|Unknown

CitySat: | Unknow
Employer:|UnknownTeehone | Unkpewn

Name: | Angela MamieAddress:
City/State:Ene

Nome|Met HaLsAddress: |Unkoown
City/State:|UnknownEmployer: | Unknow
Telephone:|Unknown

Name:|Jill Newhouse
Address:|2210 Widman Way

City/State: | FortMyers,Florida 33901
Employer:| Fort MyersPoliceaephants | (239) S1:80%
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

[Internal Affairs Nomber:  [iAZOT8OG
[DateofTocident:——|MarchB,203_|

[DateofRepor:  [March2z208 |
Statements List

[ Rame TT Date|| Written/Verbal & Transcribed ||FormerDetectiveONeilKer || 12712018 || Declined |pl WalterMitchell 71272012018 || Audio andtranseribed |
[12700018|| Audioend transeribed ||OfficerVincentDoyle ||12/21/2018 | | Audioandtranseribed ||CaptainJayRodriguez || 1/8209|| Audioendtranscribed |[HitbaMils | 71/182019 || Audioandtransorbed ||OfficerMary EllenHughes | | 1/31/2019|| Audioandtransoribed |[Officer JasonGreene || 1/31/2009|| Audioandtranscribed ||Detective WolfgangDeniel || 1/31/2019 || Audioandtranscribed |LSeeDevidConiiceli | | 1/31/2019 || Audioandtransorbed |
JTiAI2019[| Audioandtranscribed |\Seerlist [131209|| Email to CaptainNewhows |
J T2201 [| Audioand ranseribed____||Lt.Reboca Prince (Retired) || N/A ||Declinedtoreturn phonecallveicemail||Officer Sean Havemner(Forme Officer) | | 272019 || Audioandtransribed |[Denise golf (RecordsSupervisor) || WA | | Provided Documents-Deceased ||Special Agent KendallBores FDL)|| NA || Declined ||SABipervisor GrantWagner(FDLE)|| NA || Declined || SpecialAgent Gary Negrinelli(DLE)|| NA || Declined |fSpecial AgentClrisTissot ]DLE) || NA [| Declined |[SpecialAgentPeterKennedy PDLE) || NA || Declined ||SCIAKellyAndriano FDLE) || NA || Declined |[Special AgentDaniel Chu || NA |[Declined|[DECChristopherVaden || NA || Declined ||Richard Calkins (ITS) || 12/102030 || Audioand transcribed |[Babar Wills(TS) || 12/102020 || Audioand transcribed ||Fiscal ManagerJusnSoto | | 12/10/2020|| Audioandtranscribed |[Holly Simone(CityFortMyers) | | 12/10/2020|| Audio andtransoribed |omer FocMimsShonWh|| Na Doin tort prone |

[1272172020"
[AdeenStosbenan [12/21/2020 || Audio and transcribed |[DiamnKopiles |"["12/1%72020|| Audioand transoribed |JoannDaniels [71/11/2000|| Audioand transcribed |[KhandyceMosely | | 12/11/2020 || Audioandtranscribed ||HeideBrescher |11221/2020 || Audio andtranscribed |[CHS QSBranPlaten I” NA[| Emilorie |[DeputyChiefJeffrey Meyers || 1/14/2021 || Audioand transcribed |[HRDirector Ellen Clvatt || 1/14/2021 || Audioand transcribed |

§ basa
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

[InternalAffairs Number: [A200
[DateofIncident: |Marchm3,20 |
[DateofReport: |Marchz22026 |

tatements List
Lm.™ [|Date[|WrittewVerbal&Transcribed |

J[T2001 [Audioandtranscribed |[DetectiveJamesLangton 171717142021|| Audioandtranscribed |[LiBramOWReilly | | 17265021|| Audioandtranseribed |[AnthonyThomas ||”NA [| Declined |[YeChen TNA|| Unmbletolose |
TNA Umbletolose |AngelaMontalvo ITT"NA || Declinedviaatiome; |SgDavidConticeli | | 17272021 || Audio andtranscribed |

 [pen0ai[| Audioand transcribed |
ipenoat|| Audioand transeribed ||FormerOfficerSeanHavemner | | 1/26/2021|| Audio andtranseribed |PillNewhowe | 171267021|| Audio andtransoribed |[MeiBunlu [| NA[| Umbletolocste || Former Detective Donald Weathers | | 2/1/2021 || Declined viaattorney |(FormerOfficer ScanFitzpatrick || 2/3/2021|| Audioandtranseribed |

J im7s0a1 [Audioandtranscribed |[DetectiveVincent Doyle ||”2/2021 || Audioandtranscribed |[FormerSgt.ErioGuidge || NA || Declined via lettertoFDLE ||FormerDetectiveBrad Dickerson || 2/1/2021 || Audioandtranseribed |LtWalter Mitchell ||"2/4/2021 || Audioand transcribed |[Former Sgt. CandicePetaccio || NA || Unabletocomact |[FormerCapt.MelvinPery || N/A || Didnotrespond to email request |[FormerCapt.JamesMulligsn || 1290021 || Declined || FormerCapt DennisEads || 2/1/2021|| Audioandtranscribed ||EqnerChief Douglas Beker || 1202021|| Declined ||DetectiveRalph Louissaint | | 1/27/2021|| Audioandtranseribed ||FormerSgt. Richard Notwro || WA || Declinedviaatiomey |[FormerLt EwieoDoro || 2/1/2021 || Audioandtransoribed |[stMikeForbes | 1"2/1/2021 || PhoneCal withAttorney-Waiting _|

Hine
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

Tnternal Airs Number: _[IAZ0l800DateofIncident: Mahz,20m|December7,2008

Statements List- Taken By FDLE

[Name TT Date [|| WrittenVerbal&Transcribed |
[SgiDavidConticelli || 2212005 || Audioandtranscribed |

3172019 Hud andtamed
I [aspoe

[Former OfficerSean Havenner || 3/5/2019 || Audioandtranscribed |
et 1 Hl ‘Audioandtranscribed

[BubaaWills | [47162019|| Audioandtranscribed |[MeiHaulu [74/16/2019| |Verbalonly —NoAudioortranscription|[ONeilKew ——— [77a;ms;019|| Audiosndtranscribed |[DetectiveWolfiangDaniel || 4/30/2019 || Audioandtranscribed |
[OfficerJasonGreene || 5/8/2019 | | Audioandtranscribed |Former Lt. Rebecca Prince. [15/10/2019||"Audioand transcribed |Former DetectiveDonaldWeathers || 5/14/2019|| Audioandtranscribed |
|Former OfficerSeanFitzpairick || 61212019|| Audioandtranseribed |

FormerSuRichardNotaro || 6/1/2019 || Declinedviaattomes, |
J[16142019|| Audioand transcribed |

Former Sgt. BricGuridge || 6142019|| Declinedvialetter |ere

oo
i
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

Teena Aa amber: [IA TOT8001
[Dateofincident: ____[Marh2,203 |
Date Complaint Received: December7, 2018
[DateofReport:  |Marchzz20 |

Investizative Summary
OnFriday,December7,2018, former FortMyersPolice Detective O'NeilKerrsentanemailto the

Cityof Fort MyersDirector ofHuman Resources, Ellen ClyattandChief Derrick Diggs. Mr. Kerr
TE ComploreSt ell Inthisemail, Mr.Kerrmadea seriesofallegations

employeesofthe FortMyersPoliceDepartment.(Acopyof thisemailwasincludedinthe case9
On Monday,December10,2018,Mr.Kerrsent afollow-upemailto HumanResourcesDirector

Clyattand City AttomeyGrant Alley,copyingCouncilman Johnny Streets.(Acopyofthisemail was
includedinthe casefile)

On Monday,December 10,2018, at about 5:00 p.m., Chief DiggsmetwithCaptainNewhouseandcarefully reviewedcachoftheseparatecomplaintsbroughtforwardbyMr. Kerr. Upon reviewingthe
complaints, ChiefDiggsordered CaptainNewhousetoconductanInternalAffairsInvestigation
regarding a specific complaintmade by Mr. KerragainstCaptain JayRodriguez. Thiscomplaint
includedthefollowingallegationbyMr.Kerinhis December7*email:
cant
SE «ds amemberofthenowdefunctSpecialInvestigations nit(SIG),Rodrigue:
¥ wasinvolvedinsexwhileonduty.Listed aresomeoftheofficerswhohave

workedwithorinthatSIGunitandhavespecificknowledgeofthisandother
‘actionsby Rodriguezthataretobeconsidered unbecoming of aFolce Office, (0: Dept MchesonAEN1

Additionally, Mr.Kerrprovided thefollowinginhisDecember 10%email:

“Specifically,theinformationonRodriguezhastobeknownandvery unlikelyFamtheonewhobrought10 ight. For police fcr 1engape iwer
while on duty isbadenoughbut to engageinthat act with asexworker1S?(prostitue)showsthe characterandethicalmindsetof thatperson” [sic]

“on‘Wednesday, December12,2018,Captain NewhousemetwithCaptainRodriguezandprovided
‘himwith awrittennotification ofthe Internal Affairs Investigation. (Note: acopy of this notification is
contained within the case file) Additionally, on December 12, 2018, Captain Newhouse (through his

AdministrativeAssistant)sentMr.Kerr awritten notification thattheProfessionalStandardsSectionreceivedhis complaint and asgned i 3an Teal Ars Ivesdgation. (utes coup of
‘notificationis containedwithinthecasefile)

OnThursday, December 13,2018, Captain NewhousesentMr.Kerranemail,requestingthathe
contacthimfor a swomninterviewregardinghis complaint. Captain Newhouse also telephoned Mr.

Kerrand left avoicemailrequestinghecontacthimforaninterview.
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OnFriday,December 14,2018, at 7:36 a.m. Mr. KerrsentanemailtoCaptainNewhouseindicatingbe would contact him later that day. At approximately 2:35 pm., Mr. Kerr telephoned CaptainNewhouseandsaid hewasnotcertain whetherhewantedtoprovide a swornstatemea inreferencetohiscomplaint.Healsosaid he wouldthink about itovertheweekendand let CaptainNewhouseknowhisdecision by sometimethefollowingweek.

OnTuesday,December18,2018,at9:13 a.m, Mr.Kerrsent Captain Newhouse afollow-upemail10theDecember 14* phoneconversation. Mr.Kerrmadethe following statements (among,manyothers)in hiscmal,indicatinghe didnotwant to provide aswomnstatement:
«“Everything 1 stated was objectivelytruthfulandprovided witnessesandthose with first hand«v=: knowledge to corroborate thespecific allegations ofwhat you broadlydefinedasMisconduct...”

** “Irefuseto putmy futeinyour handsSirforsomanyreasons. Mostconcerningisthenefariousreasonsuchas, known yourrequestcouldbeusedtoharmmein acivilorcriminalmanner.”
© “Theabsoluie personalbad experienceswith hissection youarenowin-charge ofspecificallyafier brining forward informationor making acomplain, 1amthen automatically turned info a

© “I don'tbelieveyou willfairlyandwithou biasinvestigate afriendandanequalworkcolleagueithwhomyouhave workedwith for20+years".
* “Loffer two optionstoshow 1am fully co operativewiththiscomplaint. First,Iwouldsubject+ myself0 apolygraph to test theveracityofmystatements andSecond,in the spirit of fairness‘and equalityto havethecityusean independentdiversityinvestigator 10propertyinvestigateandreach aconclusionbaseonthe acts".

(ote: acompletecopyofthisemailwasincludedinthecasefle)
On Wednesday, December19,2018,Captain Newhousesent aresponseemailto Mr.Kerr. CaptainNewhouseconveyedbasedupon hiscalabove,itappearedhe wasunwillingtoprovide a swornstatementconceming hiscomplaints. Captain Newhouse included languageinthisemai,askingMr.Kerr tocontacthimimmediatelyifhewantedtoprovide aswornstatementin the matter. (Note:2 copyofthisemailwas includedinthecasefile)

OnThursday,December20, 2018, Mr.Kerrsent aresponseemailcontaining the following: “7amwilling to llycooperatewiththis complaintbysubjectingmyselfto apolygraphto tes theveracityofmy statements. Orinthespiritoffairness andequalitytohavethecityusean independent diversityinvestigator o properly investigate and reach a conclusionbasedon thefacts"
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Mr. Kerrprovidedtwo(2) differentaltematives butdidnot elect toprovide aswomsiatement‘concerninghiscomplaint.

CaptainNewhouse researchedthe files intheProfessionalStandards Section’sdatabase,knownasIAPro, foranycompleints/investigationsthat mightberelated to Mr. Kerr'sallegationsagainstCaptainRodrigues. Captain Newhousediscoveredthat onOctober 11,2017,ananonymouscomplainantsent alettertoChiefDiggs,making numerousallegationsagainstFort MyersPoliceemployees.OneoftheSomplsints allegedbytheanonymousauthorwasthat Captain Rodriguezrecelved oralsexfrom &‘The anonymous complainant wrote theam

“Inmypreviousletter, I told you thatJayRodriguezwascorruptandracist, butyoupromotedhimtoCaptain anyway. 1knowyoumaynothavehadmuchtochooseJrom,butJayRodriguez. So justtoltyouknowJayRodriguez's isgoingtobeoneofyoubiggest disappointments, regrets and greatestembarrassmentsinceyoustarted working at thepolicedepartment. Rodriguezthought that officershadletthe scene. Afemaleinformantgavehimablowjob. The blow jobwasrecorded.Rumorhasit thatthereis avideo ofthis, andofficersare upsetanddisgustedthatJayRodriguezwaspromoted consideringhis historyofmisconduct. Everyone .evows that hewasone ofthekeyplayersthatcaused thedestructionofouragency.Som If this rumorisatalltrue,andofcourse 1hopethat it is not,as a professional"BB" courtesy, I wantyoutobepreparedtocombat theseallegations, It seems like"officers fromSIG lovehaving sexwith informants, butwasunableto makeasignificantdrug arrestinyears.JayRodriguezwentintotheSIG office,pleadingwithoffcersnot10betray him,because iscareerand marriagewouldbeoverif thevideowas leak. Heisdesperately ryingtogetthevideo,soitcanbe destroyed.Anotherrumoris fierSIGwasdismaniled,JayRodriguezmadesure that theofficersfrom SIGwereassigned backtounitsoftheir preference". [sic]
‘Thisanonymous complaintagainst Captain Rodriguezwasinvestigatedby Lt. Brian O'Reilly as 1A2017017." Lt. O'Reilly conducted interviews with employees who worked with Capisin Rodriguez‘whenhe wasassignedtotheSpecialInvestigations Group. These employeesincludedDetectiveYingent Doyle, DetectiveMatthew Schulze,Lt. EaricoDoro, Captain Deanis Eads,Jill Newhouse,apiain JamesMulligan,DetectiveCandice Petaccio, Sgt. Michacl Walsh, OfficerKellyWitt, and Sgt.‘Additionally,Lt. O'Reillyinterviewed CaptainRodriguez andhedecidcommiting1 act. Attheconclusionofthis investigation, ChiefDiggs determinedtheanonymouscomplainant'sallegationagainst CaptainRodriguez wasunfounded.(Not:acopyofthe investigativereportfor1A2017-017wasincludedin thecasefle)

‘Therewasnospecificdateorlocation listedbyMr.Kerro theanonymouscomplainantconcerningthe allegationsinvolvingCaptain Rodriguez. Additionally, Mr. Kerr declinedto provide adetailed‘womstatement whereinhecouldbeaskedquestions relatedtothedetailsof isallegation,or howhe‘cametoknowthisinformation. ItisimpossibletoknowwhetherornotMr.Kerandtheanonymous
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complainantwerereferingtothesame incident.Mr.Kerr, did however,indicate thefollowing:“Listedaresomeofthe officers whohaveworkedwithor in thatSIGunitandhavespecificknowledgeofthisandotheractionsbyRodrig are(0beconsideredasconduct unbecomingof a PoliceOfficer. (V. Doyle, W. Michelland! *ficl
EA .December 20,2018, CaptainNewhouseconductedanaudiorecordedsworn i‘with Offi inreference to this allegation. Oc RY iei fl evewitnessed, nor ofCaptain Rodriguez engaginginthe ged by Mr.Kerr.
OnThursday,December 20,2018, Captain Newhouseconductedanaudiorecorded sworninterviewtheLt. Walter Mitchellinreferencetothisallegation. Lt. MitchellsidthathehadnoknowledgeofCaptain Rodriguez engagingintheconductallegedbyMr.Kerr.
On Friday,December21, 2018, Captain Newhouse conducted a sworn —audiorecorded interviewwithOfficerVincentDoyle. OfficerDoyletestified. that hedidnothaveanypersonal knowledge‘concerningCaptain Rodriguezengaginginsexonduty. OfficerDoyle said heheardsomethinginthepstsboutCaptain Rodriguesengagingin “inappropriateactivity”,buthe didnotknowthe nature ofthe, inappropriate activity”. Officer Doyle saidhedidnotknowwhoheheardthisinformation fromaiddidnotknowwhen it occurred. OfficerDoylesid,

“Itwasinappropriateactivity, Un, Ididn'tquestiondetailsabout itcauseitdidn'tconcernme. 1 wasn’tpartofthe nitand Special Investigations Groupkeeps, uh, pretty tight, uh, tight withthe information regarding theirinvestigations, becauseofthesensitivityofthem". Captain Newhouse askedOfficerDoyleifheheardabouttheprecise natureofthe activity. Officer Doylesid, 1don's, 1don'trecall. I really don'trecall. When I, when,when,whenrumorscomeacrossmyplateandthi is whyI'msodisconnectedfromanphingthatoccursuntilacually itoccursbecause Idon'tge involved withthem. If{heararumor or didyouhear thisordidyou hearthat,unless IspeakwilhthatPAS individual specifically 1 avenodesire oparake nitor,orextendedfurther".he i
#7On Tuesday, January 8, 2019, at approximately 9:53 a.m., Captain Newhouse conducted an audiorecordedsworn interview withCaptain Rodriguez. Prior foquestioning,Captain Newhouse provided‘Captain Rodriguez with GarrityWarningsand acopy oftheLawEnforcement Office's BllofRights,‘Additionally,Captain NewhouseprovidedCaptainRodriguezwih awritten NotificationofAllegationsform.(Note these formswereincludedinthecasefile)
Captain Rodriguezdeclinedtohave representativeofhischoicepresent during the interview,

‘Whileunder oath,CaptainRodriguezdenied that heever engagedin sexualactivityon dutyorithaprostitute. On page umbertwo(2) of histranscribed interviewonJanuary8,2019,

pith8uhasexworkerofprostitute?”CaptainRodriguezrespondedbysaving,“No” Captain
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‘Newhouseasked Captain RodriguezifhehadanyideawhyMr. Kerrwouldmakesuchenallegation‘andherespondedwiththefollowing:-~
“ “Yes, ub. basically Mr. Kerrmadethisandseveralotherallegations once...umIorderedhimtocomeioworkbasedonmedicalpaperworkdocumentation sayingthathewaseligibletocomebacktowork,uh..and I'vebeen,asyou know,other...otherIAsandother adminsbecauseof ihis...uhths all stems from... 1had agreatrelationshipwithMr. Kerr...umsupervised him as a Sergeant, onpatrol, um...inoneofhisemailstome th...that startedthiscommendedmefortakingcareofhimas aSergeantonpatrolandwhen IwashisCapiain,wh.youknowhewasonlightduy...neverhad.anissuewithhim,again...basicallythisall stems from when Igotordersfrom workman'scompthathewascleared10return 10light duty,un...hedid rot like thatandthis...hat'swhenalltheseNCOproblems from him started, um... include...includeuh...kisallegation amongst#41 othersthat he'sgenerating un...specifically because I justaskedhimtocome© backto work”.

Captain NewbouseaskedCaptain Rodriguezifhe knewwhat “inappropriateactivity”DetectiveDoylewasreferring toinhisswornstatement. Captain Rodriguezsaidhedidn’tknow whatDetectiveDoylewasreferringto. Hedeniedengagingin“inappropriateactivity” while workinginthe SpecialInvestigationsGroup (SIG).
On January 8, 2019, Captain Newhouse completed the investigation relating to TA 2013-011,‘Captain Newhouseforwardedtheinvestigation,along withtheFinalActionSummarytoDeputyChiefJeffMeyersfor reviewirecommendation. DeputyChief Meyersrecommendedtheallegation againstCaptainRodriguezforviolation ofGeneralOrder9.1,Section IT A(9) —StandardofConductbe“unfunded”. Caplain Newhousethenforwardedtheinvestigativefileto ChiefDiggs forreview anddisposition.

OnSaturday, Jamary12, 2019, Mr.Kerrsentanemail to Human Resources Director EllenClyatt,Mr. Kerrcopied CityAftomeyGrantAlley, CouncilmanJohnnyStreets,andChiefDiggs.Ms,Kerrwrote, “Isubmitted a complaintdirectly to you with specificseriousallegationsofsexualmisconductwithnorealactiontoindicatethis complaintwastakenseriouslyotherthan tohaveCapt.Newhouseopen an internal investigation.” Additionally, Mr. Kerr wrote, “Is Capt. Newhouse capable ofconductingafair investigation? Absolutely, but Ihave seriousdoubts becauseoflong. standingJriendships thatfaimnessiseven possible". Ms. Kerrincluded newinformationrelatingto his origina]complaintaboutCaptain Rodriguesallegedly engaginginsexualactivitywhileonduty. Mr. Kerrwroteth following:

[110 “Hereisthestraighforwardinformation thatisattheheartofthematter,ofSSP which you should already have: Under FMPD report number 2013-02675,which involvedan undercover investigation of New Asian Massageparlor off‘Boyscou Drive, SIGdetectivesworkingthatOPJasonGreene andWolfgang
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Danielwitnessedandrecorded oneJayRodrigue invotvedinscwhileon dutywith asexworker. Ifthisvideohasnot already beenalteredor deleted,shouldbelocaiedinthe SIG TDrive, sub-folder under pperations,underunder reedwre ChenYa(15-CF015159orll=Therewasalso a secondOponorabou thas following Thursdsy 8Incorporated MassageParlorlocated on Grove Street, arrested.RR 7 Ser dy oesn chtBrian Medicowhoarelftoversfrom DoughBake, [sic]ee» Note: Mr. Kerr'scompletecmlwas included in th casefle)

226 Monday, January 14, 2015, Capisin NewhousemetwithChiefDiggsconcerning the above.tionedemailfromMr.Kerr.ChiefDiggsorderedCaptain Newhouse to open 1A 2018.01 baseduponthisnew information. Caplain Newhousecompleted &memo to Captain Rodriguez,noifyiog himthatthe investigationwasreopenedbaseduponnewinformation. (Acepyof thismemorandumwasincludedinthe case ile) On Jamary 14,2019, ChiefDiggsapprovedanextensionrequest, authorizingCaptain Newhouseanadditional 45daystocomplete the investigation. Acopyofthis approvedextensionrequestwas providedtoCapainRodriguezand Mr. Kerr. Additionally, Captain Newhouseplacedtheoriginal (previously completed)Internal AffairsInvestigation report, ongwiththeoriginaFinal Action Summary (SignedbyDeputyChicf JeffMeyers) itothecaeale.
OnTuesday, January 15, 2019, Capain Newhousecontacted OfferMaryEllen Hughes. OfficerHughesworks withthe CarcerCriminalTaskforce at theState Atorney'sOffice andhas30008 0 courdosuments. Captain NewhouseaskedOfficer Hughesto locateanycourtdocuments selating to FortMissPoliceastreport number2013-02675(Thearrest ofChien Yo Jon March 14,3at NewAsian Massage 1791 BoyscoutDr.FortMyers,FL)and report mu (Theamest of Jon March 21, 2013,at Nature Poly In. 1957 GroveStreetFort Myers, FL,Officer provided copiesofthe amest report for Chen Ya (2013-02675) and some seateddocumeaisfromthe SateAttomey'sOffice file

provided by Officer Hughes eteeluded in thecase fl. Officer Hughes old Captain Newhousetha theState Attorney'sOfficewasnotinpossessionofanyvideo evidencerelatedtotiscase. Officer Hughes ater (on Tamary31,3018)provided aswomstatement to Caplin Newhouse, documentingthatshe providedthe abovesoars

foe)
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)a)

In his January 12, 2019 email, Mr. Kerr specifically referencedthe arrestoptrod
as the incideat wherein he allegRodriguez engaged in with asex worker”. Although headditionallymade‘mentionofanotherundercoveroperationladingtothearrest of at theNaturePolyInc.‘massage parlor,hedidnotallegeanymisconductinreference10 ThisSe2onYundercoveroperation,‘Therefore,thefocusofthisinvestigationrelates to CaptainRodriguez'sconduct duringthearrest underseport number 2013-02675.

‘Captain Newhousescarchedfo thearrestreportsforbothcasesmentionedbyMr.Kerr(2013-02675and 2013-02878) on the Lee County Universal Booking System website. Capa locatedWo(2) amest reports for 2013-02675(The mestreportsforChen Yaand ated3/14/2013). Healso located the arest reportfor 2013-02878(Thearrest report f ed3/21/2013). Allthree (3)arrest reportswereincludedinthecasefile. Additionally NewhouselocatedtheComputerAided Dispatch (CAD) notesforboth arrestintheFort MyersPolice Department.Records ManagementSyste (RMS)andincludedtheminthecase ile.
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‘Thefollowingisthenarmative portion of the arrestofChenYaonMarch14,2013at New AsianMassage (1791 Boyscout Dr, Fort Myers, Fl), report number2013-02675:

OnDecember4,2012, OfferDavid Contcel receivedacomplaint ofprostitutionat 1791 BoyScoutDrive #3, New Asian Massage. TheownerofBellaHairStudio(whichisnextdoortoNewAsianMassage),Robert Oliverexplained thatmencomeinto hisbusinessrequesting"agood time"andultimatelyendingupnextdooratthe
NewAsian Massage.Thecustomers,whoarealways male_do notparkin front ofthe business. Heexplained thathehasobserved| insidethebusinessand twonever leavethe business. Hest it the oneJemate Whodrivesbos styleScionand bringsgroceriesinothebusiness.
Overthecourseofthree month,OfficerConticeliconductedmarkedandunmarked«surveillanceat the NewAsianMassage.OfficerConticelli abvaysobserved anewer

MuSSimodelgreenKiaSoulwith aFloridatagofBDVN42comeandgofromthebusiness.TherewasanAsianfemalewhowoulddrive theKia.OfficerConticeliwasabletoobser insidethebusinessandhedidn’seethem leaveduringissurveillance. onticell alsoobservednumerousmalesandnofemales
come in and out ofthe business as well ao onQReyssp side thereardoorwearing intimate lingerie. Officer Wasalsoable10 locate
advertisementforthe businessonthewebsitewwwfortmyers/backpage.comwherethe advertisement included photosofAsianfemales thataresexual in naturewearinglingerie.As a resultofthesurveillanceandresearch OfficerConticelli hadreasontobelievethatprostitution wasactivelybeingsolicitedatthebusinessandproceeded to establish anoperation tovalidate thatbelief:

4.0m ThursdayMarch 14, 2013,LieutenantJayRodriguezof theFortMyersPolice"Department was working inanundercovercapacity withinthecityofFortMyers,
Lee County, Florida.Onthis date,officers wereinvestigatingacomplaint aboutpossibleprostitutionactivity at heNewAsian Massage locatedat 179]BoyScoutDrive, Unit3.TheFortMyers Police Department hadreceivedinformationthatthebusinessmaybeusingthemassage businessas awaytofuciltateprostitution.
Onthisdate, atapproximately 1740hours, LieutenantRodriguezenteredthebusinessas a customer. Upon entering the business, LieutenantRodriguez
rc onGRYiv och ov ofbodrTe100d up. Lieutenant Rodrigues. LieutenantRodrigues asked the

‘anyonewasavailablefor a massagesession.The oined over 0Irn Te
Once insidetheroom, 1 closedthedoor and asked LieutenantRodriguezifhewantedanhoursession,[then informedLieutenantRodriguez thatthecost
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wouldbeseventy (70)dollars.LieutenantRodriguez retrievedseventydollarsinUS‘currencyfrom hisleftfrontpocket(Three twentydollarbills andtwo fivedollar bills+ ffprerecordedFMPD funds)andhandedthem 10 th The ie he‘roomandreturnedshortlyafter.Prior o leaving,the instructed Heutenant“Rodriguez to removeall his clothing. LieutenantRodriguezremoved his shirt and"shorts butdid notremovehisunderwear,

Oncethy instructedLieutenant 10 lieonthemassagebedin thevom. rel RYtorubLieutenantRodriguez'sback,armsand legs: aminutefrom
‘beginning themassage,the QE reachedaround andgrabbedLieugrantRodriguesgenitals, Lieutenct pr eed themoncd RYasked, "Doyou likethat?"Lieutenant Rodrigueztodthefi hewasandquestionedaboutaprice.

Atshat time,thf moved overtothefrontofthetableandbegantowhisperinLieutenant Rodriguez ear.The asked."Whatdoyouwant?" Lieutenantasked ts RRwhatshewould do. responded, "Howmuchyouwar 10pay?" Lieutenant Rodriguez told the| would por ydollar Thepore "OnehundredandJyJorblowjobandone andtwentyJorhandjob."

LieutenantRodriguezagreedtothe hand jobto which thefJil]responded, "PayJirst"Lieutenant Rodriguezagainreached into hisleftfront pocketand‘one hundredandtwensydollarsinUScurrency(Six twentydollarbils). Thook themoney andleftthe roomagain.LieutenantRodriguez stoodupoff the tableand edo re.Oncesf returned,Lieutenantconfirmedthe mohey providedwasformanualstimulation(4handjob), Thel‘onfirmedandonceagaininstructed LieutenantRodriguezto ieonthebed.
Onceonthe bed, the walkedovertoLieutenantRodriguezand tried tort GYlied rv fo Litres odie io oncoe ho tcvou worn, Tf tdhoeivenil 2100 hours. Lieutenant Rodriguez 101d he hat he had to leave butwouldreturn later. ThelfprovidedLieutenant with a business cardJor the Nw Asian Massage rac ne he backofthe cardLieutenantRodriguezexited thebusinessand: 10he vehicle.
LieutenantRodrigues provided detilddescription oftheJotheuniformsupportofficers thatwere inthe area.Lieutenant Rebecca Prince, OfficerDavidConticelli and Officer SeanHavenner walkedintothe businessanddetained the(QR matchedthe description providedbyLiter Rodrigues. The ERY)
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wasescorted outsidebyLieutenantPrinceandwaspositivelyidentifiedos[J
the{QRthatsolicitedthe manualstimulationfor onehundredand twentydollars.

Li.Princecontacted 239-674-3818inanattempt 10makecontactwththe ownerYa
Chen. A female answeredthe phoneandonceLL.Princerequestedherto arriveon
sceneas aresultofanincidentthatoccurredatherbusinessatwhichtime the
female hungup.Shor afterYa Chenbegan circling thebusinessinthesamegreen
Kia Soulthatwas observedduring earlier surveillance. Officer Conticelli
recognizedChenas thesamefemalewhohadalwaysdriventhe greenKiaSouland
advisedLtPrince.LtPrinceflaggeddown Chenandrequestedthatshecome back{5 he ne,pace
While officerswereinsidethebusiness,theyobservednumerouspicesof lingerie,
condoms, lubricant andother itemsthatwould lead a reasonableperson to believe
that thebusinesswas notoperating as a legitimatemassage parior.TherewasnoPlone io hs une nd ve nan or SQ who re lnServices. he roomon th ighthad ug eds wih SEE personel ome,
Theofficerswereunable tocommunicatewiththe| becausetheyspoke
Chinese. TheofficerssummonedDeputyBryan Smii CountySheriff's

Office whospokeChinese. Smithread MirandaRightsandrp 0 Snithcplaine 1ne es wer 0 retin they mons.J walkediotheroom ikFaLusisa la teas,One vas nie thesutcase, Licienan Prince
themoneytoLieutenantPrinceandOfficer Conticelliwhere eycomparedthe
moneytotherecordedmoney. The officerslocated themoneythatLieutenant
Rodriguezusedduringthetransaction andmarkedonthe photocopiedpaperwhichfeveei ie cn RR vsolCrpis RR i heofficerswihanyinformation
‘regardingthe business.

DeputySmithspokewith MeiHuaLuwhostatedthatherbossChen toldherthat
shecoulddohand jobs foradditionalmoney.LustatedthatshecamefromNewYorkafi daysagoandwas ligideth ines¥
DeputySmithspoke with Ya Chen andshe denied knowing anying aboutprovisionsideth business.
Florida State Statute 796.05Derivingsupport fromthe proceedsofprostitution
statesthefollowing: (1)&#8195;1t shall be unlawfulfor any person with reasonableeleor knowinganotherperson is engaged in proton io oeorderive pore
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ormaintenanceinwholeorinpartfromwhatis believed tobetheearningsor
proceedsofsuchperson'sprostitution.

“Based onthe totality ofthe circumstances,Chenbrovinghy lovedhf)
insideherbusinessto inprostitutionandshederivedproceedsfrom the
rosie Cer oe AGERE ar fsmeg pss ndot operat th businessas
Chenwasplacedunder arrest fo derivingsupportfrom the proceedsofprostitution
aswellasdrivingwithout a licenseandsubsequently was transported10 theleecountyjailforbooking,processing andlodging.

Thecourt documentrelatingto Fort Myers Police Departmentarrestreport number 2013-02675
(CourtCase Number 13-CF-015135) revealed criminal charges (relating to Deriving Support fromProceedof Prostitution)werenolfiledbytheState Attomey's Office,citing “Insuficient Evidence fo
Provebeyond ReasonableDoubt.”

io ihnativeportionofthearsofJERE Mirch14,2013aNew Asian
Massage (1791BoyscoutDr, FortMyers,Fl),report: 75:

OnThursdayMarch 14,2013, LieutenantJayRodriguezoftheFortMyersPolice
Departmentwasworkingin an undercovercapacitywithinthecityof FortMyers,LeeCounty, Florida. On thisdate,officers were investigatingacomplaintaboutpossibleprostitutionactivity attheNewAsianMassagelocatedat 179]BoyScout
Drive, Unit3. The FortMyers Police Department hadreceived information that theCou Dusinessmaybeusing the massagebusinessas away to facilitateprostitution.

PioccOn this date, at approximately 1740 hours, Lieutenant Rodriguez entered theP47 businessasacustomer. Upon entering thebusiness, LieutenantRodriguesacai co ERYi on couchi he 5 f Fo dr i
[stoodupand Rodriguez. LieutenantRodriguezaskedthemonevas litle ogmass sso. TrendveoSeutenant Rodriguezto follo iil nto the firs roomon He TO handsideofthehalboy.

Onceinside th room, th sed thedoorandaskedLieutenantRodrigue ifhewantedanhoursession.Wl theninformedLieutenan Rodriguesthtthecoowouldbe seventy (70)dolar. LieutenantRodriguesretrievedseventydollars inUS
currencyfromhisleftfrontpocket(Threetwentydollarbills andtwofivedollarbills

"of prerecordedFMPDfunds)andhandedthemto the
roomandreturned shortlyafter.Prior toleaving, the instruct tenantRodrigues10removeall hi clothing.LieutenantRodriguezremovedhis shir and
shortsbutdidnotremovehis underwear.
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Cree tf <r inirciedLiwenanRodrigue Io le on he massagebed in theroom.Onceon'the bed,1 deredSYbeentorubLieutenantRodriguesbacksarms and legs. ana minefrombeginning the massage, the reached around and grabbed LieutenantRodriguez's genitals.Lieutenant actedao iematon and rolasked,"Doyou likethat?"LieutenantRodrigue toldhlhewasandquestionedaboua price.
oot a th time, QBmoved over othefon fhetbladbegan owhisperin+" Lieutenant Rodriguez's ear.The(RYasked "Whatdoyouwant?"LieutenantJ - sponded, "Howmuchyouwan to7" « Rodrigues todthe, wouldpo fl]1dlls.Thea"One hundredand iftyJorblowjobandone hundredandtwentyforhandjob.”
HottRiescoed te end wich sl epre “PayJirst "LieutenantRodriguezagainreached ino his leffrontpocketandretrievedone.nundredand twenty dollarsinUScurrency(Six twentydollar bills),Thothemoneyandleithe room again, LieutenantRodriguesstoodup of ihetethe and.waitedforth foren.Oncethe[EYreume, LieutRo+; confirmedthemoneyprovided wasfor Simaton (4hard ob, TERYconfirmedandonceagain instructedLieutenantRodrigue to leonthebed.
One on he be. ie EE waited ovr 0Liston Rodrig and vid 0remove his undepwear.4 thttine, Lieuterani Rotrigiez stopped the[andcote how Lieffvoutbeworking Tie ciated hrfife workinguntil 2100 hours Lieutenant Rodrigues old 1 hat hehad 10 leave butwould returnlater.Thefgi@RprovidedLieutenant wilh abusinesscardJo theNewdian Massageandwroilffname(RRRon thebckof he cardLieutenant Rodriguez exited the business andreturned 10 the vehicle
Ltr Roses proved dtd descriptionof 0fo te normsupportofficersthatwereinthearea.LieutenantRebeccaPrince,OfficerDavidConticelli andOfficer SeanHavennerwalkedinto thebusinessanddetained the(Itha matched thedescriptionprovidedbyLieutenant Rodrigues The,wasescortedoutsidebyLieutenant Princeandwaspositively identifiedasthe[hatsolicited themanualstimulationforone hundredandtwenty

The officers wereunable to communicatewith, becausefffspoke Chinese.TheofficerssummonedDeputy Bryan LeeCounty Sheriff'sOfficewho spoke Chinese. Smith read |Miranda RightsandidentifiedERY llwee otDeyoiwisln
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officerswere there co et hemor RRwed
intotheroom sleptandopenedabluesuitcase. Once

insic suitcase, Lie Princeobservednumerousbundlesofcash indiferentdenominations handedthemoney toLietenantPrinceand Officer Coniceliwherethy themoneytotherecordedmoney. The
officerslocatedthemoney thatLieutenant Rodriguezused during the transaction

markedonthephotocopiedpaperwhichbills wereused.Duringtheinterview,
tatedthafflbossYaChenpays| orscar,ARwold rohe officers whiny information the businiss:

P ‘wasplacedunderarrestforsolicitingprostitutionandwasbookedandDus attheLeeCountyJail.

Cityof Fort Myersemployees(includingpolicedepartment employees)utilizethecity’s computer
server to store documents and other data files. The City of Fort Myers Information “Technology

Departmentisresponsibleformaintenanceandserviceabilityofthisserver. Inhis January 12%,2019email, Mr. Kerrprovidedthelocationfo thevideowhereinhe allegedthatCaptain Rodriguezengaged‘in sexwhileonduty with a sexworker",ssthe“SIGTdrive,sub-folder under operations, under2013, anderAsian massageparlor”. The“SIG Tdrive”islocatedon theCity’sserver.
On Tuesday, January 15, 2019, at approximately 10:00 a.m., Captain Newhouse met with Richard

Calkins,DirectorofInformation TechnologyfortheCityofFort Myers, and NetworkEngincerBarbra‘Wills, Captain Newhouse providedthem withthedescriptionofthe location ofthevideoinquestion,
asclaimedinthe above-mentionedemailfromMr.Kerr.CaptainNewhouseaskedMs.Willstosearch
thecomputerserverforthevideoinquestion. UsingtheinstructionsprovidedbyMr.Kerr,shewasunable 0 locate the video described. However, Ms. Wills requested additonal tiseto mare carefully
examinetheCity’scomputerservertosearchforthevideo. Ms.Willssaidshewouldgetbackto
Captain Newhouseattheconclusion ofbermoreintensified searchprocess.

On Friday, January 18, 2019, Ms. Wills contacted Captain Newhouse and told him she had‘completed hersearchofthe City'scomputerserverbut wasstillunabletolocate the videoinquestion.Slidbgttedtoprovide a swomstatementinthe matter. Onthissamedate,at4:55 p.m., Ms. Willsmet
‘withCaptain Newhouseandprovided an audiorecordedswornstatementinreference10thematter.

- Ms. WillsstatedthatshehasbeenworkingfortheCityof FortMyersIT Departmentfor12yearsand
is currentlyassignedas aNetworkEngineer. She further stated thatsheconducts server maintenance
andthe server configuring. Additionally,Ms.Willsconfirmedthat she hasunrestricted access to all the
datastored on the City’scomputerserver(includedpolice departmentdata). Ms. Wills testifiedthat she
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searchedforthe videoin question,utilizingtheinstructionsprovidedbythecomplaint(Mr. Kerr),butwasunsbleto locateit. Sheaddedthatthedescribed locationdidnot ist (withinthe TDrive). Ms.Wills testifiedthatin addition to searchingforthevideoin thedescribedlocation, shesearched the careserverforanyvideo filesthatwouldhavebeennearoraround thetimeanddateofundercoveroperationat NewAsian Massagebutwasunable to locateany. CaptainNewhouseaskedMs. Willsifthere wasany wayforhertodeterminewhether thevideoin questionwas everontheserver. Ms. Wills1esponded, “No”. Ms.Willssated there was a possibilty the videoinquestion wasontheserverbut
‘Wetsaovedbyanemployee. Ms. Willsstatedthere wasnowayfor her to determinewhether thevideoixisiod onteserver, ‘whetheritwas moved, and who could have moved it. Ms. Wills testified that3a2013theCityITDepartmentdidnot haveauditing softwareto track the progressionofdataontheserver(Tell when a filewasadded,deleted,ormoved). ShestatedtheITDepartmentnowhasthisauditingsoftware, butitonlygoesbeckforapproximately 9months to ayear. Ms. Willsestimatedthatshespent 5or 6hourssearchingforthevideoinquestionbut wasunabletolocate i.
Ms.WillsprovidedCaptain Newhouse withtwodocumentsshelocatedduringhersearch forthevideo. Thesedocumentsincluded: (1) theoperationalplanforanundercoveroperation attheNature:Polymassageparlor, conductedonMarch21,2013,and (2) a nuisanceabatementnotification, datedApril24,2013,forNewAsianMassage. These documentswereincludedinthecase file.
On January30, 2019,at 808 a.n., Mr.Kerrsent anemailto HumanResourcesDirector EllenClyatt,

MiRerr copied City Attorney Grant Alley, Councilman Johnny Street, and Chief Derrick Diggs.Hiiongseveral topics,Mr. Kerr'semailcontainedhisargumentrelating 0reasons whyhebelievedthatiinternal affairsinvestigationshouldnotbeassignedtoCaptainNewhouse. Thisemailwasincludedinthecase file.

OnThursday, January 31,2019,at 11:32an. Captain Newhouseconductedan audi recordedswominterview withOfficer Jason Greene.Theneed{0interview OfficerGreenewasdue to thefact hatMr.
Kerrspecifically wroteinhis January 12,2019email,“SIGdetectivesworking thatOPJasonGreene
endWolleanzDaniel witnessedandrecordedoneJayRodriguc:involvedinsexwhileondutywithasexworker”, Priorto questioning,Captain Newhouseprovided OfficerGreene withthe opportanty foreview the aestreportforFort Myers Police Departmentreportnumber2013-02675, thearrestofChen‘Yaat NewAsianMassage 1791 BoyscoutDr.Additionally, CaptainNewhouseexplainedthecontentofthevemailcomplaintreceivedfromMr.Kerron January 12,2019. Duringauestioning,OfficerGreene
amRodriecs iaveived 1s whl a das. OomsCros ho osheHavebeeninvolvedinrecordingtheoperationbytheSpecialInvestigations Group. Officer Greenesaidhedidnot baveanydirect knowledgeconcerningthe truthfulnessofthis allegation.Heclarifiedhedidnothaveanyknowledge regarding Jay Rodriguezeverengaginginsexondutywith a sex worker.

duty, Fiesaidthathehad neverseen avideoofthe undercoveroperationinquestion.HohadnodeawhyMr. Kerrnamed himas a specific witness. Officer Groene saidhedidnothaveregular‘communication withMr. Kerr, wasnotfriendswithhim,anddidnotspeakwith himon aregular basis.
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OnThursday, January 31,2019,a 12:07 pam, Captain Newhouseconducted sworn audio recorded

interviewwithDetectiveWolfgang Daniel. Theneed to interviewDetective Danielwasduetothe factthatMr.Ker specifically wroteinbis January 12, 2019 emai,“SIGdetectivesworkin thatOPJason
ih ex worker”. Prior 10 questioning,Captain NewhouseprovidedDetectiveDanielwiththeportnitytoreviewthearrestreportforFort MyersPoliceDepartmentreportnumber 2013-02675,

feportingthearrestofChenYaat NewAsianMassage, 1791 BoyscoutDr. Additionally,Captain
Newhouseexplainedthecontentoftheemailcomplaintreceived fromMr. KerronJanuary12,2019,DetectiveDanis)statedbedidsotworkthis operation. Hosidherecalled theSpecialInvesigationsGroupreceived a complaintfromLieutenant Princeor arequesttoconductanoperationatNewAsian
Massage.Detective Danielsaidhebelievedtherequestcameto SergeantRichardNotaro(the supervisoror heSpecialInvestigations Group). DetetiveDaniel saidSergeantNotarotodLiguteaantPrinetaythe SpecialInvestigationsGroupwas toobusytohandlethe investigationatthattime,ductoother
operations goingon. Detective Daniel testified LieutenantPrinceand SergeantConticellidecidedto
conductthe operationwithouttheassistanceofthe Special InvestigationsGroup. Detective Danielreported the New Asian Massage was located within Licutenant Prince's geographical area of

ibilityas apatrol Lieutenant. Detective Danicltestified that (as faras heknew)Lieutenant‘andothershandledtheoperationinquestion withouttheassistanceoftheSpecialInvestigations.
. Captain NewhouseaskedDetective DanielwhetherornotMr. Kerr'scomplaintrelatingto “SIG

detectives working that OPJasonGreeneand WolfgangDaniel witnessedandrecordedone JayRodriguez involvedinsexwhileondutywith asexworker”wastrue.DetectiveDanielrespondedbysaying, “1havenomemory of that sir, Idon’trecall hat.” Detetive Danie clarified be hagnever‘witnessedJayRodrigues engagei sex whileonduty.
Detective DanieltestifiedthatheworkedintheSpecialInvestigation Groupfrom 2012to2017.

DetectiveDanielsaidinteractionswith suspects areusuallyrecordedduringundercoveroperations.However,hesaidthatheyarenotalways recorded.Hedidno haveanyknowledeeconceraias‘hetherornottheoperationatNewAsianMassage wasrecorded.
<i 1y, January31,2019,at 12:24 p.m.,Captain Newhouseconducted aswornaudiorecorded

iew withSergeantDavid Conticelli. Prior toquestioning, Captain NewhouseprovidedSergeant
icelli with theopportunity to reviewthe arrest reportfor Fort Myers Police report number 2013-

02675. Additionally,CaptainNewhouseprovidedSergeantConticelliwith thecontentofMr. Kerr's
complaint. SergeantConticelliexplainedthatduringthetimeframeofthearrestin question(3/14/2013)
hewasthe CommunityPolicingOfficerandLicutenantPrincewashisLieutenant.Hesaidtheyreceived
acomplaintfromneighboring businesses relating topossible prostitution activity occurring atthe NewAsian Massage,locatedat 179] BoyscoutDive. Hetestified he conductedsomesurveilance # the
locationand based uponhis observations, thoughttherewereenoughgroundsto asktheSpecial
InvestigationsGrouptoinvestigatethematter. Sgt. ConticellisaidLieutenantPrinceandhe submitted acomplaint0theSpecial InvestigationsGroup, requesting theyinvestigatethe locationforprosituton

activity. (Note:SergeantConticelllaterprovidedCaptain Newhousewith acopyof the complaintand itespaceinhcase il)
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SergeantConticelisaid Lieutenant Prince andheendedup coordinatingtheinvestigation,not theSpecialInvestigationsGroup.Hecompletedtheoperational plan.(Note: 2few minutesaferhissworniptervicw,SergeantConticeli provided CaptainNewhouse with a copyofthis operational planand it‘wasincludedinthecase file)Theoperational planliste theproposed dateforthe operationasMarch14,2013,at 1791 BoyscoutDrive. The planlistedLieutenant Princeasthecoordinator andoperationalsupervisor. Additionally,theoperationalplancontainedthe following listof thepersonnelinvolved:
1. OfficerConticelli~MarkedPatrol

2. OfficerHavenmerMarkedPatrol
3 Unmarked Monitor/Breacher
irr

5. Lleuienant Prince -Marked Patrol
5a, 8 LieutenantRodrigues ~Undercover

Additionally, theoperationalplancontained thefollowinglanguage:
»

AntelligenceGathered:Officer David Coniicelireceived a complaintfrom twobusinesses located at 179] Boy ScoutDriveregarding prostitution acitvity at a businesscalled “NewAsian massage”locatedat 199]BoyScoutDrive.Thercopes o bemsl worn idegivingmassages.Thecomplainantsstatedthattheyareengaginginprostitution business

Detect andOffcer| willmonitorandconductsurveillancefromalocation near 1791 Boy Scout Drive.Li Jay Rodrigue willenterthebusinessas acivilian andaskfor amassage. Lt. Rodriguez willeither get alegitimate massageorwilgive apredetermined takedownSil icin he offersenr 5 sandsci af espns TFRanial is belonging, he wil comply andenterhe room withoutanymomo. Lt Redes wist0p theillegalactprior to fruitionand exitthebusiness. Lt.Rodriguezwillthenbreftheofficersasto whatoccurredand whetheran arres(s) willbemade.
Sergeant Conticll said (as far asheknew)theundercoveroperationwasgoingtobeaudiorecorded,notvideorecorded. SergeantConticll saidhe thoughtLieutenantRodriguez wasgoing(o audiorecordhisinteractionsduringtheoperation. Hesaidheneverheard aboutanyplantovideorecordtheoperation. SergeantContceli testifiedhedi append audiorecordingofthisoperation. SergeantConticelisidhethough that time)mighthavebeeninvolvedintheoperation, asffffhandledthesurveillance equipmentfo theSpecial InvestigationsGroupatthe time.
Stithsusworker,salle byMr,Kor
15Bn Thursday, Jamuary31,2018,at 12:34 pam., Captain Newhouse telephoned formerLiutenantHebecea Prince and lef her &vocal. Captain Newhouseexplainedhe yanteato acevo: poorreference (0 aninternalafi investigation. Shedidnotreturnthe phonecal.
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OnThursday, Jemary 31, 2019, at 128 pam.,CaptainNewhouse seat an email to EvidenceSupervisorStevenList, askinghimtochecktheevidencevault to sce fho hadany evidencerelating toreport mumber 2013-02675 (Specifically, an audio or video recording). At 1:42 p.n., Supervisor Listrespondedviaemail,indicatingtherewasnoevidenceorpropertyrelating to thespecific report number.(Note: acopy ofthisemailwasincludedinthecasefle)
OnThursday,January 31, 2019. at 2:53 p.m. Captain Newhouseconductedanaudiorecorded swominterview withLieutenant Priortoquestioning, Capain Newhouseprovided Licutcaantwith an 10 review amest report 2013-02675. Additionally, Captain Newhouse3 Linco Qin ve concn ofWe,Kec ain,alongwiththeoperationalplan for¢ incident. During questioning, Licutenant i a being involved in the* Spefation/sasin auesion [fei fgid no ‘Whoclsc wasinvolvedinthis operation/arrest.Licuten pod=n fle to monitor the undercover officer (Lieutenant JayRodrigues | With hesuspocte) duringthe investigation. (ffFuldno real who(fmone) as sheds is[ening i. con te ee 1Rodriguezcitheraudioorvideo recorded his interactionsduring theoperation.

preformingbis dutics duringtheoperationinouestion. [Jif testified Jay Rodrigues cateredthebusincssinanundercovercapacity fodetermineifhewouldbe solic fr emmL
lat art pean casRodentimeem,Liviu
FEgit idl] id otknowhow Mr.Kerwoud haveanyknowledge relating totisperition/arrst. [fseid Mr. KerwasneverassignedtotheSpecialInvestigations Group anddidnotF681Mr.Ker the operationinquestion.
Next, Captain NewhouseaskedLieutenant[fifaseries of questionsrelatingtothecommonpractice of investigatorsduringsimilarundercover 0sithattypicallytheydonotwilzeVie rioosco vento,deri Capscarveryaggressive andsearchforrecordingdevices (vires). Lieutenant[Jl said they instead typicallywilize audiorecording/monitoring measuresforthesetypesofoperations. Jffaidsometimesthey audiorecordtheinteractions,but sometimes theyjustmonitortheundercoverofficersinteractionto ensurethi sly. Again, Vcc QU otenceswho mk bn sonquestionwasaudioor video

#*Li€litenan| eesifiodfffad 12 years of experience working in the Special InvestigationsGv. (sei hes experience bothparticipatinginandmentoringundercoveroperations. CaptNéwhouse poiniedoutthatin thenarrativeofarrestreport2013-02675, JayRodriguezsiipped downtohisunderwear whileinsideofthebusinessandthe grabbedhisgenitals. CaptainNewhouseaskedLic i van coronas i. CopiaNewhasssLieutenant s in anyway indicated iguez acted inappropriately or violated policy.Licutenant said, “00.” Licutenant explained theseactionsbythesuspectsarenotuncommon, a theyaretryingtodetermine whethertheyareinteractingwithapolice officer
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Prior totheinterviewwith Licutcoant{lllCaptain Newhouseprovidedfill]with thespecificdirectionslistedinMr. Kerr's emailcomplaintconcerning thealleged location of a videorecordingrelatingtotheundercoveroperation.Copa Newhouseste icc score or wsinquestion(ontheTdrive). Additionally, Licutenant id that theSpecialInvestigationGroupmaintained aback-uphard driv (containingcase inf inside asafethatwasmaintainedintheSIGsupervisor'soffice. Captain NewhouseaskedLicutenant 0attempt(0locatethis“back-uphard drive”intheSIGsupervisor'ssafe. Li followedthedirectionsprovidedEn ‘wasunable to locatethevideoinquestion.cnn! also told Captain Newhousethat[fffwasunabletolocatethe“back-up harddrive”insidethe SIG supervisorssafe.
On Friday,February 1, 2019.at2:14p.m,Captain Newhouseconducted a sworn audiorecordedinterview withSerge inreferencetothisinvestigation. Prior to questioning, CaptainNewhouse provided withtheopportunity toreviewarrestreport 675, therelated operationalplan, andthe emailcomplaintprovidedbyMr.Kerr.Sergeant said Jil)rememberedparticipating intheoperation,but“vaguely”. [ffsaidnotrememberJifexactrole intecpm J il]reebing mn tag ah ionwithLenntl 0 wotom torr oc.Seriothatduringthetimeframeoftheoperation (3/14/2013){ wasaPolice fortheViol

“Faskiéroe_not aDetective with ialInvestigationsGroup.CaptainNewhouse askedS:irencobared whet motores o omic Ren noses hedSerFesponfiedbysaying, “I
chia”Jai icnotknowiftis operationwasaudioor videorecorded.
Sergean ci id rememberte pesoincution wasvey i.ffsurprised that“he”(JayRodriguez)wasinandoutof thebusinessso quickly. SergeantSi rsnevhe helsat sinooRods d neve

‘videoofJavRodriguezengagedinsex withasex worker.

Next, Captain Newhouse asked Sergeant(JJ + sercs of questions relating toJl]background/experienceworkinginthe SpecialInvestgationsGroup.[Jl estificdJfhas an exteasiveexperience relating to workinginthe SpecialInvestigations Group. [isa manyyearsofExperi ocking inanundercover capacityandhasreceived specific trainingrelating10-this.fl
Riedlhas experience dng inan undercovercapacityrelating toprostitutioncrimes. CaplanEFTren ae»ihyCoeinformation that would Capi Rodriguez acted inappropriately during the investigation.Sergeant Ngresponded,“No.

On Monday,February4,2019,at 7:46am., Mr.KerrsentanemailtoHumanResources DirectorEllen Clyatt.Mr.KerrcopiedCityAttorneyGrantAlley,Councilman JohanyStreet,andChief DerrickDiggs. Mr.Kerr's emailamountedto a publicrecordsrequestforallvideoevidencerelaingto FortMyers PoliceDepartment reportnumber 2013-02675. This email containedthefollowing language:
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DearEllen Clyat,
7, Pursuant toArie,section 24 of th Florida Constitution,and chaper 119, FS.1+ ¥amrequesting acopyofalvideoevidenceof aclosecriminal investigationwithJ” subject Jay Rodriguezrelated 10 the matterof FMDP report#2013-02675. This= videoevidencewasuploaded.byJasonGreeneandstored on acomputer tothislocation, (SIGTdrive), sub-folder (Operations), listed under (2013),listed under+ (Asianmessage parlor).Since this was a criminal investigation andtheproperstandardoperatingprocedureis 10 alsoenteral videoevidenceintothe evidencesection undertheabovereport number, thevideosmustbelocatedhereaswell

1 agree 0 pay the actual costof duplication as defined in Section 119.07(1)(a).Shouldyoudenymyreques,oranypart of therequest, pleasestate inwritingthebasis orthedenial,includingtheexactstatuiory citation authorizingthe denialasrequired by Section 119.07(1)(d), F.S.

"7 Irequest theserecordsbeavailablebyFebruary 11, 2015. Ifyouhaveany questions“i greedmoreinformationinorderioexpedite thisrequest, youmaycontactmeatRCTTRSSA
Thankyou
ONeilKerr

1 understandyouarenotthecustodianof records, howeverican notsubmitarecords request toJayRodriguezwhom i recalltobethe PIO forthepolicedepartment. Inmyyearsofexperienceworkingfor thecity 100 often { cameacrosssituationswhere thecover-upwasasbadorworse thanthecrimeitself. f the videorecordingwaslocatedfrom my complaint,action wouldhavealreadybeentakenagainst Rodriguez.If the videorecordingwasdeletedor altered,whodiditandwhy?Twothings to understand:

1. Thereis acopyof hisvideooutsideofthePD. -2. Rodriguez'ssubordinateshavecompromisingevidenceagainsthim.
Twonames Ipreviouslymentioned 0you.Mike Masierokept his jobbecause hehad‘compromisinginformationonthaseabove him includingDoug Baker.Brianoriellywatchingpornographyon abuswithchildrenpresentis knowntomebecauseRay‘Beiner'ssonwas placedinanIAandhebecameupsetwithoriely.

ote:Thiscnailwasincludedinthecasefle)
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OnMonday,February4,2019, at 2:01 pn.,Elen Clyattsent responseemail to Mr.Kerr addressinghispubli recordsrequestforanyvideosrelatingtoFort MyersPoliceDepartment report number2013.02675.Heremailcontainingthefollowing:
DearMr Kerr,
hisisinreplytoyourpublicrecordsrequestof 24/19. Pursuant10FS.112.533(2)(@) all information obiained pursuant to investigations into complaintsJiledagainstlawenforcementofficersare confidential andexemptfrom disclosure -unilth investigationisnolongeractive. Notwithstandingthesubjectinvestigationis sillactive, be advisedthatnovideoasdescribedinyour requestisintheve. possessionofthe Cityof FortMyersorFMPD. Thepostscript10yourrequestsuggests thatyouareinpossessionof avideoyoubelieve1obe theoneyou've"requested, oryouhaveaccesstosuchvideo. If tha sthecase,thisif to requestthat

bi you produce the video to me andlor Captain William Newhouse(bnewhouse.a/mpolice.co) withinfive (5)daysfrom today.
Regards,

EllenM.Clyat,CMS,PHR,SHRM-CP,FCLRP
DirectorofHumanResources

CityofFortMyers
‘HumanResources Department

(Note:Thisemail was includedinthecase ile)
OnThursday, February 7,2019, at 1:04 pan., CaptainNewhouseconducted a swornaudiorecorded{iterviewwithSeanHavenner.Mr.Havenner waspreviouslyemployedas aPolice OfficerwiththeFortMyers Police Departmentfrom 2011to2016. Priortoquestioning, Captain Newhouse provided Mr.Havennerwiththeopportunity 0 review arrestreport 2013-02675, the relatedoperational plan,andtheemailcomplaintprovidedbyMr.Kerr. Mr.Havennerstatedherememberedworkingtheincidentandremembered LicutenantRodriguez actedastheundercoverofficerforthisoperation. Hedidnotknow‘whethertheinvestigationwascitheraudioorvideorecorded.Hesadhedidnotrememberwhowasassigned tomonitor LieutenantRodriguezduringthe operation. He stated herememberedOfficerConticeliwasinvolvedintheoperation asuniformedsupport. Mer. HavenercouldnotrecallwhetherOfferQR orDevine wreivaved nooperon.He st semen hersPrincewasinvolved asthesupervisoroftheoperation. He couldnotrecall whetherOfficer JasonGreencor Detective Wolfgang Danielwereinvolved intheoperation.

;.. hr. HavennersaidheneverwitnessedLieutenant Rodriguez engagedinsexwhileondutywith asexWorker. Hesaidhehas neverscen avideoofLicutenantRodriguez engaged insexonduty with asexworker. Hesaidbehasneverheardan.audiotaperelating toLicutenantRodriguez engaginginsexwhileondutywithasxworker.
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Mr. Havennersidhesno friendswith O'NeillKerranddoesnotspeakwithhimona regularbass.Hesaidas for hashecould remember, Mr. Kerr wasnotinvolvedinthe operation in question. Mr,HaveanersidhedocsnotknowhowMr. Kerrwouldhave derivedtheinformation listed inhis‘complaint.Mr. HavennertestifiedheneverwitnessedJay Rodriguezactinginappropriately duringtheinvestigationinquestion.

Captain Newhouse contactedCityofFortMyers Information Technology NetworkEngineerBarbara‘Wills andaskedher to search the City’sserver foranysudio files that might exist relatingtotheandarrestthatoccuredat NewAsian MassageonMarch 14,2013. On February8,2019,Ms,sentCaptainNewhousethefollowingemail:

“Peryourequestpertainingto14 2018-011, Ihavecompleted theadditionalsearchJoraiaudiofil thatmayhavebeensavedon the shareddrivesonor fier March14, 2013. Mysearchwasforanyaudiofletypefor 6 months afterthemarch 14,2013date. 1did not ind anythinginrelation 10 theAsian massage investigationanywhereonanyof theshared drives. Ifyouhaveanyfurther questions,please letmeknow.” (Note: Thisemailwasincludedin thecase fle)
OnFriday, February8, 2019,at 11:17p.m, Mr. Kerrsentanotheremail to HumanResourcesDirectorEllenClyatt.Mr.KerrcopiedCityAttorney Grant Alley, Councilman Johnny Street,and ChiefDerrickDiges,Me. Ker'scalincluded ks 0vides. Tisomeilconned he following:Ev

Wills Dear Ellen Clyan,
1amnotadetectiveanymorefor thepolice departmentbu ifees ike Ihavebeendoingthework of investigating my complaint. Aermuchconsiderationandprayer Iamreluctantly fulfilyourrequestandsubjectingmyself obodilydangeraswas thecasein2016when 1informedthe police departmentof aracial slurusedbyanOffice. 1previouslygavesufficientinformationto investigatethis matter,if thosenameddid nottruthfully andfully cooperate that is beyondmycontrol,
1 wasneverassignedorworkedintheSIGunitnorat anypoint duringmy~ employmentparticipated in anySIGOps,hadaccesstoany physical hard copy=. casesorcase files storedon a computer. The City ITdepartmentdesignates who.7 getsaccess tocomputer drives basedontheir currentassignment.
1onlycameacrossthi informationaboutRodriguez aferhe startedto subjectme toatargeted worlplace harassmeni, primarily for aprovableworkplace injury.submittedmy troublingconcernswithduediligenceofRodriguez’ actionsdircilytothe humanresourcesmanager Connie Gleason butthefalsewordsofRodriguesoutweighedmy honestandverfableclaims ofharassmeni.
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Onthepublicinformationrequest, Iamstillrespectfullyrequesting thatyouaskJill
NewhouseandDeniseEgolfinrecordsto locate theoriginalvideo. JillNewhouse
whoworkedfor yearsinthe SIGunitisfamiliarwith thecovert(T) drive andhow

*u ©evidenceisstoredonitand furthermoretheprocesstodelete information.TheCityti ITdepartmentmayalsoneedtoinvestigate if thisvideoisnolongerpresent.All SIG52 Opswere recorded,invery fowcxptions i he undercover ave linedho
wouldbe searchedthen ahiddencovertrecordingdevicewasnotused.

Ly Roig escutedty on Greewi TGQ CorHii
SpyCamera. Rodriguezisseenentering themessageparlor ‘morethan
just the solicitationforprostitution.Rodriguezdidnotknowhowtooperatethe
recordingdeviceandfailedtoproperlyturnitoffwhichcapturedthis incident on
videoandaudiorecording. Basedonthevideo evidence, Rodriguez is observed
violatingonduty:

F.5.796.07 Prohibitingprostitutionandrelatedacts

(1) Asused inthissection:

(a) “Prostitution”meansthegivingorreceivingofthebodyforsexualactivityfor
hirebutexcludes sexual activity betweenspouses.
(b) “Lewdness"meansanyindecentorobsceneact.(0) “dssignation" means. the makingofary éppointment orengagementforprosiaaion. or lewdhness, orany act infurtherance of such appomment orengagement.
(@ “Sexualactivity” means oral, ana, orvaginalpenetration by, or union with,

the sexual organ ofanother;anal orvaginal penetrationofanother by anyother
object;orthehandlingorfondlingofthesexualorganofanotherforthepurposeof
masturbation;however,thetermdoesnotincludeactsdoneforbonafidemedicalpurpases.@' tis unfit:
(a) To own, establish, maintain, or operateanyplace, structure, building, or
«conveyanceforthe purposeoflewdness, assignation,orprostitution. -
© To offer, or 10 offer oragree io secure, another for thepurpose of prostitutionor fo anyothr ew orindecentac(©) Toreceive,or to offeror agree ta receive,anyperson ntoanyplace, structure,

‘building,orconveyancefor the purposeofprostitution, lewdness, orassignation, or10permitanypersontoremainthereforsuchpurpose.

UponexitingandmakingcontactwithGreene,Rodriguezadvised thedevicedid notworkandtold Greene to delete any informationon i. Greenelater uploadedthedaafrom thiscameraonothe SIG T dive
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lathe AC ew stich shone RY iesnc vnhe
sameoutfiton thevideowhowassolicited by iguezandwhoengagedintheact
ofProstitution afier Rodriguez's sexual proposal andpayment.

Fi

Notonlywastaxpayermoneyusedin thecommission of this crime,thebooking
sheetdid notreflecttheaccurate eventsthatoccurred,evidencewasnotpreservedihcare 1 nde alak of reperha ofcane wn he edmed over 10 thesite for opr prosecution where the shoaen en wereset
dismissedforinsufficientevidence.

Thereshouldbenofurtherdelayinimmediateaction.Thefactotherofficershavebeenplacedo cdminisrtivelvepeningon csssattonneee
offenses,Rodriguezappearedtohavetheconfidenceandprotection of thePolice
DepartmentandCity. Ifnoactionistakenmynextstepwill be io forwardall
informationto FDLE,theFreehGroup, andnewsmedia.

Attached is the uneditedvideorequested(NY

Respectfully,
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ONeilKerr

“Qn Monday, February 11,2019, Captain Newhouse contacted City of Fort Myers InformationTechnologyDirector Richard Calkinsandaskedhimtocapturethe videos (providedinMr. Kerr'semai) onto a thumbdrive. Mr. Calkins did so forthe video a thelink markedAdditionally, he captured the video link markedand camailedthis videotoCaptainNewhouseonFebruary 11, 2019,at9:32am. bothvideoson a thumbdriveand theywere includedinthecase:sie.

On Monday, February 11, 2019, Captain Newhouse reviewed the videos submitted by Mr. Kerr.‘ChiefDiggsalsoreviewedthesevideos.Baseduponhisassessmentofthecontentof the videos,ChiefDiggs orderedthatCaptain Rodriguezbe placedon administrative leave,effective Monday,February 11,2019. Captain Newhouseserved CaptainRodriguez withhisadministrativeleavenoticeat 11:38 a.m.on February11,2019.Con

apr
Video #1 (Mark —Thisvideohas thedateandtimestampof3/14/13 —beginningat 17:33:90 OPE 0pm) depicts Jay Rodriguez (wearing agreyordark coloredshort-sleeved T-shirt and baseballcap) looking into thecamerafor 8few seconds. Italsocontains 8framewiththe words, “Rodriguezlooksintothecamera... heart”.
Video#2 (Marked| Thisvideohas adateandtimestampof 3/14/13 —beginningat17:38:15 or (5:35pm). Thusvideo begins with Jay Rodriguez (Wearing a greyordarkcoloredshort-sleevedT-shirt, abaseballcap,tan cargoshorts,andflip-flops;walkingtowards abuilding.Inreviewingthisvideo,itappears that“Video#1 is a shortsegmentof “Video #2",capturing JayRodriguez's faceashewalkstowardsthebuilding. Thisbuilding appearstobeonethatcontainmuliplebusinesses. Thevideo continues withJayRodriguez walkinguptoand eveatuallyinfo aBusswith aglassdoormarkedwitha sign “NewAsian Massageopen7days (239) 674-3818". At{imestamp 17:38:48,the videgdepictsJay Rodrigucz enteringthe frontdoorofNewAsianMassage.Thevideonextdepictsa| (whoappearstobe seated on asofa)getup andgreet JayRodriguez.i gz thevideo, Captain Newhousecan clearly hear itis Jay Rodriguezspeaking withancm Ci Re oat at rnlice Department formorethan20yearsand CaptainNewhousecan easilyidentifyhis voice/sposchpattems)

Thevideodepicts thf whogreedCopanRodrigues was wearing short yellow withbrown pattemsonthe sides. Attimestamp 17:38:55, Rodriguezcanbeheard asking“Anyoneavailable for a nightsession?" lies with somethingthat sunintelligible,w}motioning Rodriguez to aroomin theback.AL 17:39:03, Rodriguezand beseenentering,B58roomonthe let. Therewere no lightsonin theroomandthevideo icts adarkroom.ast
ps
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The!videodepicts Rodriguezplacing thecameradownonan known abject, possibly aabl. Youcanforce co hoJ cigvisvoi ursession or a aif hourscson. The

canbeheard telling iguezthatitis $70.00 tellshimtopayherfirst. Youcanhear
‘whatsounds likethe counting ofpapermoney. Youcan ihe lingRodrigues tha he is
“handsome”, andhe replieswith“you reprettygoodlooking 00". ‘oucanhearRodriguezaskingtheRE ee 0:omollponwis KoreaNest vonca he 1h stoe

‘suggestingthe] lefttheroom(presumablywith the$70.00).

Thevideodepicts (17:40:00)Rodriguezrepositioning thevideocameradirectlytowardswhatappears to
be awhite massagetable. Thevideodepicts Rodriguezremovehis clothing, leaving ononly hisunderwear. At 17:40:47 te videodepictsRodrigues repositionthvideocamer towards door, away
fromdirectly infrontofthemassagetable.

Ava7:41:08 theyellowdressrenterstheroom. At17:41:18youcanhear thesoundofa
{stephoneringing canhearRodriguezsay,“That'smyphone,holdon".At 17:41:31youcanhearRodriguez answer the phoneandsay, “Heyman, 1 ill ave 0 all yo back”snd "OFbud”,
Nextthevideodepicts whatsppears obetheSYgiving Rodriguestheagreed uponmassage. At

17:41:54youcanhearRodriguezask Isthatokay?” The] replies, “Youlike it,
okay”. At 17:42:02 you can see toss what appears to be a cloth object (Possibly

Rodriguez’s underwear)nearthe locationof the camera. At 17:42:07youcanhearthe telling
iguez thathehas anicebodyandhear himreply “Thankyou”. Nextyoucanhear and

the aboutthemassage(hardorsoft).Youcanhearthoffiifperforming amassage on
Rodriguez.

firedyoucan sceth walkingaroundthe massage table with ffresspulledupand the
showing.ek offnderwear showing
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A atyoncasbarRoiges sk frframend epics (.YoucanbrtocERsRodriguemassage. ALL1:4336Lowcanbsfing im 10 wats oaoil and he replics, “lotion’sfine". You can sc tho(valk in frontofthecameraandhear[il]obtaininglotion (pumpingsounds).

4817:4510 you can erte sk Rois “whatdo you hs”.Rosieresponds, “wel,whateveryouwant10do”,Youcanhear say, “You'redoinggoodwith thelotion”. At3 youcanhear Rodriguezaskthe “Whatelsecanyoudo?” Thel respondsbyandRodriguezasks, “Withthe lotion?” At 17:45:68 youcan hear ezask asecond.190, “Whatesecanyoudos" Youca ths bce watsosce ling Sous 4is up tohim. At17:46:15 youcanhearthefffJfffask, “Whatwouldyou likemetodo?” and Rodriguezresponds, “Somelotion”.

74657 you can bea Rogue ca, touch” and oe Epon, “Not cir”, adRodriguez. reply “Not touch”. At 17:46:41 Rodriguez can beheard saying, “No me, you” and thelaughs. At 17:46:43 Rodriguezcanbe heard saying, “a litlebit”. You can hearwe(NY“Ok,nice” and Rodriguezreplying,“Unhum,real nice”. Rodrigiczthen says, “Very nicehel eanbeheardsaying, “Oh,thankyou". Youcan hearRodriguezmoaning, 4ifresivingpleasure.
R7:07youcanhear Rodriguez teling oe -s:takeffff cloths of. At 17:47:11youcanRodriguezinasoftvoice, “What do you want)". You canhearRodriguezplyhe2hand ob or ablow job,They thenbegindiscussion4price.iic Rope “Howmuch?” Rodriguez askedegomuchfants backend forth aboutwhoisgoing.to nameaprice. Rodriguezcan offering $50.00. The[I declinesthepriceand askedformore.

NextyoucanhearRodriguez and whispering toeach otherbutcannot makeoutalltheconversation. At 17:47:34 you can hear the, talking to Rodriguez about the price for a “blowaE
‘can bearRodriguez saying, “For ahand-job,youtakeoff? ou on hearRodrigues ekinffiffiow‘muchfor a “Handjob”andtheJE responds “100°. HecanthenbearRodriguczagreeto thepand.igbygucanexthear Rodrigueztopay first. Rodriguezaskes, “1207”.
[lise depictsthe(Jloutingabottleoflotionaway 17:47:58andyoucan hear what sounds likecountingofpaper money 17:48:06. At 17:48:19youcansee iving what appears tobemoney,thenturn andwalkoutofthedoor to theroom. At 17:48:30 askesthf why(oes leaving.

At 17:48:31the video depicts Captain Rodriguezstandingnear the vidsocamera, nude withhispenisexposedtothecamera.

we Page 43 of 148
Hodw



Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

ermalAffairs Number: TA20t801DateofIncident: March23,2013
December7,2018DateofReport: [Marchzz20 —

At 17:48:37youcanseeRodriguezstanding near thevideorecorderand hearsoundsofhimtextingsomeoneonacellphone. At 17:48:49 ering theroom, whileRodriguezcontinuestotextonthecellphone. At 17:48:52youcanhear Rofrigueztel the “1 justwant ahand job”,whilehejg standinginfrontoffffnaked. Rodriguezasked lemming tothehand job) “Isthatok?”nfilfesic, Tesh.
rESEA 174857 youcnse EIwkvitthemag ble ndhe witscx‘S@inconeclimbing ontothe able. Al| 516 conbr ER Rog Fhewiikesome oil. Herespondswith, “whateveryouwant".At 17:49:98youcanhear a cellphonereceivingamessage,text, or email.In responsetothis Rodrigue can beheardsaying, “Myfuckingphone
A17:45:27 youcanso Rak awayfrom hemsago able owasthe camers and thenreturntothemassagetablewhere Rodriguezislaying. Youcan thenhearsoundsRodriguezmoaninginpleasure. Youcanthenhear Rodriguez say, “Oh, that’s good. Yeah, like that”. Yog san hearRodriguezsa, “Areyouoing 0makemecam?” “lemicum hardven’. Tocbeheardreplyingin softvoice, “Yea.”. Rodrigue then canbeheardsaying, “Hard, hard, yeahrealhard”. Rodriguezcanbeheardsayinghewas about to ejaculateby saying, “I'mgoing10cum, you

ready?” followed by moaning noises. ThoJanbesseen on thecamerswearingonlybiackunderwearbottoms. rli askingRodriguezi hewanted ahottoweltoclean‘aff1bwhichhedeclined. The video endsat 17:52:05.i
"On Monday, February 11, 2019, Captain Rogues contacted Oicer(NNN fied «Fort MyersPolicereport (2019-01724). CaptainRodriguez alleged AnthonyThomascommitedthecrimeofextortionegainsthimonDecember3,2018. Thenaraiveportionofthispolice reportincludesthe following:

On February 11, 2019 at approximately 1137 hows,Ofte QRveronmarkedpatrol withthe Fort Myers PoliceDepartment,LeeCounty, Florida,contactedbyFortMyers Police Department Captain (Cpt)
JayRe Ireferencetoan incident thatoccurredonDecember 3, 2018.

underCptRodrigues statedthe following: On December 3, 2018 at approximately 1630fit hours, CptRodriguezwasattheFortMyersCity Councilmetingheldat 2200#47 SecondS, CityHall.CptRodriguezwasondutyatthetimeofthe meeting. Cpt.RodriguezwasapproachedbyChuckNewellwhostatedthatAnthonyThomas(02/02/1983) was talking about Cpt. Rodriguez. Cpt RodriguezaskedNewellwhatwasbeing said,inwhich NewelltoldCptRodriguezthatThomaswastellingpeoplethathehad avideoofCptRodriguez havingsex whileonduty.
‘CptRodriguezapproached ThomasandbothThomasandCpt Rodriguezsteppedousideof the council chambers 10 speak.CptRodriguezaskedThomaswhatThomaswassaying about avideo.Thomas told Cpt Rodriguez thathehad avideoofCptRodriguez havingsexwhileondutyandthatCouncilman Johnny
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Streets already hadsaid video.Thomas thensaid10 CptRodriguez, “andtherestofthem (citycouncil)aregoingtohave t too, if you don'tpay".
7" Cp Raipurreceived a stmessage from Steve Graber a le imelatertelling CptRodriguezthesamething Newellsaid.CptRodriguezalsoreceived atextmessagefromFortMyers NewsPress reporterMelissa Montoya. MontoyaaskedCptRodriguezwhathe andThomaswerelalking aboutas Montoyaoverheardsomeoftheconversation.

CptRodriguez didn'tunderstand whatThomasmeant untilThomasposted a‘commenton Facebook within the last two weeksofFebruary 11, 2019. The‘commentmentionedCptRodriguezand the videothatThomaswastalkingabout‘on December3.CptRodriguez thenunderstoodthatThomaswastryingfogetCptRodrigue topay(money) Thomasto notrelease thevideo.
Cpt Rodriguecompletedawritenswornstatement. OicerSR submitedhe statementtothe Fort Myers Police DepartmentDetective Division.Officercontacted NewellandGruber;bothstatedthattheywouldcomplete anial reportofwhat they witnessed.DetectiveDivisionwasnotified.

Gruberobtained a copyofthe council meetingforDecember 3, 2018, Officer(omit the DVDcopyio theFortMyers Police DeparmentEvidenceon sic]

OnFebruary 12, 2019,Captain Rodriguezcompleted awrittenswornstatementinreference to 2019-01724. Hisswomstatementincludedthefolowing:

On Monday, December3, 2018, 1,Captain jay RodriguesattendedtheCityofFortMyers City Council Meetingthat began at approximately 4:30 pm. Myattendanceispartofmynormal dutiesas acommand staff officer representingthe PoliceDepartmentandtoanswerpossiblequestionsregardingagendaitemsthatrelate1 the PoliceDepartment.

Justpriortothe meetingstarting. IwasapproachedbyDetective Chuck NewelloftheFortMyers Police Department. Detective Newellwasin auniformedcapacityworkingsecurityfor thecouncilmeeting. DetectiveNewellstatedtomethatAnthonyThomas had just approachedhim andtoldhim thatthathe(Thomas)wasinpossession of avideo thatcapturedmehavingsexualrelationswithanotherperson. Detective Newell relayedthe information omeand tookispost insidecouncilchambers.

Immediately afterspeakingtoDetective Newell, I received a text message fromOfficer SteveGruber. OfficerGruberwasworkingthe council security detail
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andwaspositionedoutsideofcouncilchambers. OfficerGruber'stextwasto
informme that AnthonyThomaswasoutside thecouncilchambers, “Tryingto., stiratonofst up outhere.”Another textfromOfficerGruber read, “Said you

e * had apornflick.”OfficerGruberthensentme apictureofThomassitting atthe“.,, tableoutsideofcouncil chambers viewinghi cellphone.

Asthe meetingwascommencing,1proceededoutsideofthechambersandfound
Anthony Thomasstillsittingatthetable. IconfrontedThomasaboutthe
allegationshewasmakingagainst me.Thomas statedthathehad avideoofme
having sexwithanotherperson. I explained toThomasthatifhe had a
complaintofwrongdoingagainstme, heneededtofile aformalcomplaintwith
thedepartment. IadvisedThomasthat Iwould notallow him10spreadrumorsor standermyame.
Thomasrespondedby sayingthat hedidinfacthave a apeofmehavingsexwith
anotherperson. Thomas also stated that Councilman Johnny Streetwas already
inpossession ofthe same videoandthatshortly, everymemberof city council
willhave acopyofthevideo aswell. Thomaspausedfor amomentand then
said, “Unlessyou'rewilling topayfor it.” 1againexplainedtoThomasthatif
‘hehad acomplaintagainst me, he needed to go tothePolice Departmentand file
aformalcomplaint. 1walkedawayfromtheconversationandreturnedto
chambers.

At approximately 4:35 p.m. I receivedatext messagefrom Miss Melissa
Montoya-Ocampo. Ms. Montoya-OcampoisareportedfortheNewsPress. Ms.
‘Montoya-Ocampocoversmostcitycouncil meetingandwaspresentforpart of
theconversationbetween meandAnthonyThomasoutside thechambers. While
1rememberMs. Montoya-Ocampobeingaroundforpartoftheconversation, I
cannotsaywhatsaymayormaynothaveheard. Ms. Montoya-Ocampo’stext
messageread, “Whatwasthat???" Shewasreferringtothe conversation
betweenmeandAnthonyThomas.

OnSunday,February 10, 2019, 1began receivingphonecalls and textmessagesfromseveralpeopl advisingmeof apostpublishedbyAnthonyThomason 1s
‘Facebookpage. While Ihavenotseenthepost,itwasexplainedtomethat
AnthonyThomaswasadvertisingthathehad avideoof me involvedin asexual
‘actandwasgoingtoreleaseittothemediathefollowingday.

1haveencountered AnthonyThomasdozens oftimesthroughoutmycareerwith
the Police Department. Prior tomypromotion ocaptain, 1100 worked the city
council meetingsecuritydetails. ItwasnotuncommonforAnthonyThomastoapproachmeatthesemeetingsand threaten 0complain onmefor severalpolicy
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violationsandlorcriminalacts. Thomashasaccusedmeofbeing racist alongwith a umberofotherderogatoryremaris.
Becauseofthis history, I didnotunderstandorgive muchattention to isstatementof, “Unlessyou'rewilling lo pay.” 10sclear tomenowthatgiven theamountoftimethathaspassedbetweentheDecember 3%conversationandtoday'sday,AnthonyThomaswas rying10threatenmewithfearofpublichumiliationandextortmoneyinexchange orthevdeo he possessed.
wish to presschargesagainst AnthonyThomasforthisoffense. [sic]

22haforementionedcriminalcas,allegingextortion andsexualcybreharassment (2019-01724), wasassignedtoDetectiveJames Langton forinvestigation. DetectiveLangton conductedtheinvestigation,to includesworn interviews with the involvedpersonsandsubmittedtheinvestigative file otheSiteAttomey'sOfficeforprosecutorialreview. This criminalcase reviewwasassigned(bywayofanexecutiveorderfromtheGovemor) othe TeathJudicial Cir.On August21,2019,AssistantStateAttomeyHannahPotterdeclinedtoprosecutethecase. notingthefollowing: “InconsiderationoftheevidenceandapplicableLaw,we havedetermined thattheevidence in hiscaseis insufficient toproveanycriminalconductbeyond a reasonable doubtagainst Anthony Thomas. Nofurther actionwillbetakenbythis office regardingthis matter.” (Note: thedocuments related case 2019-01724 wereincludedinthe cas filefor thi internalaffairs investigation)

Offi StevenGraber -(nterviewedon21412019)
+" OfficerGruberconfirmed thatonDecember3, 2018hewasworkingan extra duty assignment,actingas securityatthe CityCouncil meeting.

+ OfficerGrubersaidDetectiveCharlesNewellwasalsoworkingthisassignment.
+ OfficerGrubersaidsometimearound 4:30p.m.hehadcontact withAnthonyThomasinthelobbyareaofCityHall

+ OfficerGrubersaid(referingtoMr.Thomas), “He said, 1can’believe, something like,andagain Ican'tbe 100percentumaccurate,but |can'tbelieveyourboss gotcaugh, ormade a{55sPOO1ape or has apornotapeor something like that".
* OfficerGrubertestified sad at th timeofMr.Thomas’statement,DetectiveNewell wasnext tohim.

«Officer GrubertoldDetectiveLangtonthathedidnothaveany knowledgeconcerningwhat Mr.Thomaswasrefering to.
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+ Officer Grubersaid Officer Newell then wheninsidethe council chambersandinformed(CaptainRodriguezofthe siatementthatMr.Thomsjustmade.
"+ OfficerGrub testified h texto CaptainRogues aboutMrThomas’ statement.

«Offer Gruber testified bewitnessedCaptainRodriguezspeakingwithMr.Thomas in the obbyares of CityHall
+ OfficerGruber told Detective Langton that Captain Rodrigucz said, “i there was a video, 10make acomplainthrough the PSBofficein th Cityof Fort Myers PoliceDeparmentandum,andiodoso,and ihecontinuedvith statement ke his he wasgonnagoafter imfor slanderor,orsomethin ik tha,withoutmaking acomplaint”.
& OfferGrubertestifiedhe idno hear Mr. Thouuas response 0 Captein Rocrigaczbecause“hemumbled”.

«Officer Gruber testified heddnothear anyfurtherconversationbetweenCapainRodriguez andMi.Thomas nddidnotseanymoreinteractionsbetweentem.
+ Officer Grubertestifiedhe later obained acopyofthevideo footage fortheCityCouncilmesting and tumeditovertoOfficer Whointum submitteditto FMPDevidence.

Detective Charles Newell - (Interviewedon2142015)
3 Detective Newell confimedthatonDecember3, 2018 hewasworkingancximduty© assigament, actingss security the Cty Councilmocking.
«He rememberedworking hisassignmentwithOfficerGruber
+ DeteciveNeweltestifiedheandOffice Gruberwere standing insidetheCouncil Chambersnear themaindoorswhenMer.Thomascameupand sariedtalking o heen.
+ Desocive Newel testedMs. Thomas sad, “something,in slang, hesaid,didyou,did70u..guys knoworsee... andthenhesaidsomething in Siang, with your,with your sos,orCaptainRod,yourboss CaplainRodrigues, o yourbossRodrigues, somethingHkthaoknow,what hemeantby that, and thenhesadsomethingabout ase tapeorsomething"
2 Detestive Newell tesificd hesawCaptain Rodriguezand told him aboutMe. Thomas’semen.
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* Detective Newellsaid Captain RodriguezlefttheCouncil Chambersandwetintothe lobbyarea talktoMr.Thomas. Detective Newellclarifiedthatheremainedinthechambersanddid
notwitnesstheconversationbetween Mr.Thomasand CaptainRodriguez inthe lobby area.

CaptainJayRodriguez -(Interviewedon4/9/2019)

+ CaptainRodriguez testifiedhewasattheCityCouncilmeetingonDecember 3, 2018.

| DaghCaptainRodrigueztestified that whileinsidetheCouncil Chambers, Mr.Thomassaid, “hesaidDs Something like, hey Isawyoursomething orother... I want to sayitwassomethingclip,Idon's,= Idon'tknowitwasn't lik,maybe it was porn clip, porn clip, orpor hi,something likethat”.
+ CaptainRodriguczexplainedMr.Thomasmadethis statementtohiminpassingand that he did

01 t0pt0speak withhimat tha time.

«Captain Rodriguez said Detective Newell approachedhimandtoldhim thatMr.Thomassaid
something lik, “Anthonysgoing crazyor lstitor whatever".

* CaptainRodriguezsaid DetectiveNewelltold him, “hesays (referringtoMr.Thomas)he'sgot
you'reina pornvideooryou'rehavingsexwithsomebody".

"Captain Rodriguezsaid Officer Grubersenthim a textmessage,mentioning thatMr. Thomas
#4" said he had “apornflick” ndthen Officer Gruber senthim aphotographofMr.Thomassiting

ata table.

CaptainRodriguez testifiedhewentoutto thelobbyandconfrontedAnthony,whowasstillsittingatatable.

© During questioning, CaptainRodriguezsaidMr. Thomastoldhim that CouncilmanStreetalreadyhadthevideoandthat it wasgoing to beprovidedto therestofCity Council.
* CaptainRodriguezconfirmed (as listed inhiswrittenstatement), Mr. Thomas said, “unless

you'rewilling to pay”.

3 CaptainRodrigueztestified hetoldMr. Thomas, “Jfyougot a,if you got a something, I'm
‘gonnatellyouagain,Ifyou have acomplaintagainstmeyougo to thePolice Departmentrow,ifnot ub,you can's, 1can'thaveyougoingaround,I won't allowyou to goaroundtouhtarnish
mynameorwhatever".

«Captain Rodriguez stidwhenhewashavingthe conversation with Mr. ThomasthatOfficer‘Gruberwasinthelobby 610 7fectaway.
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* Captain Rodriguezsaid NewsPressreporterMontoyawas standingnearby,atthedoorleading10theCouncil Chambers.

©. +"CaptainRodrigueztestified Ms.Montoya, “listens toourconversation,Imeanliterally, she ust
“ut stopped”.

CaptainRodriguezsaid Ms. Montoya senthim atextmessage at 4:35 pan. with, “Whatwasthat?" andherespondedwith, “No clue”.

* Captain RodrigueztestifiedMs.Montoyatextedhim, “Anyof if rue?” andherespondedwith“Seriously?".Ms. Montoya respondedwith, “Exactly, ry, that'swhy I rustnobody".
«When questionedfurtherabout theexactwordsusedby Mr. Thomsrelevaat to, “Unlessyou'rewilling fo payforit", CaptainRodriguez saidthatalthoughhewascertainthat Mr.Thomasusedthewords, “pay forit”, hewasnotsureif he wasreferingtomonetary payment or “like in adisciplineway”.

CaptainRodriguezsaidhedidnothaveanycontactorcommunication with Mr. ThomasafterthisDecember3,2018City Councilmeeting. Additionally,Captain Rodriguezsaidthatnooneassociatedwith Mr. Thomasattemptedtocontacthim.

© Captain RodriguezsaidonSunday, February 10,2019,hebeganreceiving phonecallsfomthemedia “severalmediaoutlets” nd others askinghimifheknewaboutsome Facebookposts,indicatingthat “he's” (Mr. Thomas) “gonnarevealsomethingon,on Monday?”
+ Ceptain Rodriguezsaidhereplied totheaboveinquiries with thestatement, “No, /'mnot”,
+ Capuain Rodriguez toldDetectiveLangton, “And, Ireally didn’t put 2and 2together,and then 1«think by laterthatafternoon, Iwant10 say a coupleofourofficerwere already, liketheyuh,somebodyhad told them abou i, and itwas, it therewasalreadybecomingpretty public.Ardtheyhadreachedout to me,and I saidYeah, I'm awareofi. So, 1 letuhtheDeputy ChiefPeplitoneknowonSunday,um,what 1 washearing,sotherewasnosurprise.Andthen,that'sit”,

«Captain Rodrigueztestifiedthathehasneverreceived ademandformoney o paymentfromMr.‘Thomas,otherthanMr.Thomas’comments(listedabove)attheDecember 3"councilmeeting.
O'NeilKerr -(Interviewedon4262015)

© Mr. KerrtestifiedhewasnotpresentattheDecember 3 CityCouncilmeeting.
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Mr. Kerrtestifiedhewasnotawareofanyplotoranyschemeor anythinginreference to‘anyonetryingtoextortandgetmoneyfrom Jay Rodriguezforanything.

MelissaMontova (Interviewedon5/30/2019)

“5 Ms. Montoyatestifiedshewasatthe CityCouncil meetingonDecember3, 2018. Shesaidshewassitinginsidethechambers,nearthedoorso, “1 hearwhat'sgoingonoutside”.io
* Ms. Montoyatestifiedshe heardloudspeakingbetween Captain RodriguezandMr.Thomas.Shesaid she heard CaptainRodriguez “ThreateningtosueAnthonyThomas andbeard Mr.‘Thomasmentionsomething abouta “sexlape”.

© Ms. Montoyatestifiedsheneverheardanydemandsbetweenthe two.
On Monday, February 11, 2019, at 4:00 pan, Chief Diggs and Captain Newhouse met with StateAttomeyAmiraFoxandherteamfor acriminal casereviewofthevideoandother case documents.StateAttomey Foxviewedthevideo. Captain Newhouse explainedtheprogression of the inlemalaffairs investigation,alongwiththe swom statement ofCaptainJayRodriguez wherein heanswered“No tothefollowing questions: “Have you everengagedinsexualactivityondutywitha,uh, asexworkerorprostitute”. StateAttorney Foxindicatedthatbaseduponhe reviewofthevideo,alongwith1sworn statementofCaptain Rodriguez, acriminalinvestigationintothematterwas appropriate. She‘and herteammentionedtheinvestigationshouldinclude possible peruryandtamperingwithevidence,ShesuggestedCaptainNewhouseandChiefDiggs meetwith lcaders attheFlorida DepartmentofLawEnforcementtodetermine if they wouldbewillingtobandlethecriminalinvestigation.
On Monday, February 11, 2019, at 5:30pn., Captain NewhouseandChiefDiggs met with SpecialAgentin Charge (SAC)ShanePollardattheFortMyersofficeofthe FloridaDepartmentofLawEnforcement.Captain NewhouseprovidedSACPollardwithanoverviewofthefactsofthecase,along‘withthecontent ofthe videos providedbyMr.Kerr. Captain Newhouse and ChiefDiggsasked SAGPolladifhisagencywouldbewillingtoconduct acriminalinvestigationinto theallegations. SACPollardssidhewantedtoconsiderthe matter, inconsultation withhislegal department, andwouldget

‘BA With ChiefDiggs.
work
+ OnTuesday, February 12, 2019,at 9:00am,FDLE SAC Pollard telephonedChiefDiggs. CaptainNewhousewaspresent (duringthisphone call)inChiefDiggs’office andtheconversationwasonspeaker phone. SACPollardsaidhisofficewasopening acriminalinvestigationintothematteras of‘ 2/1212019.HementionedFDLEwouldfocusontheentire operationthatoccurredonMarch14,2013atNewAsianMassage.Hesaid FDLE’s investigationwouldinclude allegationsofpegury (involvingCaptain Rodriguez'sstatementin this intemalaffirs investigation) andpossibly tampering withevidence. Hesaid FDLESupervisorGrant WagnerwouldtelephoneCaptain Newhouse toobiain anydocumentshemayrequireduring FDLE’scriminalinvestigation.
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AffairsInvestigationwastolled,effective February12,2019. On February 14, 2018, Captainonto providedCieDiggs ith a memorandum, denotingth oficial “cling” of IA 218.011includeditinthecasefle.
OnFebruary12,2019,Captain Newhouse providedFDLEwiththefollowingdocumeats: SpecialInvestigations GroupComplain Intelligence Report,Arrest ReportforChenYadated March 14,2013(FMPDreportnumber2013-02675),SAOdocumentsreferencing defendant Chen Ya (courtcase 13-CF-015135, and a FMPDOperational Planreferencingthe “MassageParlorOperation”tobeexecutedonMarch14,2013. (Note: copyofthisemailandtherelated documents wereincludedinthecasefle)
On February12,2019,FDLESpecial AgentSupervisor (SAS) Grant Wagnerrequested that CaptainNewhouseprovidehim with the email from Mr. Kerr (containingthe linkstothevideos). CaptainNeilldisesent SASWagnertherequested email. Additionally,Captain Newhouseemailedhimthe
iBinotesfor operationat NewAsianMassage.(Note: acopyof thisemailandtherelateddocuments

Wet includedin thecasefile)

On February 13, 2019, SAS Wagneremailed CaptainNewhouse, requestingMr. Kerr'scellphoneumber. Captain Newhouse respondedtotheemail (thtsamedat) andprovidedtherequestedphoneone Onethatsame date, SAS Wagneremailed CaptainNewhouse,requesting thatheprovide hum with athumbdrive, containing thevideosprovidedbyMr.Kerr. (Note:copyofthese‘emailswasincludedinthecasefle)
OnFebruary 13, 2019, Special Agent (SA)Boressent apreservationrequest eter to Vimeo, Inc, viacma,requesting hatail account information and videos for accounts andCY7.She received natogeneratedemai receipt.

CBB; February 14, 2019, SAS Wagner met with Captain Newhouse at the Fort Myers Police
Béfartment. Captain Newhouse provided SAS Wagnerwith athumbdrive,containingthe videos
providedinMr. Kerr'semail

On February 20, 2019, SA Bores reviewed the content on the USB flash drive (thumb drive),‘containingthe videosprovidedbyMr.Ker. A synopsisoullningthecontentfoundonthevideoswas‘documentedbySABoresinherreport, listedunder “Seria #3. SA Bores latersubmittedthe USB flashdrive (thumbdriv)intoevidenceattheFloridaDepartment ofLawEnforcement,
OnFebruary 20, 2019,SA Boressubmitted a subpoena request totho StateAttomey’sOffice,20°JudicialCircuit, requesting a subpoena duces tecum for Vimeo, Inc. Sherequestedtoobtainollinfymation associated withVimeoaccounts:(NEDENNEpa

BronFe 20. 2019,Captain Newhouse telephoned SAS Wagner andspokewithhim about theRRRorooscn cops os ns ol kewihHi out be
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ing tothecase.SAS WagneragreedtomeetwithCaptain Newhouseon alard tocollet ix Newhose et wihENP Resorts Soper
Egolf. Ms.Egolf’ aseriesof relatingto FMPDcasenumber 2013-Ta013555% md roideoCopteroo

on February 21, 2019, aspprorimately 3:56 pam. SABorssandSASGrantWagnerconductedan
interview(underoath)withSergeantDavidConticelli.Thefollowing synopsisoutlinestheinformationobtainedduringthisinterview,asdocumentedin SA Bores” FDLE report(for acompleterecordref toto aioFooningof is tevin:

Sgt. Conticell tatedthatheis a LawEnforcement Officer with FMPDandhasbeen
ith theagencysince2010.SASWagnerreferredtothe incident involving the
massageparlor on March 14, 2013towhichSgt.Conticelliadvisedthathewas
working that day. Sgt. Conticellistated that at thetimehewas acommunitypolicing offs thewes distof Fort persand he ook comple roms

{misalonbelieving ha here wes prosttion taking laceat neighboring Asian
675massageparlor.Sgt. Conticellimetwiththe ownersofthehairsalonwhoadvised

+." himthattheyhadseenlingerie,peoplegoinginandoutof thebusiness forffieen
- minutesat atime,andhad individualscomeintotheirbusinessaskingfor agood

time. Sgt. ConticelliconductedsurveillanceontheAsianmassageparlorand
‘witnessedactivity thatwasconsistentwiththeclaimsmadebythehairsalon. He
thensubmitted awritten complaintaboutthesuspiciousactivityto theagency's
Special InvestigationsGroup(SIG). Afersubmittingthecomplaint, he didnot
receive aresponsefromtheSIG unitsohisLieutenant(Lt.)RebeccaPrince,reachedito tin 13Rousto 710 otup onspelen om he som Spt
ConticelliadvisedthathisCaptain,JimMulligan,wasawareoftheoperation.

1 Set.Conticell henstatedthtL.Princewrote the Operational PlanforMarch 14,
“1142013 whichdetailed that Sgt. Conticelli,Lt. Prince andOfficer (Ofc.)SeanMichael
“'"" Havennerweretqbe uniformed. Le wastobeinplain clothes,and

Detective (Det,) and Ofc. were to monitor and
‘conductsurveillance. li could not ic QR:the scene.
Ofc.Havennerwas amemberoftheViolentCrimesTask Force which, atthattime,Jell under thecommandofLs. Rodriguez. Sgt. Conticelliandthe other assigned‘uniformedpatrolofficerswereonthesame radiochannelwaiting to hear the
takedownwork,whichwas “snapper”,fromthetwoofficersassignedtomonitorandsurveilthe operation. Sgt. Conticelli andLt. Prince wereparked in theparking
lotofAroundtheClock Fitnessduring theoperationandneverheardthetakedown
word. Lt.Rodriguezwalkedover towhereheandLt.Princewereparkedandgave
adescriptionoftheindividualtobearrested.Sgt. ConticellithendroveovertotheSian sagbusines and thessroodeslc toon Thcers an id a me ofthbuies oes ine orcaris Theyalo located where 1 themoneytha Lt. RodriguesovefbSo.
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Conticellicould notrecallifanyevidencewascolleciedand ifit was, headvised

thatit wouldhavebeengiventotheSIGunit

etterof fienles nid the business spokeEnglish 20 they comacedthe
LeeCounty Sheri]'s Office(LCS0)andrequested a translator whospokeChinese.
‘One oftheundercoverdetectivespickeduptheLCSO translator,whoSgt. Conticeli
describedasanaviation whoshowedupwearing a jumpsuit. TheLCSO
er dRavetr rc cd Sh od

edinside because there were concernsofhuman
;Atsomepoint theownerofthebusinesswasseendrivingaroundin a

{5reyboxcarandwasbroughtinandarrestedforfacilitatingprostitution.The twoD0 rerrt remorsei Si.Conte did otbelieve
ihetransportedthem. Sgt. Conticeli’smainfocuswason licensing andshutting

downthebusinessandthepossibility ofhuman rafficking. Whilehewasdoing
clin med dtfrerln td hod

‘alwaysbrought inforthemwith a intheback,andwhile insidethe business
heobserved aroom withmattressesin it. The LCSOtranslatortoldhimthathe
wasn'tabletoobtainanyinformation regardingthepossibilityofhuman trafficking.
Som thefgfiRe interviewed.

Sgt. Coniicell didn'tbelievehewrotethe arrestreportbutbelieved that it was a
collaborativefortfrom those involved. Theportionofthearrestreportthat
involved him wasverbatim from theinitial complaint that hewroteandeverything

11. $hvolvinghimwascorrectlydocumented. Sgt.Coniiceli statedthattheonlybriefing
theydidontheoperation wasintheparking lot ightbeforethe operation.Hewas
notavareofwhere the twoSIGmemberswerelocated during theoperation and
statedthatthewasnotawarethattherewas a video monitor being sed duringthe
operation, heonlyassumed therewasan audio monitor. Sgt. Conicellstatedthat

therewasno_indicaiion afterwardsthatwould lead himtobelieve anything
inappropriatehappenedduring theoperation.

Sgt. Coniicell hadrecently viewedthe videooftheoperationwhichwaspostedon .inthony Thomas'sFacebookpagevia a Vimeofink. erence soDEREEaa,
videotobefrom thatday. Healsorecognizedthe male inthevideo tobeLt. Jay
Rodrigues. Sgt. Conicell stated thatheonly has aworkingrelationship with Jay
Rodrigueandthathehasneverbeeninhisdirectchainofcommand.

SAS WagnerandSABoresdiscussedthe documentsSgt. Conticelli provided.Oneof
thedocumentswas a Special Investigations Group ComplaintInielligenceReport
datedDecember 12, 2012. Sgt. Conticell stated thathewrote this reportand
submittedit10theSIGbosforreview.Thepurposeofthisreportis(0 notifytheSIG
group of potential illegal activity involving drugs or prostittion. Sgt. Conticell
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also provided The Fort Myers Police Department Operational Plan labeled“MassageParlor Operation” lobeexecutedon Thursday, March 14, 2013, LtPrince createdthis OperationalPlanandnotified himofthe operationvia email a
fewdaysbefore, on March 5, 2013. Sgt.Conticelli provided a this emailthatshoweditwasalsosent io Jay Rodriguez,SeanT. Figpatrick
and JimMulligan. Sgt. Contcellprovided a copyofemail
theirpublicinformation officerincluding anews release aboutthe undercoveroperationonMarch21, 2013,at 1957 Grove Avenueresuling inanarrest. A copyofemail correspondences about sate licensing relating to the 1957GroveAvene‘operation wasprovidedalongwithanemailcorrespondencefromLt. PrincetoSgt.
Coniicell and SgtRichardNotaroaskingthemtosend nuisanceabatement leters0the ownersofthetwo massageparlorswhere thearrests weremade. Sgt. ConticellistatedthatSgt.NotarowasinchargeoftheSIG at that time.

OnFebruary20, 2019, SA Boresreceivedcorrespondencefrom ChristopherCrowleyin reference totheinvestigationinvolving CaptainRodriguez. Crowley'scorrespondenceconsisted ofa ltt toFDLE,Office of Executive Investigation (OEI),requestingthataninvestigationbeopenedinto Capt Rodriguezforhisiavolvement in the “prostitutionsing”in2013,endtheCityof Fort Myersandlor FMPDforviolating FloridaStateStatuteChapter 119,information requests.
Mr. Crowleyprovided a copyofemailsbetween Mr.KerrandtheCityofFort MyersDirectorofHuman Resources,ElfenClyatt.Theemails werethesameemailsprovidedtoSABoreson February12, 2019, byCaptain Newhouseandwerereferenced ly. SABoresnotedtheemails sppeartoeb owed en 3" Kor GG to i Tors(Anthons_thomasfinbahotunilom) on February 13, 2015 at 1198 a.m, and then forwarded from Mr.‘Thomsto Crowley (ccrowleytahotmail.com)onFebruary 13, 2019 at 10:47 p.m. (Note:acopyoftiscomespondencewasincludedinthe casofile— SecFDLE'sINV-6)
OnFebruary 22, 2019, Captain Newhouse met with SASWagnerandprovidedhimwitha copyofthefollowing records:

«Copy ofComputerAidedDispatch (CAD) notes fromMarch 14, 2013 —report number 2013-02675
«Copy ofNuisanceAbatementNotification or— 1791BoyScoutDrive(New AsianMassage)«Copy OfFMPDArrestReport 2013-02675 (Showingcourtordered redaction)«Copy ofComputerAided Dispatch (CAD) notes from March 21, 2013 — report number 201302878

+1208:4COPY OfFMPDOperationalPlan referencing “Massage ParlorOperation” —March 21,2013
on&:CopyofGeneral Order 13.1 ~ RecordsDivision &RecordsM:"& CopyofResodsDioosiionDocument 15 cloRYciivrRecordswithinclusivedatesofJanuary2014toApril 25,
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. of roSY Logbook showing report number 2013-02675CRsr

(Note a copyofthesedocumentswasincluded nthecase fl - See DLE report INV-9)
On February21,2019, SpecialAgentBorsrequested llcasedocumentspertaining {ocasemumber13CFO1S135 from Assistant Chief Investigator ChuckBatagliaoftheOfficeofthe State AtomeyShay ie Co

|261 February 27, 2019, SA Bore receive the requested docu Asst. Chief InvestigatorHoa vi do ivi toeaconRRMLovoSoewerereceived:
+ Anunredactedaes report forCin Ya refencingFMPDcasenumbes 2013-0267
+ A FloridaUniform TrafficCitation forChenYa, atedMarch14,2013
+ A copyofmails from theSAOrequesting casereport for FMP casenumber13-002675

Documents relating to Criminal Trafic Division case number 13-T-100147, referencing
£4defendantChenYa

cA SAO Noticetothe Clerk referencing defendantChen Ya, showing a disposition of“Insufficient Evidence to Prove Beyond Reasonable Doubt” for the chirge of 79605(1),Derivingfrom ProceedsofProstitution,andthecharge of 322.03, NoDrivers License,wasreferred fomisdemeanoronApril15, 2013
(AnelectroniccopyofthedocumentsismaintainediaFDLE related ens as INV-79)

On February22, 2019, SA Boars recivedthe subpocaaduces tectum fromtheSAOforthe requestedinformationfrom Vimeo, Inc. Sheservedthe subpoenatothecompanyviaemailonthesamedaeandreceiveda receipt confimmation. (SeeSerial#4FDLEreport)
“GnMarch 12019.at approximately2:03p SA BoresandSASWagnerinterviewed SgtSIren biomes 7. Galasso, The folowing reprommensymopasoftheinformationoblained during he interview (for 8completerecord refs to thaudiorecordingofthisinterview):
Icc workedfor FMPDforthepast 16years and currentlyholds the position of In Marchof2013, Sgteo emberof or TaskForeebutwsransioningio the FEI ViolentCrimes Tusk Force. [@iergeantattha timewasirGonzales Q@uenart was Jay Rodrig,an copiin was Jim Milian.
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[DateofRepor: ~~ |Marchz2201 |
Worn‘been amember oftheSpecial Investigations Group (SIG) since late 2011or 2012.

54Bore rovdedSER vit py of he FMPDOperational Plan theA Bmpespiedhecperonlpion fomJ emaAis mirc
Newhousebutcouldonlyrememberparts ofthe operation.SY vsedttOfficer(ofc)Conticelwasthereduzingtheoperationaswell a HieutenantfeTeee

Dod orOfc.SeanHavenner being fortheoperationbut
verethere. Sgt.TRY ved roll was avidts momior he sper

P21 Normalpractice formonitoringoperationsincluded monitoring theone-way devicethattheundercoverofficerwasequipped with,ensuringhissafety,andrelayingformationtotherayuni. Sc:QRcoldrorelwhatmonitoringequipmentwasusedduringtheopera wasunawarethatanyrecording
devices were being used.Bl odwoed that f Lt. es red witanything10 record the goczalion for evidence assumeditwouldhaveCompe ARr
stagedduringtheoperation butif "been normalpracticetohavetheentranceofthebusinessinview.
Se. explained normaloperatingprocedures forretrievingrecordingdevices1.1.4. @ndmonitorequipmentafer operations. Iftheundercoverofficerisa SIGmember"then theywould take the equipmentback totheoffice with them. fheundercover#5" officer wasnot aSIGmemberthenhewould givetheequipmentback 10 whoevergaveitto him. Jfit was a bugor awire it wouldhavebeengiven back to theSIG‘memberthatcheckedtheequipmentout

Sot founduh a videoof he opraionexisted acopiewes rior to
this whenfeceved a ext messagefom Tey Radel ling thatAnthony Thomas postedon Facebook. thevideo.RadelsenSgt.screen sho ofThomas's post. SR ies br ;hich satedthat Thomaswasgolf release asexLapeof Capt. Rodriguez to themediathefollowingday. (According to Mr.Thomas)Thevideo showedhimreceivingablow job from a an undercover‘prostitution operation inFort Myerswhi paidforwithtaspayermoney. It also stated that the currentpolicechief knew abou theincidentandproceededtopromoteCapt.Rodriguez.Thomasstatedin thepostthathewasgivenihevideothenightbeforeby a concernedlaw enforcementfiendand therehasbeen‘a major cover-upregardingthis incidentatthe FMPDandCapt. Rodriguezandhiscronies withheld theevidence romtheStateAttorney'sOffice.
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Sg senta textmessagetoRodrigue:aftr learningaboutthevideoandtoldhimwhat AnthonyThomashadpostedon Facebook. Cap. Rodrigues responded
andsidht someonehadlead made im avareand hate AREY

- vive the ie at work wher ollieshowed i: ofitsuw lfprior(0 thisinterview,The deol viewedwaspos onVimeo.. believedtht the deol vs suasfromtheoperationonMarch14,iv 2015.WBstated that therewasno Bs ll mid ote metsom veityJayRodriguez.

OE vis htwheres oSIGmember theywouddownoadal ideoon acomputertower called, "SIGvideodrive”. Thiswas a communityfortheundercover office thatwouldbeused(0 store undercovervideos,Wcistowerwas mot comected to he meeworkandhand ope
videoevidencewouldbe madeforthe case officer, case file, andforthe StateAttorney'sOffice. HardcopiesofhevideoevidencewerenotsubmittedintoFMPDevidence. Every officerwas inchargeofdownloading theirownvideo evidenceonto the towerandwouldneed10dosoinorderto makeroom onthe videoecondingdevice forthenxtus.QE odvised thatthiscomputerwasrot
password protected.

OnMarch5,2019, a approximately 10:13am.SABoresand SAGary Negrinelli interviewed Lt=:yf omy,Ti ula.‘Thefollowingrepresents aSynopsisofthe in obtained during theinterview (for acomplete record refer tothe udiorecordingofthisinterview):

tlewer for heID seventeen (17)‘currently holds theposition ofLieutenantinthe
Marchof2013, [ffwas adetectivewith the Special 5.supervisor atthattimemayhavebeen Sergeant(Sgt)Notaro, SGmemberfrom 200610approximately2017. SA Bores withatopyofthe FMPD Operationgl Plan Jorthe “Massage Parlor "io beexecuted on March 14, 2013. did notrecall seeing that operationalin 2013butstatedthat fire partsof the_gperaion.
rememberedLt.Rebecca er5Bg iermbaissesc ptrot) SRY od.ToreorOfc.DavidConticelliwerepresent. {fffwas assignedtomonitor theoperationthatdaybutthe monitorequipment malfinciioned. TheyattemptedtouseCallyobutthequality wasbadsothey usedanopen lineto monitor the TheopenBeee
wouldbeable 0goback into CallyoandprovideSA Boreswi anasavedinCallyofrom thatoperation.
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(I oui havebeeninan unmarked vehicle andinplain clothesfor this

‘operationand it would Havebeen normalpraciice to besiagedat alocation within
sightofthe business.[2 afl wa with during the
operationandcould nolrememberdoing& briefing orany activitythat happened
beforeorduringthe operation. Onceinsidethebusiness,(ffrememberedseeingcotsin thebackroom of the businessand thinkingtherewashuman trafficking
goingon,(reachedout10 FDLEor Homeland Security Investigations(HIS)to

ntegee they wanedtoconduc interviewsQR iscomecied hegecuisy systemag inside thebusinesssothatnoonecould twasgoingon.[iid notrecall
I" collecting anyevidenceorseeinganyoneelsecollectevidence. explained

thatwhenSIG members collected evidence,suchasdrugs,it wouldhavebeen
submitedintoFMPDevidence. Whentheyhadvideooraudioevidence it would
havebeenuploadedontothenetworkdrive, or Synologystorage device. Evidence
thatwasuploadedonthe networkdrivewould remainthereunlessitwasrequested
bythe State inwhichcase, theywouldmakehardcopesoftheevidence. This
retortdscanon buaccep 516members QED esvorc
uploadinganythingafierthe operation.
BYvicvedthe video regardingthisincident acoupleweekspriorto this
interviewwhenitwaspostedbyAnthonyThomas. [Jil couldnotrecallwhatwebsite

21: hevideowasposted on.(i hadnotheard aboutthisincidentor thevideo beforeAc, theInternalAffairsinterview with Capt. Newhouse. Capt. Newhouse
+. look for the video on theSIGT di andgaveff a specificpath to follow

wasunable10 locatethevideo.(ff explainedthat acoupleyearsagoSgt. Noiaroeguestd hf@imov older seul of of theSIGdrivebecausei vas aking1p 00
michspaceon thenetvor.Qfresus ha heymove toanexermalhard
divewhich was thensired neSIG fe. Cpt.Nevhouseasocuestedhoff)
heckthat hard iveoS.Drs pendhe SI sfboalo QERRR

Jorthevideoonthatharddrivebuttheharddrivewas notinthe location
othe harddrive is onn.(RYcio sted ha the of FortMyersIT
Jovian rill Ty cicdvs roidi
DepartmentwiththeodSynologydeviceandotheroldbackup drives.
4 Bores showed RE the frst videothtdepicted a timestampof March
2013at17:38:20 and showed awhitemale looking downintothe camera.

rfidthemaninthevideoas JayRodriguez. SA Boresthenshowed|
ihebeginningofthesecondvideo thatdepicted atimestampofMarch 19,

at 17:38:18 and showed a male walking through aparking lotwearingkhaki
shoris and lip flops. Themaleinthe videothenentered abusiness and. an
CnSABoresthenstopped the vid

li thevideotookplaceduringthe operationthat day. (gsi if
‘basedonthetime anddatestamp,themonitordevice usedtorecordthevideo would
havebeenacovertrecordingdevice suchasQE
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OR ccuiledihe video that(]hadseen andstatedthe following: LtRodriguezwentinto thebusiness andsetuptheequipment. Itthensoundedlikehe
received amassage.QRcoldhear i the videothtthetwowereworking
out adealanddis: priceand theact.Th he video fhe rom«54ndcamebackacoupletimes. Itsoundedas thesexualactthatwasSi discussedisthencarriedout. L. Rodriguezwas seen naked inthevideoandthe+ (voseenpilake.Tievido wes then red ofby Li.Rodrigues.

wasaphonecall thattakesplaceduringthevideo thal Poelicved wasplacedby(whotoldLt. Rodriguezthattheycouldnothear, erewasalso
textmessagesreceived on Li. Rodriguez's phoneduringthetdodhvebe sntfnoder 0 etpcsaot he perso.RY rorememberlinthecllorsing hei messes bdsidhat itwould havebeen normalpractice orthemifmonitorequipmenthad stopped
workingand theywereunable to monitor the operation.

(EYvcstheSIG memberthathousedandmanaged alotoftheelectronic
‘equipmentand hewouldhavebeen theone to akecareofbrokenequipment. There
imapeation formthe we tod 0 check out clcoonccqupmert E)

didnotbelievethatitwasbeingusedatthetime of thisoperationin 3015 An
expenditure formwouldhave beenfiledoutfor theoperationdetailingtheamount
ofcashcheckoutandapprovedby a supervisor.Anymoneythatwasnotusedwouldhave been retumed to thesafe.

er RY crv SRi 0FDL so provides SABorswl ick USDflashdrivecontainingCallyorecords. SABoresreviewedthe ilsontheflashdrivewhich containedthefollowing:

© One(1) Excelspreadsheetdetailingthree (3)callson March14, 2013
+ Thre (3)audiorecordings

‘The firstrecordingbegan at 17:15:13 and wasfifty-nineseconds (0:59)inlength. Thereweretwoindividualson the recordingwhoconfirmed thebugnumber.Thesecondrecordingbeginsat17:18:52andisfourminutesandtwelveseconds (4:12)inlength.Onthisrecording,itappearedthe individuals‘ere testingthecall. Oneindividualsated tha if thy gotdisconnectedthencllhimandhewouldsayhathehadtocallthembackandthenhewouldhaveneededtoredial to connect again.Thethirdrecordingbeganat 17:24:41andwasfiveminutesandforty-fourseconds (5:44)in length. ItappearedtoSABoresthattheindividuals testedthecallagain. SABoresnoted oneindividualstatedthattheaugwasveryquiet and theyshoulddo an openline. SABoresecured he USSfashdv,providRY or strtransferred i into evidence t FDLE.
OnMarch5,2019,at approximately 11:18a.m.SABores and SAGaryNegrinelli interviewedformer PMPDOfficerScanHavemner. Thefollowingrepresents asynopsisof theinformation oblaineduring he interview (for comple record refer 0 th audiorecordingof is interview):

indi
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Havenner stated thathecurrentlyworks forGoldStandard,a security company,and
hasworkedthereforapproximatelysixmonths. Heis a formerLawEnforcement
Office with the FMPDandworkedthereforapproximately fourand half years
beginninginOctoberof2011. Heresigned ingoodstandingtotravel He stated

thatinMarch 2013,hewasontheViolentCrimes Task Force. Sergeant (Sgt)
GonzalezandLieutenant (Lt) Rodriguez were in hischainofcommandatthat time.
LtRodriguezwasthe lieutenantoverSpecial Operations.

4BoresprovidedHavemner with acopyofthe FMPD OperationalPlanforthe“Massage Parlor Operation”10beexecuted on March 14, 2013. He recalledseeingthisoperationalplan in his Internal Aflairsinterview withCapt. Newhouse.
Thiswasthefirstundercover operation thatHavennerwasimolvedin. L1.Rebecca
Princewasin chargeoftheoperation. Loe 0) moisCoioel anilll)
Rodriguez were also during the operation. Hedid notrememberDetWcre oa

inan undercovercapaci. erwastheuniformpatrolofficer
Jortheoperaiionandhis jobwastodetainanysuspectsandsecurethescene. He
‘was staged attheGulfStream ApartmentsduringtheoperationandbelievedhewaswithOJ.Conticeli. Havennercouldnot recallanycommunicationthattookplace
duringthe operation butremembereddriving 10 the businessandseeingsomeone
placedinhandcuffs. Hecould notrecallanything thattookplace onceinsidethebusiness. Hestatedbeing the uniformed officerforthe operationmeanthewould
have been theone10 transportsomeoneifneed be,buthedoesnotremember
transporting anyone. Havennerexplained thatsince hewas anewofficer hewould
othavebeentheone 10equip Li. Rodriguezwithamonitoringdevice norwould hehave taken it fromhim.

$4 Boresprovided Havennerwitha signedcopyoftheFMPDArrest Reportbearing‘agencyreportmumber 2013-02675.Havenner confirmed thesignatureonthe Arrest
Reportasbeinghisown. Afterreadingthereport, hestatedthat it lookedlikehiswriting style. Lt. Prince, Of. Conticell, andLL. Rodriguezwerealso listed on theArrestReportas “Officers Reporing. Havennerdidnotrecallthe aforementioned. _officers telling himwhathappenedduringtheoperationbutheassumed thatis how
hegotthe informationtowriteinthereport.Atthetimeofwriting thereport, he
hadnotseenanyvideoorlistened 10anyaudio from theoperation. Havenner
stated,10thebestof his knowledge,everythinginthe arrestreportwasaccurateat
thetime ofwritingit.

4BoresprovidedHavemnerwith acopy of theComputerAidedDispatch (CAD)
notesbearing report number 2013-02675. Havenner statedthathisofficer number
was479and hiscall signwas"S7", Ofe. Conticell’sofficer mumberwas 465 andiscallsignwas “CP33",Lt Prince'sofficer numberwas 240and hercalsignwas
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“A1". Havenner explainedtheCADrotesindicated thathe transported afemaleto
pi sistem co beterrmmporied RD vsLoe Conny Ji AfterovreadingiheCADnotes, Havennervaguely transportingsomeone to the

"policestation and thento the jail. He explainedthatit wouldhavebeennormal
praciiceto ransport10 thepolicestationwherehewouldhavewritten arrest
reports,evidencewouldhavebeen submitted,and interviews wouldhavebeen
conducted.

Havennerwasunaware thatterewas avideoof the operation until recently. He
hadwatchedthevideo thathadbeen postedtoVimeoon his friend'scellphone.
Havennerexplainedseeing a malein thevideothatlooked like Jay Rodriguez. The
maleentered the massageparlorandladdownonsomethingthenth
imifhewaniedanysexual favors. The me hex nilmony

theroom. Themale thenstoodinfrontofthecameranakedandthatwas
Havennerstated thathestopped watchingthe video.

S4BoresshowedHavennerthefirstvideothatdepicted a timestampofMarch14,
2013 at 17:38:20 andshowed awhite male lookingdowninto thecamera.
Havenneridentifiedtheman in thevideoasJayRodriguez. SABoresthenshowed
Havennerthebeginning of the second videothatdepicted a timestampofMarch 14,
2013 at 17:38:18andshoweda male walking through a parking lot wearing khaki

Shortsandfp flopsthreiering busines and greinan RY n a
yellowdress. SABoresthen stoppedthevideo. HavennerbelievedtheWao, took.lacedigte sprint oy but id os eccgiehQERR evir
This video appearedtobethesame videohehadpreviously onhisfriend's
cellphone.

On/March 6, 2019, at 2:00 pn., Captain Newhouse and Lt. Brian O'Reilly wet to the former SIGofficespace Floor),locatedat2285Union Street.CaptainNewhousedidnothave a key,soberet NDtooes 0woh ili. opinNowra0receipt files (expenditure reports) relating tothe operationconductedonMarch14,2013at NewAsianMassageforanyotherrelateddocuments. Lt. O'Reilly mentionedthatbackwhenhoconductedan auditof SIG (in 2017) allofthe expendi receipts were housed (orderly) inside of Sgt. Notaro's(TheSIGsupervisor)formeroffice. Co aSIGunitwasdismantled(2017 afer theSIG audit—SeeIA20 mov el Unit ntoSgt.Nososanc ne 6svin Asrs st. Notro'sofficeinto a neighboringoffice.

pen ming thelores SIG fiespace,CptanNewhouse, 1. 0 Rely, nd oundtheoffice tobeinextremedisorder. Therewere expenditure fileson #tableinthe fron: of tie Oice,onthe
floé#Pandinplastictrash bags.(Tefileswerene rdery as atsees by L1. OReily off‘wife nothoused insideof Sgt. Notaro’sformeroffice or theadjacentoffice. Captain Newhouse BEL."Reilly arrangetohavethelockschangedtoal thedoorsothebuildingand providehimwiththe only
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key. Captain Newhousethenreportedthe conditionoftheoffice toDeputyChiefPepitoneandDeputy
Chief Meyers. Additionally, Captain Newhouse telephoned FDLE SAS Wagner and reported the
‘conditionssttheformerSIGbuilding.

OnMarch 7, 2019,Captain NewhousemetwithFiscalManager JuanSotoandaskedhimtolocate
SIGfinancialdocumentsforMarch2013.Mr. Sotoexplainedhardcopiesoftherequesteddocuments
arenormallystoredin abinder, locatedwithinthe securedfinancialofficeattheFortMyersPolice
Department. HementionedelectroniccopiesofthesedocumentsshouldbestoredontheFMPDfinance
drive, which hasrestrictedaccess. Mr. Soto said he searchedfor the documentsfor March of2013in

ions,buttheyweremissing. Thedocumentsfrom January2013toMarch20,2013were. Atthistime,Mi.Stowasemployed asthe FinancialManagerforspproximatelyoneyear. Ho E53id notexplainthemissingdocuments. Captain NewhouseimmediatelynotifiedSABoresconcerning
themissingfinancialdocuments.

OnMarch18, 2019, at 11:00am,SABoresandSA NegrinellimetwithCaptainNewhouseandhe
provided themaccesstotheformer SIGoffice. Captain Newhouseexplainedthebuildingreceivedsome
‘waterdamageduringHurricane Irmain2017andwasvacatedshortly thereafter. Captain Newhouse
‘showedSABoresa binderfullof 2013SIGFinancial RequestsandExpenditureReport, whichhefound
intheSIGofficeonMarch 6,2018, lyingon atable withtheprongsopenandreportsdetached.

SABoresand SANegrinellicommentedonthedisorderlynatureoftheSIGoffice. Theynotedlater
intheirreport (SeeSerial 11 ofFDLE's report), “SABoresandSANegrinellientered theoffice and

4il chairs, tables,boxes, filing cabinets,rash bags, binders, officeand computer equipmentstored
a roomsinnoorderly fashion.Containedinsomeofthefileswereconfidentialinformant (Cl)
be SIGFinancialRequestandExpenditure Forms,andSIGOperationPlans,SIGFinancial

RequestandExpenditure Formswerealsolocatedin atrashbagonthefloor”.

SABoresphotographedtheofficeandcollectedthefollowingevidence:

+ One (1) blue 3-ringbindercontaining2012and2013Financial RequestsandExpenditureReports
«One (1)black3-ringbindercontaining 2013 FinancialRequesis andExpenditureReports.
+ One(1) SIGOperationPlandatedMarch14,2013
*Five(5) SIGOperationPlansdatedMarch21, 2013
*One(1)CompstatReportdated March 2013

3i#70Cbydocumentsand EvidenceSubmission Form referencing report number 13-04954
ind One(1) green filefoldercontaining 2012briefsandcomplaints
+One(2)green filefoldercontaining 2013briefsand complaints

SA Boreswasunable tolocate anyFinancialRequestsandExpenditureReportsor OperationPlanspertainingfothe undercoverprostitution operation atthemassageparloronMarch 14, 2013, However,
SA Boreswasable to locateSIGmeetingnotesfrom March12, 2013andMarch26, 2013 whichlist
“Jay”inattendance. Additionally, SA Bores located SIG meeting notes from December 11, 2012,
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documenting“BeckyMassage Parlor”listedunderthename(Jif SABoressubmitted the above-
‘mentioneditemsintoevidenceatFDLE.

OnMarch 18, 2019, SABoresreceived a copyoftheunsigned FMP arrestreport number 2013-02675,referencing. tedMarch 14, 2013, fromCaptain Newhouse. Captain
Newhouse wasableto from the Universal Booking System (UBS),eventhough

thedefendant's arrest an electronic copyoftisarestreportismaintained
inFDLErelateditemsINV-50)

On March20,2019,atapproximately 10:01 a.m. SABoresandSANegrineliinterviewedFMPDStaffAssistantJillNewhouse. ‘Thefollowingrepresents asynopsis oftheinformationobtsinedcuring
&236idfview(for acompleterecordrefertotheaudiorecordingofthisinterview):

0° Newhouse satedthatshecurrently worksat FMPDandholdsthepositionofStaff
AssistantintheHomicideUnit. ShehasworkedforFMPDfor 19years, 15ofthose
yearsworkinginthe Special Investigations Group(SIG). Newhousewasthestaff
assistant for of2013. SheadvisedthatRichardNotaro, Donald

Weathers, ‘EricGuridge,andCandice Petaccio were all members
ofSIGatthat ime. JayRodriguezwasnota memberofSIG.

NewhouserememberedLieutenant(Lt) Rebecca Princesubmitting acomplaint to
SIGinregard toprostitutionat a massageparlor. SIGwas100busyat thattime
anddidnotasistwiththe operationsoPrinceputan operationtogether. Newhouse

,... couldnotrecallLt. Rodriguezbeing involved with anySIGoperationsorSIGmeetings.

© Newhousewasinchargeofreceiving allcomplaintssubmittedtoSIGandthen
inputtingthem ntothecomputerontheSIG Tdrive.Shereceivedthe complaintsby
email,phone,ortheSIGcomplaintform.Sergeant(Sgt) Notarowould thengointotheSIG 7driveandreviewthe complaints andassignthemtoSIGdetectives.
NewhouseexplainedthatonlySIGmembershaveaccesstotheSIGTdrive. Caples
oftheoperationalplanswerealsouploaded and hard copies weremainiainedwith

- all othercase documentationin afiling cabinet undertheSIG mumber,orcase
umber.

Newhousesated thatDetective(ER:i arse ofmanagingcleciroic
equipmentwilizedbySIG le was alsoresponsibleforordering and

141% fixingelectronicequipment. Shebelievedthere was a formthatneededtobefiledout when equipment was checkedoutand returned. pment was
storedi a lockedequipmentroom withtheSgt. Notaro intaining
thekey.
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Sgt. Notaro maintainedexpenditureformsin a binderaswellasin a “quicken”
programon hiscomputerused10trackthemovementsof SIGfunds.Thebinderwas
storedinSgt. Notaro'soffice. Money that was usedforSIGoperationswasstored.
in asafe thatwaslocated inthesergeant’soffice. Newhousebelieved thatall
membersofSIGhad access tothesafe.

—..__Newhouse explained thatshe would havebeenresponsiblefordeleting documents if
Inter she received] thatpertainedtoaSIG investigation. She

receivedth FMPDrecordspersonnel.Shedidnotrecall
doingsofor theCaseinquestionbut, shedidrecallrece in
the pastandremoving files from theSIG T Drive. Hardcopies re
requiredto 4d havebeen shredded.

Newhousesawihevideothat showedCapt.Rodriguezentera massage parlorand.
providemaney io offfinexchange fora sexual act. Shewasable toidentify
Capt.RodriguesbyHisvoice. Newhouseviewed thisvideo withinthepastcouple
weekswhenitwasshownonthe news. Shedidnotrecallanyconversationofsaid
videoin2013.

Newhouseadvisedthat shortlyafter ChiefDiggs becametheChiefofthe FMPD,the
$42: SIGwasdisbandedfollowingan auditconductedby Brian O'Reilly. After Sgt.i NotarolefttheagencyandtheSIGwasdisbanded. 100k over

Notaro’soldofficeintheoldSIG building} iomaintainallo
electronicequipment.

ieSIGsafeisnow locatedintheVCU,thebuildingwheretisinterviewtook place
Newhousebelievedtheonlymembers

access "Doroard Shebelievedthe
safewasmovedfrom theold SIG buildingtothe curren; when theymoved
outof thatbuilding.

On arch20,201, CptinNewbieprovided SA Bore wihCaptainRodgerssgency isuPannsdnic laptop, his agencyissuediPad,andthetower tohisagencyissued Dell computer. Capt,
NewhouseexplainedthatwhiletheCaptain wouldhavebeen abletostoreitemsonthedevicesprovided,mostdatawould bestoredonhisnetworkZdrive. Everyemployeeintheagencyhastheirown Zdrive,
allowingthemtoaccessaloftheirsored data fromanycomputerinthe agency. AllZ drivedata is
storedattheCity ofFort MyersInformation Technology (IT)Departmentlocatedat22002%Street, FortMyers,Florida. SA Boresprovideda Preservation RequesttoCityofFortMyers ITDepartreat,
requestingalldatastoredonCapt. Rodriguez'snetworkaccountbepreserved. SABoressubmittedtheabove-mentionedcomputersinto evidenceatFDLE.

OnMarch21, 2019, SA Boresreceivedan email romCityofFort Myers NetworkEngineerBarbara‘Wills. Ms.Willssatedshe wasrequestedtosearchforthevideoinquestionat aspecific locationonthe.
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SIGdrive,butthe locationdidnotexis. Shesearchedtheentire serveraswela theSIGdrive,yielding
no results.Ms,Willsadvised thatfrom2013upuntilscoupleofyearsago.anexternalharddrive
asusedby SIGforstoringvideo files.Shestatedthatbecause ofthehurricane dsmagetotheformerSIGbuilding,theconnection wasdownandremoteaccessfothat device wasunavailable.

Ms. Willsinformed SA Bores thatCityof Fort MyersInformation Technology(IT)Director Calkinsreceived two(2) Western Digital harddrivesand aSynology NetworkAttached Storage (NAS)device a
couple weeksprior,ShebelievedtheSIGvideowouldbestoredon oneofthe threedevices. Wills386 SABoresshecouldretrievethe threedevicesfromherandmake a forensiccopyofeach device.

{2%nthesamedate,SABoresmetwithWillatheroffice,locatedonthethirdfloorof2200Second! Street. Wilsprovided SA Boreswithtwo(2) WesternDigitalhanddrivesand a Synology NAS device.
Shealsoprovided a copyof ahandwrittenproperly receiptshowing that threeharddrives were delivered
totheITS DirectorbyLt{ffm February 27,2019,at2:00p.m.

SABorestumedthedevicesover to FDLE Digital Forensic Consultant(DFC) Christopher Vaden.OnApril4, 2019, SA Bores received thedevices backfromDFC VadenandshoplacedthemintoevidenceatFDLE!

OnMarch 19,2019,SABores receivedananonymousletteraddressed to FDLE.The leftreference
formerLt. RebeccaPrinceand allegedactionsofmisconduct duringbertime attheFort MyersPolice‘Bifitnent. TheleterallegedPrince tookmoneyfromdrugdealers andfiled to submitnarcotics nto¢yidence. It alsoallegedPrince engagedinsexualconductwithsupervisorswhileonduty,mishandled
internalaffsrsinvestigations, andstolemoneyfromtheCiyofFortMyersattheamual Christmasparty. The“Frecch”(Freeh Group) reports arementionedinthe lttrandtheauthor sated thatPrince,althoughshewasnotnamedin the reports,wasresponsibleforcomuption and wrongdoing within the
agency.Theleterindicatedtheallegationsagainst PrincewerebroughtforwardtoCity of Fort Myers

officials,butnoactionsweretakendueto thepotentialfornegativebacklash.
Additionally, theletteraddressedallegationsagainstCapt. Rodriguez. The authorsatedthevideo‘wasdeleted romtheserverandCapt. Rodriguez andPrincemistakenly assumednoonemade acopyof

thevideo fortheirrecords. Theauthoroftheleter assertedthat PrincewasanIntemmal AffirsLieutenantandwasmadeaware andprovided acopyofthevideofrom anotherofficerapproximately 3 —
prior, Theauthor requestedthatFDLEinvestigate Prince andnamesherasRodriguez's “co-Bior.ShBors te midth ee nyEdence oFDLE.evide

OnMarch28, 2019,SABoresand SA Negrinelli metwithFMPDFiscalManager JusaSoto, Mr.
SotoadvisedthattheSIG financial documentsfrom thefrstquarterof2013couldnotbelocated. HenoticedthiswhenCapt. NewhousecontactedhimonMarch7,2019,askinghimtolocate SIG financialdocumentsfromMarch2013.Hardcopies ofthedocumentsarestoredin binderlocated inthesecurod
financialdepartment ofFMPD.ElectroniccopiesofthedocumentsarestoredontheFMPDfinancedrive withrestricted access. ‘The documentsfrom January2013toMarch20,2013werenot located incitherofthoseplaces.
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Mr. Sotocrplainedheonly held theposition ofFiscal Managerfor sbout a year,butseid it is normal

practicetosend acopy ofthefinancialdocumentsviaemail theCityofFort MyersFinanceDepartment,HollySimone.SABorescontacted Ms. Simone viatelephone,andshestatedtha shecould notlocate
29 SIG financial documents from2013. Sheadvisedthatbecauseof the confidentially oftheSIG, it

2 50t policy in2013tosendSIGfinancial documentstotheCityofFortMyersFinance Department.
‘Rermalpractice in2013wouldhave been toprovide SIG financialdocuments tothe Chiefof Police or
hisdesigneeforreview.

SABoresobtained a copy oftheSIG financialdocumentsthatshoweddates March21,2013toJun 12,
2013.Thesedocuments amaintainedasINV-20(SeeFDLE'sreport).

OnApril1,2019,SABaresobtainedone (1) Western DigitalharddrivefromCityof FortMyers
NetworkEngineerBarbaraWills,Thisharddrive containedsurveillance videofromtheexteriorof theformerSIGofficebuilding. Thevideowascopied othe harddrivebyMatt Fabic, City ofFort MyersIT engineer, Thisvideocontainedthree (3)separate viewsofthe office building andbeganon February
18,2019at 2:26pm. andendedonMarch19, 2019at 12:00am. Itshouldbenotedthevideoforthis

T4iidh issavedfor30daysandthenautomaticallydeleted.SABoressubmittedthevideointo
#idthceatFDLE. Thevideodid notrevealwhomayhavebeen responsiblefor removing the

Spenditurereports (fortheoperationon March14,2013) from theSIGofficebuilding.

OnApril3,2019,atapproximately 3:11 pam, SA BoresandSAS Wagner interviewedITSDirector
RichardCalkins. The followingrepresents asynopsisoftheinformationobtainedduringthe interview

(for acomplete recordrefer to the audiorecordingof thisinterview):

Calkins stated thathecurrently works athe City ofFortMyersandholdsthe
positionofITSDirector, apositionhehasheldforapproximatelyoneyear. Hehas
Worked intheI7departmentsinceapproximately2012 andhasworkedforthe City
ofFortMyerssince2007.

W654Boresasked Calkinsaboutthehandwritten receiptthat showedthaton
SUI8¢ February 27, 2019,at 2:00p.m, LieutenantLRroidCinvin dee
8 (3)externalhard drivesfrom theformerSpecial InvestigationsGroup(SIG)

building located Calkins statedthat theformer
SIGbuildinghad previous ing asbestosissues. Whenit
wasdamagedbyHurricaneIrma,theCitydetermined thatthebuildingneededtobe
vacated. DuringheInternal Affairsinvestigation Capt. WilliamNewhouseasked

Calkins toattempttolocatethevideoin question. Calin thencoeRN
therewasanyelectronicequipmentthatmayconiainthe videointhe ice.
That waswhen delivered him abox containing threedrives labeled
"SIG". Therewere two (2) harddriveslabeled “SIGvideo”andone (1) Synology

device andpowercord. Calkinscreatedthehandwritten receiptand kept it
iththe devicesthat he storedinhislocked office. iceRR ved venffl id rastseen the devicesin a ong imebutknew TESIGpreviously
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usedthem.Calkinswasinformed by his staffmember, BarbaraWills,thatthesetypesofdeviceswereusedtosorevideos from SIG investigations. Thesedeviceshadnotbeensearched byCalkinsorhisstaf.
CalkinsexplainedthattheFortMyersPoliceDepartmenthadtheirownITSE departmentuniil approximately 2011 whenit mergedwiththe CiyofFort MyersIT:

_ Thehardwarepurchasedandthe drivesusedbySIGatthetimeofthe incidenthad
ip” beensetup by thepolicedepartment'sIT personnelpriortothemerge.

: Capt.Newhouseprovided Calkinswith a specificlocation wherethe videomightbe
storedbutthatlocationdidnotexist. Calkinsexplainedthatthe Tdriveis asection
of alarger policedepartmentserver. CalkinsandWillsattempted to locatethe
videoontheexisting Tdrivebutwereunsuccessful. Theyattemptedtolocate the
‘videoontheentire policedepartmentserver,yieldingnoresults.Calkins statedthathesearchedforvideosfrom 2013 andsearchedfor keywordsthatmightpeiain 10
thecase. Thestructureofthe Tdrivehadchangedalongwiththe structure ofthepolicedepartmentsince 2013. It i verycommonfornewmemberstochange file
structure. Calkins did not find the specific folderthat wasmentioned inthe

... complaintprovided tohimby Capt. Newhouse. Calkins did find theoperational
"plan relatedtotheoperation. Hecouldnot recallwhatfolder thatwas located in
butbelieveditwouldstillbeaccessible.

CalkinsbelievedthatSIGmayhaveutilizedtheharddrivesthatwereprovided to
him  _—" 2013. Headvisedthatin2015orpossiblybefore2015, SIG
started utilize Tdrive. Inapproximately2015,ChiefDougBakerleftand
Dennis Eads becamethe interim chiefresultingin thereorganization of the
departmentandtheSIG. Itwouldhavebeentheresponsibilityofthedetectiveto
movetheircasedataontothe Tdrive. Therewasnever alarge transfer ofdatafrom
otherdevicesontotheTdrive.

CalkinsadvisedthattheITdepartmenthasauditingsoftwarethatcantrackwho
accessedwha files. Thedatathat they wouldhavewouldonlycontainthelastfew
monthsofactivity.

OnApril1, 2019, SABoresreceivedanemailfromCityof Fort MyersNetworkEngineerBarbara‘Wills. ‘This email contained alsofEMPDmemberswhohave curent acoes tothe financedive,
MemberswithaccesstotheSIGdrivealso haveaccesstothe detective drive. Attachedtothisemailwas

aspreadsheetcontaininglogfiles. Ms.Wills explainedthe logfilesdetailanyone whoaccessedfileson
SIGorDetectivedrives. ThelogfilesrangeindatesfromApril 11, 2018toApril4, 2019, (Note: an
electronic copyofthefilelog ismaintainedin FDLE’srelateditemsas INV-23andINV -24)

‘Current FinanceDriveAccessasofApril 1.2019
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ArleeStocbenau
DiannKopilec
Jom
JoAnnDaniels
JuanaSoto
KhandyeeMosely

‘CurrentSIGDriveAssessasofApril 1.2019
Office i lisOe meter erQe Officer AbrabamPatoja
Vis Station Officer AdmanVasquez

iveVincent Doyle Officer BrandonBirch
| Sgt. Candice i

Offer he ——DetectiveWolfgangDaniel OfficesEdwardCutie Jr.
OfficerZacharyRoss OfficerEdwardQuinnOfficer JasonGreene Lt. Bui
CaptainJayRodriguez ore
JillNewhouse OfficerIvanCaf
Johnny Utah OfficerJackMillard
JoseFalcon ‘OfficerJariSanders
Officer. Wa Officer Jasmine Vasallo

ic Lt. Brian O'Reilly
it atiHernandez

Officer Nich

~ OnApril8, 2019, SA Boresreceived a ining the fing informationfromVimeo, he. pening 1wo oe te
information wasinresponsetothe lucestecumthatSABores ‘onVimeo Inc,on
February22,2019) ThespreadsheetfromVimeocontainedthefollowing:

Sls 8h Name: heart
Effi
Rddress: wa.

PhoneNumber: v/a
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AccountType: Basic
DateJoined: Monday, February9, 2015at11:05 AM

Date, Terminated:Monday,April 8, 2019at1:46 PM
fash Terminated:VilaionofVimeo’s Tensof Service (hps:/vimen comers)

rangingfrom 2/819to2/14/19, romTHINKrelated item INV.-25 for
detailedlist)

UploadInfoTimestamp: 2/1272019 13:43:00, IP: Clip ID: Clip Title Jay Rodriguez
Timestamp:2812019 18:48:00, ipID: ipTile: Jay Rodriguez
Timestamp: 28/2019 20:07:00, IP Clip ID? Clip Till: Rodriguez looks into
camera

ss FDLE'sINV-25 forspreadsheetfrom Vie,lo)
50n April10,2019, SABores received a copyof aproffersubpoenafromthe SAO.The proffer

‘commanded the appearanceof O'Neill Kerr on April 25, 2019, at 10;00 am. at the Wilber
Smith AttomeysatLaw office,2200Broadway,forthepurposeof testifyingand speakingthetruthof
theinvestigationinto JayRodriguez.Thissubpoenawasservedthesamedate via email,careofMr.
Kerr'sattorney,RyanDoyle. (Se FDLE'sINV-21)
OnApril 11, 2019,SABoresobtainedthe followingsubpoenasduces tecumfromtheSAO
1.CenturyLink requestingthesubscriberinformation forIP a
2.Google Inc ~ requestingaccountinformationforGmailaccoun|
ER records regardingthe identificationof 4userwilh The cal

§A‘Boresservedallthreesubpoenaselectronically andreceivedauto generatedreceipts. (Note:see
FDLEreport INV-26)

On April 16, 2019, at 2:52 pam., SA Bores interviewed IT Network Engineer Barbara Wills at Fort
MyersCityHall. Thefollowingreprescats asynopsisof theinformationobtainedduring theinterview
(for acomplete record refer to theaudiorecording of thisinterview):

Wills statedthatshehas workedfortheCityof FortMyersITDepartmenfor12
years. Sherecalledthat in 2013theFMPDSpecial Investigations Group(SIG)
utilizedaDellserverandacoupleofexternal harddrives10 storefiles and videos.
Theexternalharddrives wereprimarilyusedforstoring videos becausetherewas

1" riotenoughstoragespace ontheDellserver. ‘Shedidnotrecall whenSIG stopped
usingthe Delserverbutrememberedtransferingdata fromthe Dellservertothe

#
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currentFMPDserver,ShebelievedtheexternalharddrivesthatsheprovidedtoSA
BoresonMarch 21, 2019,werethe harddrives utilizedbySIGin 2013. Wills did

notsearch thoseexternal harddrives forthevideobeforeprovidingthem to SA
Bores, Willsreceived the hard drivesfrom Director RichardCalkinswhohad

storedtheminhis locked office. Director Calkins told Willsthathereceivedthe
Sadies rom Lien QR
Willswasinitially askedby Capt.Newhousetosearch forthe videoinquestion
during the Internal Affairs investigation. Capt, Newhouse met with Wills and

Director Calkinsanddiscussed withthemwha10search for, suchasthecase
umberanddate ranges. Willslaterreceived anemailwith aspecific locationof

DRLC herethe videomightbelocatedbut the locationdid notexist. Willssearchedfor
anyvideofilesaroundthe dateoftheincident, the casemumber,andfileswiththe
word “Asian”,andanyfileswiththeword “massage”. Willssearchedorthe video
on theSIGdriveandalsosearched allFMPDdepartmentdrivesandalluserdrives,
yieldingnoresults. Willssearched the recyclingbins which wouldhavecontained
anythingthathadbeendeletedinthe last60days, yielding noresus.

Willsexplainedthelogfil that shesentSA Bores on April 1, 2019, statingthat it
showedwhoaccessed,deleted,andmodified a ile onallFMPDdrives,not just SIG
and detectivedrives,for thepastyear.SABoresasked Wills about the log showing
that an “admin” user downloaded files from “SIG/OId Sf/I-Old Sig Drive
Folder"onJanuary15,2019. Willssatedihat thatwouldhavebeenherduringthe

Sy Searchforthe video.

OnApril16,2019,SA Boresobtainedthree (3) DVD'sfromMs. Wills. OnApril 19, 2019,SA
Boresobtained anotherDVDfromMs.Wills. These DVDscontainedall currentandformerFMPD
‘members’emailsbetweenthedate rangeof 2012to2019.

Uponreviewingtheemails, SABoresfoundthatonMarch5, 2013, a 7:03a.m.,RebeccaPrincesent
snemail to Rodriguez, DavidConeySeanFizparick SEEN wdcopied Jim Mulgan.
“Thesubject oftheemailwas “Massageop”andthe ‘massage operation at 1791Boy
ScoutDrivewasscheduledfor March 14,2013,at 00 pm.,andthebriefing wouldbeheldatthestation
‘andthey wouldgofrom there.

SA Boresfound that onMarch14, 2013, at 8:55 p.m., RodriguezsentanemailtoPrincewiththe
subject*“narative.”Thecontent ofthe emailstated, “Letmeknowifyou getitok”withanatached
documentfilled“Message.” Theattacheddocumentwas adetailedaccountofRodrigucz’s involvemeat
intheundercoveroperationinvolvingprostitution attheNewAsianMassage parlor located at 1791 Boy
ScoutDrive,unit3,on March 14, 2013.Thedetailsinthe documentare nearlyidenticaltothenarrative
ofFMPDarrest reportnumber2013-02675. (Note:for futherdetilsseeFDLE'sreport INV-30)
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478A Boresfoundthat on March22, 2013,at 1:43 p.m., former FMPDFiscalManagerSharon Wrighteitan email to Tara Lytle with the subject “PD — Jamuary 2013 Quarterly Petty Cash Reconciliation”.‘Thecontent ofthecmailstatedthe completed Cash Count Forms forthe Jamiary2013 quarter weretached. SABoresreviewedthe atacheddocumentwhich appearedtobetheSIG financialdocumentsthatcould notbe locatedinthe Finance DepartmentofFMPD (reference FDLE'sIR#16). TheSIGfinancial documents listed datesof December 5, 2012to March21, 2013. Thefunds

usedforthe‘undercoveroperationinquestionwerenot liste onthe financial documents. (SeeFDLE'sreport INV-29forelectronic copies oftheemails meationedsbove)
OnApril16,2019,SABores, SAS Wagner and SA Daniel Chu met withMei Hua Lu, ownerofGreen Leaf Massage,locatedat1791 Boy ScoutDrive, Unit3,FortMyers, Florida. Ms,Lurecalleding atthe massageparlor,formerlyknown as NewAsienMassage,onMarch 14, 2013, when Ya Chenaoraman comeinfor amassage,butheletonlyJoes ie. ho kc ERR how longof smasagsbepaidforad sheresponded, oc ow:Tees

‘neededto leavebut wouldcomebacklater. Alittlewhilelater,theice cameintothebusiness rom the mainentranceandthe rearentrance. Afemale
and maleofficerspokewi ERP sep room snd 3 ele ndmale ofr withMs.Luoutside.According© Ma. ed wt ig RoMs.Lusaid,laterthat evening, the owner (at that time), Ya Chen,retumedto the business

andwas alsoarmested.
Ms. Lu reported that two (2) daysafertheincidentshoweatto NewYorkandsa theiPRhaveleftthecountry. Ms.LA retumedtoFort Myers in 2017,andbecame theowner

ofGreer LeafMassage and LotusMassage,locatedat 311 DelPrado BoulevardSouth,Cape Coral,Florida. Lotus‘Massage
hassinceclosed. Ms. Lusaidshebasnotseen orspokenwith Chensince 2013,butbelievedfilasin Tampa andpossibly working at BambooMassagelocatedat2576SunsetPointRoad,Gf¥arwater,

Florida 33765. Ms.Luwasasked to contactFDLEagents if shehearsfrom(gorChen3discovers

theirwhereabouts.
OnApril18, 2019, SA Boresreceived documentsfromCenturyLink,

containing the followinginermaion
pean o IP uresQUEER

wari uy 17,2018 andending February 20,2019:(Note:thesedocuments
wereproduced byCenturyLinkin response10 asubpoena ducestooursobiainedby SA Boreson April 11, 2019)

USERID‘CAPEMACADDRIPUSERIDEMAILADDRSLEPHONENUMBERBRN
BILLING NAMEBILLINGADDRESS
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BILLING CITY TE
BILLINGZIP FL
SERVICE NAME
SERVICEADDRESS
SERVICECITY
SERVICESTATE
SERVICEZIP

SERVICEESTABLISHED DA’ 1-30-2009

Hirediscovered tho tdsis shovei the samess Mi.Ke des tdouisFlos
diver’license. (SecFDLE reportINV-31)

OnApril 18, 2019,SA Boresreceivedthefollowingsubpoenasducestecumfrom the SAO,
requestingsubscriberinformation,andincomingandoutgoingtollrecordsfromDecember1, 2018 topresent:

*_ Verizonphonenumbers

+ AT&Tphonenumber
40%" T-MobilephonenumberDtHeteersirEmttt
OnApril22,2019,ITNetworkEngineerWills emailedSABores acopyoftheadvisorythatis

‘shownanytime a FMPDemployeepresses “CTRLALT DEL" to login to anagencyissuedcomputer.
Allemployeesmustclick“OK”tothe message before they gettothelogin screen. Theadvisory
‘messageincludesthefollowinglanguage:

Thiscomputer isthepropertyofTheCityofFortMyers. Itisforauthorizeduse
only. Unauthorizedorimproperusemayresultindisciplinaryaction andciviland
criminalpenalties. Useofthissystemis subjecttomonitoring, recordingandaudit.

1. Bycontinuing touse this system you indicate yourawareness of and consent to these
+"! terms andconditionsofuse. Please note: Florida has averybroadpublicrecords
Bi law. Mostwrittencommunications to orfromgovernmentofficialsregarding
HB" governmentbusinessareconsideredpublic recordsandare avilableiothepublic

‘andmediaupon request. The systemmaybemonitoredorhave activityrecordedfor
auditpurposes. ClickingOK indicatesthatyouconsent 10these usage terms. All
emailis checkedwith Antivirussoftware!

OnApril22, 2019, FDLESeniorCrime IntelligenceAnalyst (SCIA)KellyAndrianoserved a
‘subpoenaduces tecum via anonlineporta toSprintrequestingsubscriberinformation,andincoming and
‘outgoingtollrecordsfromDecember1,2018tothepresentforthefollowing phonenumbers:
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‘OnApril23,2019,SA Bores receivedcopiesof three (3)anonymousletterssenttothe FortMyers
Police Department. DeputyChief Jeff Meyers providedSABoreswiththseletesathrrequest. Each
oftheseanonymous letterswere previously received byFMPD and detail complaintsinvolvingcurrent
andformerFMPDmembers. Theseletters wereaddressedtoChiefDerrick Diggsatthe FortMyers
PoliceDepartment. The firstanonymousletterwasreceivedon August13,2016and resultedi an

AfhirsinvestigationintoOfficer EzraPadgham(IA2016-006). Theallegation againstOfficer
SeayCo aTei ve to oi aAis

Bidbbiigation into OfficerKatrina O’Brien (A2016-007). Theallegation against Officer O'Brienwas
“Unfounded”byChief Diggs.Thesecond anonymous letter wasreceivedonSeptember3,2016,
resultinginanAdministrative investigation intoRebeccaPrince(Admin 2016-026),resultingina“Not
Sustained"outcome. The thirdanonymousletterwasreceivedonOctober11,2017and resultedinan
InternalAffairs investigationinto JayRodriguez(IA2017-017)andJackieGarrett (IA 2017-018). The
allegationsagainstRodriguezand Garret were“Unfounded.”

InIA2017-017,theanonymous complainantallegedCaptain Rodriguesreceived oralsexfrom a
female informantandthis actionwascaptured.onvideo tape. Theanonymousauthorwrotethe
followingreferringtotheactionsofCaptainRodriguez:

syedmypreviousleter, 1 toldyou thatJay Rodriguezwascorruptandracist, butyou
E55 promotedhim lo Captainanywey. 1knowyoumaynothavehadmach to choose
0S" from,butJayRodriquez. So justto etyouknow Jay Rodriguez'sisgoingtobeone
© "of yourbiggestdisappointments, regresand greatest embarrassments sinceyou

startedworkingatthepolicedepartment. Rodriguezthoughtthatofficershad left
the scene. Afemaleinformantgavehimablowjob.Thebiow jobwasrecorded.
Rumor has i thatthere is video ofthis, and officers areupset anddisgustedthat
Jay Rodriguezwaspromotedconsideringhis history ofmisconduct. Everyone
knows thathewasoneofthe key playersthatcausedthedestructionofouragency.
Ifthisrumorisall true. Andofcourse Ihope that it snol,as aprofessionalcurtesy,
wantyou tobepreparedtocombatthese allegations. Itseemslike officersfrom _
SIGlove havingsexwithinformanis, butwasunableto make asignificantdrug
arrestinyears. JayRodriguezwentinto theSIGoffice,pleading withofficers not to

i betray him,becausehiscareerand marriage wouldbeoverif thevideowasleak.
{7 Heis desperately ryingtogetthevideo,50itcanbedestroyed. Anotherrumoris
10" afterSIGwasdismantled,JayRodriguezmadesurethattheofficersfrom SIGwere
"assignedback to units oftheirpreference.

Inaddition,theanonymous complainantalleged CaptainRodrigueztransportsnarcotics withhisbrother
fromMiamito Fort Myersvia avessel. (Note:a copy ofIA 2017-017wasincluded inthecasefle)
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OnApril25, 2019,AssistantState Attomey (ASA)Andrew Van Sickle, SABores,andSASWagner

interviewed O'NeilKerrundertheproffersubpoenamentionedpreviously.Mr.Kerrwasrepresentedby
isattorney,RyanDoyle.Thefollowingrepreseats a synopsis oftheinformation obtainedduring theinterview (for completerecondreferto theaudiorecordingofthisinterview):
{7 Kerris a formerpoliceofficer anddetectivewith the FMPD.Hebeganhislaw
__ enforcementcareerwiththe FMPDin2008.Kerrwaspromotedtodetectivein
{15 Octoberof2016.Hewasmedicallyterminated inNovemberof2018foraninjury
"that occurredwhileonduty. Approximatelyoneyear priortobeingmedically

terminated,Kerrhadnotbeenworkingin compliancewithdoctors”orders.
ASAVanSickleaskedKerrwhyhereportedthisissueinvobving Rodriguez. Kerr
stated thathefel hewasbeing treated unfairly byRodriguezbecauseofhisinjury.
Kerrwasnotpartofthe “incrowd" therefore,hewasnot treated properly. Kerr
statedthathereportedthisissuebecausehehadnoproblemreportingotherissues
inthepast. Thelast issuehereportedwasinvobving theViolentCrimesTaskForce,
whichRodriguezwasincharge of,AnofficerontheViolentCrimes TaskForcehad
conductedasearchofaperson. The videorecordingfromthatincidentwasonthe

*" ewsand itwasallegedthatthe officerhadconductedacavitysearchoftheperson.
KerrwatchedthevideoontheNews Press websiteand noticedthattheofficerhad

I+ used aracial slur. Aprotest was goingtobeheldinfrontofthepolicestation
regardingthe incident so Kerrinformed theagencyoftheprotestandthatresulted
in hin being a witness in an internal investigation. Kerr stated that no

consequenceswerereceivedbytheofficerthatusedthe racial surand that
Rodriguezthen put thatofficer onthenewlyformed ganguni.(itshouldbenoted
hattheofficerthatMr.Kerr i referringto,Brandon Birch,wasissueddisciplinefor
thisconduct — seeFinalAction SummaryinAdmin 2016-001)

In Marchof 2013, Kerrwasassigned10dayShiftandhis lieutenantwasRebecca
Prince. Kerr was not involved intheoperationa theNewAsianmassageparlor on
March 14, 2013,butwasawarethattheoperation ook placebecause the location
fasin his zone ofpatrolandco-workersweretalkingabout itduring abriefing the
est day. Asthattime,hewasaware ofthe arrestsatthemassageparlorbutno
otherspecifics.

KerrheardrumorsaboutRodriguez engaging insexualacts with aprostituteduring
an operation from VincentDevicQRon Walter Mitchell who were

talking abou itin thesquadbaybutwere unawarethatKerrwasinthe room. At
thatpoint, thatwas allKerrknewabou theincident. Kerr usedthat information
and information fromthe LEOAfirs websitefor the basisof his complaintfiled
against RodriguezonDecember 7, 2018. Kerrhopedthatbynaming individuals
whowereawareofthe incident,Internal Affairs wouldconduc inlerviews with
thoseindividualsand they would disclose more detailsregarding theincident.
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4Bores askedKerrabout Wolfgang Daniel's involvementintheincidentandhe
believedthatDaniel participated intherumors that Kerr overheard.Kerralso
believedthatheseenhisname in areportregardingthe incidentandthatwaswhy
henamedhiminhisemails to Cityof FortMyersHumanResourcesDirector Ellen
Clyat. Kerrbelieved thatPrince involved DanielandJasonGreeneinthe
operaiion.

{ Inter/asedonthelitlepieces ofinformationthatKerrreceivedhewasable todohis
Toa Own researchandfoundnews reports regarding theoperationandarrests atthe

yn" NewAsianMassage parlor. ‘HethensearchedtheClerkofCourts websitefor
documentsthatpertained to theoperationthat 00k place on March 14, 2013, where
hefoundthecase mumber. Kerrthen providedtheinformation thathefoundin his
searchtoClyatt.

‘Once wordgotout that Kerrhad filed a complaintagainst Rodriguez allegingtha
heparicipated insex whileonduty, KerrwascontactedbyDonaldWeathers.
Weathersis aformerFMPDSpecial Investigations Group (SIG) member. Weathers

contacted Kerr eitherbyFacebookoremailandprovidedhisphonenumberand
requesiedthatKerrcall him. WhenKerrcalled Weathers,Ker told himthathe

reachedout to Mike Forbeswhotoldhimabou thevideobut Forbes stated thathe
ie dldn'tactuallyhave acopyofit. WeatherstoldKerrthat Forbeswouldnotknow

anything aboutitandtold himtheexactlocationof where to findthe video onthe
FMPD server, butstatedthatonlycertainpeoplehadaccess 10wherethevideowas

being stored. Weathers told Kerr that hewastoldbyGreenethatGreenehad
equipped Rodriguezwththe coverthiddencameraandwhenRodriguezcameoutof
themassageparlorhe(old Greene10deleteeverythingonthecamerabecause
nothinghadbeen recorded. Greenethen uploadedthevideoasevidence.

Kerr stated Weathersmade a copyofitforhimself. Kerrexplainedthattherewas
nopolicy againstdoingit and gettinginformationfromotherofficers’cases,
Weatherssuggestedto Kerr thathesubmit publicrecordsrequestforthevideo.

After gainingknowledge aboutwherethevideowaslocated, Kerrprovidedthat
locationin isemail complaint to Clyatthopingthat thecitywouldfind thevideo. A
‘month fierheprovidedthe locationofthevideo toClyatt, Kerrsillhadnotgotten
aresponse. Thatwaswhen Kerrsent apublicrecordsrequestforthevideo. When

ClyattrespondedtoKerr'semailaskinghimtoprovidethevideohehadrequested,
Kerrwasnotinpossession o thevideoat that imeandhadnot seen it Kerr stated
hethen reachedoutandaskedifanyonehadthevideo.

Kerrreceived the i card in hismailbosathiscurrent
residence, KerrreceivedtheSD
card on February 8, 2019, thesamedayhe sent it fo Chatt. Assoon as Kerr
received the SDcardheputitinhisdesktopcomputerand viewedthe video. Kerr
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describedwhathesawin thevideoandstatedthathecouldidentifyRodrig
isfaceand tattoo. Kerr identified inthe videoasbeingthe

Fo arrested ‘on March 14, 2013, basedon| Jpicture in the news article on
' -“Kerruploadedtheentireuneditedvideotohis Vimeoaccountand YouTube. Kerr

«explained that hetook ascreenshotofRodriguez'sfacefromtheoriginalvideoand
provided a linktothatscreenshottoClyattaswell, Kerr sentthevideotoClyati,the
ChiefofPolice, thecityattorney,the citycouncil, andpossiblytwoother officers.

Kerrstillhas acopyofthevideosaveundertheoriginalnameonhisharddrive.
Kerrdeleted the videooffofVimeoand YouTubewhenheheardoftheextortion
«complaintfiledbyRodriguez.

AfterKerrprovided the videoto Clyatt, Kerrwas informed (hedidnotspecifyby
whom)tha theincidentinvolvingRodriguezwasgoing tobebrushedundertherug.
Thatwaswhenhecalledanofficerrequesting AnthonyThomas’phonenumber.
KerrcalledThomasandThomasrequested thatKerrgivehimthevideo,which heldTe en ona etlhtKogerescb
newsreporterMelissaMontoyaaboutthe incident. Kerrmetwith Montoyaatthe7-
ElevenonLee Boulevard andGunnery RoadandprovidedherwiththeoriginalSD
‘card. Montoya made acopyofit andgaveitbackto Kerr. KerrthenthrewtheSD

‘card awayatthe7-Eleven.

Kerrhaskeptincontact with Weatherstogivehimupdatesontheinternalinvestigation. (Note:the
‘audiorecordingoftheinterviewwaspreservedasFDLEINV-35)

On April 23, 2019, FDLE Senior Crime Intelligence Analyst (SCIA) Kelly Andriano served a
subpoenaducestecumviaanonlineportaltoVerizon,requestingthesubscriberinformationand
incoming and outgoingtollrecordsfromDecember1, 2018 tothepresentforthefollowing phoneee

; ——

OnApril29,2019,SCIAAndrianoprovided SA BoreswiththerequesteddocumentsfromVerizon.
Belowlists thesubscriberinformationforthephonenumbers.

J pois
wi

Montalvo

isePennington City of Fort Myers22002%St. Ft Myers,Fl
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Unavailable
Eloise PenningtonCityof FortMyers 22002%St.FtMyers,FL

(SecFDLE's INV-36)

58a,2015, 5A orsserv spor miail toCal, suing cs
bol Infomationandanyandal call recor forbugEERE om,March 14, 2013. (Not: an
electroniccopyofthesubpoenawasmaintainedinFDI lems as INV-52)

On April 30, 2019, at 11:02 am., SABores and SAS Wagner interviewedDetective Wolfgang
Daniel.Thefollowingrepresents asynopsisoftheinformationobtained duringthe interview (for a
‘complete recordrefertotheaudio recordingof thisinterview):

Det.Daniel hasworkedforthe FMPDfor 13yearsbeginning in 2006andwas a
member oftheSpecialInvestigations Group (SIG)from 2012 to 2017.

54BoresaskedDet.Danielif he workedthemassageparloroperationatthe New
1. 4Asian Massageparlor onMarch 14, 2013. DetectiveDanielrecalledacomplaint

5%about prasiationattheNew Asian Massageparlor utSIGwasbusy with oder
bole investigations andSergeant(Sgt)Notaroadvisedthattheycouldnotdo it. Det.

Danielwasnotworkingthe operationatthe NewAsian massage parlorbuthedid
Work the massage parlor operationon March 21, 2013atNature Poly Inc. located
at 1957GroveAvenue, Fort Myers, Florida 33901. Themassage parlor operation
onMarch 21, 2013wasrunbytheSIG unit. Detective Guiridgewastheoperation
supervisorand Det. Mitchellwastheundercover. Det. Danielcould notrecallifa
recording device wasusedduring theoperation.

$4 Bores askedDet. Danielto explain the normal operatingproceduresfor
prostitution operations. Dei. Danielexplained thatafteran operational planwas
‘completed,therewas amoney formthat would needtobefilledoutandsignedby a

, supervisorin order10get the moneyfrom the safefortheoperation. Whenthe
.¥ operationwasconcluded,the formwouldbe completed and turnedin to the
1 supervisor.Sgt.Notaro,Det Det.Pettaccio,andDet. Guiridgeall had the

combination 10 theSIG moneyusedin theoperationwould be
prerecordedbytaking apictureandthemoneyrecoveredwouldbematchedbythe
serial mumberandcopiedforthecasefile.

Det.Danielexplainedthatevidencewasnotnormallycollected fromthesetypesof
operation and videosvould nothavebeen submitedintoevidence. Videosof
‘operationswouldhavebeen saveddigitallyon the SIGdrive.Casefies, templates,
‘operation plans,and video wereallsavedontheSIG drive. EveryoneintheSIG
unithad access totheSIGdriveincludingJill Newhouse,theProfessionalStandards
Bureau (PSB)andIT.
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54 Bores askedDet. Daniel aboutthevideothatdepicted Capt.Rodriguezatthe
massageparlor. Det. Danielwasawareofthevideobutdidnotknowaboutit unil
itwasreleasedin2019. Hehadviewedthebeginningofthe videoandwasable 10
identifyCapt. Rodriguez,Det, Danielhadnoknowledgeofwhat tookplace inside
themassageparloronMarch 14, 2013.

Detective Danielwas interviewed by Lieutenant(Lt. O'Reilly in2017regarding
Capt. Rodriguez andallegations thathehadsexwith aprostituteor aconfidential
informant. Therewere alotofrumorsgoing arounda thattime involving Capt.
Rodriguez

54 BoresprovidedDet.DanielwiththeFortMyersPoliceDepartmentOperational
PlanfortheundercoveroperationatNature PolyInc,onMarch21, 2013locatedat
1957 Grove Avenue, FortMyers, Florida 33901. Det. Davielbelievedthathemay
havebeenassignedtomonitortheoperationeventhoughtheoperational pian stated
thathewasassignedto “breacher/surveillance”. Det, Danielexplainedthatwhen

assigned to monitorthe aperation, thedetectivewouldhavebeenresponsiblefor
listening tothecovertaudiodevice forsafetyandpossibly takenotes.Twodevices
wouldhavebeen usedforvideorecordingandreal-timeaudio transmitting. They
didnot havethecapability to stream the video in real-time.

Det. Danielbelievedhecouldseepartofthe frontdoor andthesideofthebusiness
while monitoringtheoperation. HerecalledseeinganAsian male, possibly the
owner,comingandgoingfromthebusiness.Healsorecalled abriefing beforetheoperation butcouldnoi recall exacily whatwasdiscussed. Normally whatis
discussedatthebriefingiseveryone’ roles during theoperation,takedown and
emergencywords, shat 10doincaseofanemergency,compromised investigation,
andundercover rescue. Det. Danielstated thattis operational plandidnotlook
lke aSIGoperationalplan. SIGoperationplanshad aspotforvideo used10be
documented.

SAS Wagnerasked Det. Danielifhe supplied the undercoverwith a recording
device fortheoperation. De. Danielsiated that hemay havebutcould not
remember. He statedthattheequipment room whererecordingdeviceswerestored
wasalockedroomand onlysupervisorshadaccess oi.

Det. Daniel explained that they uilize patrol officers in their operations for
transportand sometimestheywouldcompletethearrestreports. The detectivewith
theprobablecausewould providethepatroloffcerwiththeinformation bysiting
withthem whiletheywrite i, emailing ittothem,orby inputing itintheUniversal
‘BookingSystem (UBS).

(Note: SeeINV-37inFDLE'sreport fortheaudiorecordingoftisinterview)
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OnMay1,2019,SCIAAndriano providedSABores with therequested documentsfromSprint(Regardingthe subscriberand tollinformation) for the followingphone numbers:
ey

SubscriberShawnHavenner

(Note: See INV-38 in FDLE's report)

OnMay4,2019,SA Bores receivedtherequesteddocuments(Subscriber andtoll loginformation)
fromT-Mobile.Below liststhe subscriberinformation forthe requestedphonenumber:

PhoneNumber Subscriber BillingAddress
(239)887-7468 MaidYouLook CleaningService LLC 917 SW 29°StCape Coral, Fl

(ote: See INV-39)inFDLE's report)
hor
{OnMay1, 2019,SABores obtained a black LexarUSB flashdrive from FMPDDetective Jacues
Langion. This flashdrivecontainedthecasedocumentspertaining to FMPDcase umber2019-01724,
“Thiscaserelated10 acriminalinvestigation involvingAnthonyThomas forallegedlyextortingCaptain
Rodriguez at a City CouncilmeetingonDecember3, 2018. ThedocumentsprovidedbyDetective
Langton included:anincidentreport, a timelineof events, Subpoena for YouTubeaccountmame.
wisha82198, a written statementfrom Rodrigucz, aFOX4interviewwithAnthonyThoms,emails
between KerrandEllen Clyat,pictures fromthe News-Presswebsite, Pictures of Officer Steven
Gruber's text messages, a descriptionofFlorida State Statute 836.05 Extortion, and statements from
Rodriguez,Kerr, Charles Newell, andStevenGruber. Thefollowingis asynopsisof the incideat reportFMPDcase number 2019-01724,asoutlinedinFDLE'sreport:

(Note: On February 11. 2015,Rodrigue fled apoli reportwitsFMEDOfc(EY
I+"Opaalge haAnthony Thomas extort him(Rodger)at For Iyers
i imeetingonDecember 3, 2018. Rodriguezwas approachedbyanother

FMPDofficer at thecitycouncil meeting Who toldhim thatThomaswas telling
‘peoplethathehad a videoofRodriguezhaving scx while onduty. Rodriguez
confrontedAnthonywhosatedthatheand JohnnyStreethad avideo ofRodriguez
engaginginsex whileondutyandthenstated,“the restofthem (citycouncil)are
goingto have it too, ifyoudon't pay”. AnotherFMPDofficerreachedou to
Rodriguezbytext message andinformedhimof what Thomaswassayingatthecity
council meeting, Fort MyersNews-Pressreport Melissa Montoyaalso sent 4 text
messagetoRodriguezafter overhearingthe conversation betweenRodriguezand
‘Thomas. Rodriguezdid not understand whatThomasmeantuntilhisposton
Facebook.Then Rodriguez understoodthat Thomaswastryingtoget himtopay

"money not to releasethevideo.
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(Note:seeINV-40inFDLE'sreport orrelateddocuments)

OnMay6,2019 SA Boresand SAS Wagnermetwith FMPDDeputyChief Pepitonetoreview Capt.
Rodriguez'spersonnelfile. Thefollowingdocumentswerephotocopied:

Capt.RodriguessignedOathof OfficeforPolice Officer onMarch 5, 1999
«Capt. Rodriguez'ssignedOath ofOffice forSergeantonMarch1, 2016.
© Capt. Rodrigucz’ssigaedOathof OfficeforLieutenantonDecember 17, 2008
© Capt. Rodriguez’ signedOathof OfficeforCaptainonAugust4, 2017

| aft(Training certificate for “The Slippery Slope to Destruction: Managing your Risk with
"Date Informants,Undercover, & Drug Investigations”,awardedto Rodriguez on January27,2006
= CaptainRodriguez's resume.

© CaptainRodriguez'sPerformanceEvaluationfor2013

(Notes:seeINV - 42inFDLE'sreportfor thesedocuments)

OnMay8,2019, SA Boresand SAS Grant Wagner oblained asworn, audiorecordedstatementfrom
FMPDOfficeJason Greene.Thefollowingrepresents a synopsisof theinformation oblained during
theinterview (fora completerecord refertotheaudio recordingofthisinterview):

Of. Greenecurrently holds thepositionof Police Offcerwith the FMPD. Hehas
workedfor FMPDfor 15yearsbeginning in 2004. Ofc. Greenewas a memberof

240% theSpecial Investigations Group (SIG)from 2010 to 2017.
aus

54 BoresaskedOfc. Greeneabouthis knowledgeregarding thevideothatpurported
to showCapt. Rodriguezengaginginsexualconducta a massage parlor. Ofc.
Greenestatedthathehad onlyseen clipsofthevideoonthenews.Hehadnotseen

thevideopriortoitsrelease in 2019. OJ. Greenestated thathedidnotworkthe
operationonMarch 14, 2013andhe didnot provideCapt.Rodriguezwiththe

recording device forthe operation atNewAsianMassage. DuringhisInternal
Affairs interviewwith Capt. WilliamNewhouse,Of.Greenewasmadeawarethat
‘Kerrallegedthathe(Greene) andWolfgangDanielhadrecordedthe incident. Ofc.
Greene did notknowwhyKerrmade these allegationsandstatedthatthe
allegationswerefalse.

Ue.Greene hadneverworkedwith Capt.Rodriguez whileCap.Rodrigue wasin
anundercovercapacity. HehadneverprovidedCapt. Rodriguez with arecording
devicefor anyoperationand Capt.RodriguezneveraskedOf.Greenetouploador
deleteanyvideorecordings.

Ofc. Greenestated thathehadonly worked aneundercover operation at a massage
parlor. SA Boresprovided Ofc. Greene with the FMPD Operation Planforthe
massage parloroperationatNaturePolyInc.OnMarch21, 2013. Ofc. Greene

Page81of148



Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

InternalAffairsNumber: _[1AZ0801 1]
Dateof Incident: March23, 2013

December7, 2018
[DateofReport:  |Marchzz2001 |

recalledparticipatinginthisoperation anddoingsurveillance.Hewas responsible
forprovidingsafetyandrescuetotheundercover officer.Hedidnotrecallthe
‘sndercoverofficerusingany kindofrecording device forthis operation. Everyone
intheSIGunit hadaccesstothelockedequipmentroomandwouldhavebeenable
togettheir ownrecordingdevice.Ofc.Greenerecalledanarrestbeingmadeafter
thisoperation and thattherewas alanguagebarrier.Of.Groenenever uploaded
anyvideoontotheSIGserverfromthisoperationandnevermadeanycopiesof
videofromthis massageparloroperationorthemassageparioroperationon
‘March 14, 2013.

Of.Greeneexplainedthatifvideowasrecordedduringan undercoveroperation it
was normalpractice forthevideotobe uploaded totheSIGserverforevidence
purposes. Therewasonecomputer inthemainroomofthe office thatwas usedby
theSIGunitto storevideos. Videowas neverburnedto aCDandsubmittedinto
‘evidence;theonly copiesofvideothatwasburnedto aCDwouldhavebeenfortheSatetom'sOfc.
SASWagner.askedOf.Greeneaboutthenormalproceduresforuseofmoneyinundercover operations. Of, Greene advisedth monyfor wndersows. peraons
‘wouldhavebeenprovidedbythesupervisor, at thattimeitwasSergeantNotaro.
Moneyusedforoperationswould eitherbe photocopied orphotographed.Copiesofhemone werewadeinorder fovecoe hemove ed thepeasghost
operationhadconcluded. Themoney thatwasrecoveredaftertheoperationwas

thenphotographedorphotocopiedagain. Allcopiesofthemoneywerestored inthe
case file. Aformwasalso filled outtrackingmoneyusedandreturned.

SABoresaskedOfc. Greeneaboutnormalproceduresforwritingarrestreportsfor
undercoveroperationslikethemassageparloroperation,Of.Greeneadvisedthat
itwould havebeen normalpracticefor theundercoverofficertowrite thearrest
report. Aroadpatrol officer maycomplet the top shee ofthebookingreportandit

wouldbepossiblefortheundercover officertogointoUBSandprovidetheIrotatlecm erinof he aret ipo
Not:SeeINV-37inFDL’ report fortheao recordingoftis nevi)
OnMay 9, 2019,SA Boresreceivedtherequestedinformationfrom Yahoo!Aswellas aBusiness

RecordsDeclarationsi bythecustodianofrecords. Belowliststheuserinformationfor Yahoo!Eaton QR orDee 1 2015 Ap 10, 300:
[User [JPAddress |

I | J|
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OnMay10,2019, SA Bores andSASWagnerobtained a swomm, audio recordedstatementfromRebeccaPrince. Ms. Princewasrepresentedbyherattomey,AprilGoodwin.Thefollowingrepresents

a synopsisoftheinformationobtainedduringtheinterview (for &completerecordrefertotheaudio
recordingofthisinterview):

SAS Wagnerasked Princeifshehad spoken10 anyone that wasinvolvedinthe
operationsincethevideowasreleased. Prince stated that a lo ofpeople reached
out to herbyphone calls and text messageswhentheysawhername in theTae the incident._She spoke with Rodriguez, (David) Conticel,uCi — received aphonecal from

21 Rodriguezon Sunday released butshe did not answerthe
> phone. Thefollowing day, the NewsPresscalledherand asked if sheknewanything
aboutheincident. Thatwaswhenshecalled Rodriguez back.Shewasupsetwith
RodriguesbutshenevertalkedtoRodriguez about whathappenedinthevideoorthecase. TheytalkedaboutRodriguez's wifeand kids andtheirwellbeing andthe
citycouncil meeiingand Anthony Thomas.Rodriguezapologised toPrince for
settingherinvolved.

SAS Wagnerasked Princeifshe knewthe operation was goingtobevideorecorded.
Princehaddonemultiple operations likethe massageparloroperationandthey
wereneverconductedwith videorecording devices. Athetimeoftheoperation,

1c hewasunawarethat avideowasgoingtobetakenofthe operationanddid noiknowaboutthevideoafierwards. Operations likethis were normally onlyaudio

Thenewspaperreleasedan articlethat statedthatPrincehadwrittenthereportand
itmadeitseem asthoughsheintentionallyleftthingsout. Prince stated thatthat
wasnot thecase. Shethenhiredanattorney to gethernameout of thepaper.
Princewashiredby FMPDin 1998.Princewas acommunity serice aidefo six
monksprior tobeing sponsoredby EMP toattendthe policeacademy. Upon
completion ofthepoliceacademy,Prince became asworn policeofficer, Prince
then became a community policing officerfollowedby aSpecial Investigations
Group (SIG)detective from 2006to 2008. Thesergeant(Sg) of SIGa that time.
Has Sgt. BerniceandSgt. Rodriguez (possibly a lieutenantafthetime). AsaSig
member,Princeworked a lotof undercover operations involvingnarcotics and
prosttuionand supervised many undercoveroperations. fer the timeinSIG,
Princewaspromotedto sergeantinroadpatrolandthen Internal fairs. Shewas
inInternal Afairsforapproximatelytwoyearsworking under Lieutenant(Lt)
Musante. Princewasthen promoted to lieutenantin late 2012, assigned 10 road
patrol,
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SA Boresprovided Princewith acopy oftheFortMyersPoliceDepartment
OperationalPlanforMarch 14, 2013. Prince recalled going with Conticell 10 a
businessnearbythemassageparlorwhocomplained aboutprostitutiontaking place

+ +~atthe massage parlor. Thecomplaintthenwouldhavebeen providedtothe
qu pnarcotics unitwhohandlesprostitutionoperation. Princebelievedthatforsome
“5 reasonnarcoticscouldnot conductanoperationand thatwaswhysheorganizedthe

prostitution operation. Princespeculatedthatshethenreachedout 0peoplewith
experiencetoassistinheroperation. Each officerassisting in theoperationwould
haveneededapprovalbythirchainofcommandbeforehand.

Princeremembered going into the massage parlorand finding. side
whomonlyspokeChinese. Princethen calledtheLee County Shey Office
(LCSO)andaskedif theyhad a Chinesetranslator. TheChinesetranslator flew into
the PageFed airportandl pickedhim wp andbrought him to themassage
parlor. Princewassup theChinese translator was a CaucasianLCSO
deputy.She spoke withthetranslatorwhotoldher thathiswife was from China.
Princerecalled seeing abedin I I

..... livingthere.Shealso recalled| ‘Conticell,the L *
©RDvi insidethe bine:

Princeexplainedthat itwouldhave been normalpraciceforthe ohave abriefing
beforetheoperationbutshecouldnotrecall having one. Moneyforthe operation
wouldhave been acquired from a SIGmember.Princedidnotrememberhowthey
received themoneyforthe operation. Princedidnothaveaccesstoundercover
funds. Moneyusedforihetransaction shouldhavebeenphotocopiedwhichwould
‘have beenplacedinthecasefile. Monitoringoftheoperationwouldhavebeen an
audiodevicethatwouldhaveeitherrecordedtheaudiooftransmittedit10 heother
offices. Videorecordingwasnotused for those typesofoperations.Princedidnot
rememberwhatmonitoringdeviceswereusedinthe massage parlor operation.
nce afelonyarrestismade, thecasereportisassigned (0 adetectivewhotakes

overthecase. Princedidnotknowwhothecasewasassigned to butstated a
prostitutioncasewouldhavebeenassigned to aSIG detective.Princebelievedthat
the recordsdivision wouldhaveprovidedthepaperworkfromthe arrest 0 theSIG
supervisorwhowouldthen asignthecase to adetective.

SASWagnerreadfromtheoperationplan, “L.Rodriguezwillthenstopthe
illegalactprior to riltion and exitthe business.” SASWagneraskedPrince ifit
Wouldhavebeen imporiant10go overthatwiththe undercoverprior tothe
operationandPrincesaid, “Yes”. Princestated that Rodriguez knewwhathewas
supposedtodoonceinsidethemassageparloras theundercoverofficer. Princedid
notremember speaking withRodriguez aboutwhathe wassupposedtodoonce
insideth massagepriorand aedthtitwouldbecommonsense.Prince sated
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thatRodriguez haddonemltpleundercovermassageparlor,prostitution,anddrug.
operationsinthepastandtheywerealcarried out thesamewey.

SABoresprovidedPrince withFortMyersPoliceReport 2013-02675. Princedid.
notrecallinstructing Havenner to writ thereportbutstatedthat lieutenanisdonot

<=writereportssowhoeverwastransportingth havewritten the
report. Theofficerwriting the reportwould 0theundercoverofficer

nt: atthesceneorcalltheundercover officertoreceivetheprobablecausetowrite in
1" the report.Theundercoverofficerwouldnothavebeen requiredtoprovide a

supplemental report.

Princedidnotrememberreceiving anemailfrom Rodriguezentailingwhattook
place insidethemassageparloron March 14, 2013.1fshedidreceiveanemail she
wouldhaveprovidedit 0the arrestingofficer.

Princereturnedto Internal Affairs as alieutenantin 2014. fier chief Bakerwas
Jired,Interim Chief EadsassignedPrinceasacting captainoverInternal Affirand
Trainingand Accreditation. Prince conducted internal investigations during her

time asactingcaptain in InternalAffairs. All complainis wouldhavebeen provided
Io Prince 10beassignedunless itwassomethingserious thenitwould 0to the

1:4" Chief. Prince advisedthatallcomplaints were investigated. Duringhertimein
Internal Affairs Prince neverreceived. acomplainregarding Rodriguesengaging.

insexondutywith aconfidential informantorprostitute. Princestated that sheis
JriendswithRodriguezbutshewould notle orhimoranyone.

Princewas questioned abou thefuctthas she could notremember alot of details
surroundingthe operation. Prince tatedthat the operationwassixyearsagoand
nothingoutofthe ordinaryhappenedthatwouldcauseher to remember itbesides
theCaucasiandeputyspeaking Chinese.Shealso stated thatoperationslikethis
onewerenotuncommon.

(Note:Soe INV-37 in FDLE's reportfor the audio recording ofthis interview)

OnMay10, 2019, SA BoresreceivedtherequestedinformationfiomGoogleaswell as aCertificate:
ofAutheatictysignedbythecustodian ofrecords. Belowlists theuserinformation forGenalsccount

ARR7.Dom: 01 Mirch 36,915

(Name:TOWeilKen|
[oom a

A
[sms 7) /—

1

(ote
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(Note:theIPaddress listedaboveisthesameIPaddress thatreturned to Kerr's cument residence,
referenceIR#26inFDLE'sreport)
"On May10,2019, SABoresreceived s subpocnaducestecum fromthe SAO, TwentiethJudicial
Circ,requestingsubscriberinformation, incoming and outgoingtollrecordsandtext/ams logsfrom
December1,2018topreseattoservetoT-Mobileforphonenumber(NNSABoresserved
thesubpoens electronicallyvia email that samedate.

OnMay 10, 2019, SA Boresreceived asubpoenaduces tecum from theSAO,TwentiethJudicial
Circa,requestingsubscriberinformation, incoming and outgoingtollrecordsandtexyems logsfrom
December1, 2018tothepresenttoserveto Comcastforphone number Onthesame
date, SeniorCrime Intelligence Analyst (SCIA) Kelly AndrianoservedthesubpoenatoComcastviaan
onlineportal.

£ofOH May 11, 2019, SA Bores received the requested documents from AT&T in reference to the
subscriber information and tollrecords fromtelephone. number(NAYThe subscriber
informationincluded thefollowing:

I
MSISDNActive [O50 Current |

J
J|

(ote:thedocumentsprovidedby AT&Taremaintainedelectronically inFDLErelated itemsasINV-
50)

** BilMay13, 2019,SCIAAndrianoprovidedSABoreswiththerequestedsubscriberinformation from
@licast. ThefollowingisthesubscriberinformationforphonenumbecJomDecember
1.2018toMay 10,2019:

A

A

(Sms: Adve

(Note: sce INV-49 of FDLE's report)

n May 22, 2019, SABoresreceivedtherequesteddocumentsfrom T-Mobile for phone umber
rans. ‘Thesubscriberinformationincluded thefollowing:
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9) 281-0100 |StevenMorris|719Joel Blvd. Lehigh Acres, FL 33936

A
"OnMay14,2019, SA Bores andSAS Wagnerobtainedanaudiorecorded swomn statementfrom
Donald Weathers. Mr. Weathers was represented by his attorney, Tim Culhane. The following

represents a synopsisof theinformationobtainedduring theinterview (for acompleterecordrefertothe
audiorecordingofthisinterview):

Weathersis a formerpolice officer withthe FMPD. Hewas hiredinFebruaryof
2007 andworked fortheagency until November2017(Note: Weathers!

‘smplovmentwas terminated by theChiefDigesfor untruthfulness(Periury)in
‘0officialprosesding—Ses[A2017-009). Weatherswas amemberoftheSpecialInvestigationsGroup(SIG) from 2010to2017. Hehadpreviouslyworkedforthe
Hendry CountySherif" Officeand before thatwas acorrectional officerwith the

566SateofFlorida. Weatherscurrently worksforthe HendryCountySheriff'sOffice.
di
“SA Boresasked Weathers if hehadparticipated intheFMPDundercover operation

attheNewAsian Massage parloronMarch 14, 2013. Weatherdidnotparticipate
intheoperation butwasawareoftheoperation. Hewasalsoawarethat a video
wastaken duringthat operation. Weather viewedthe video a coupledaysafterthe
operationtookplacein2013. Inthevideo, WeatherssawLieutenant (Lt) Jay
Rodrigue lknoomassage arora met JR Pocrigues an he
engagedinconversationandeventually hesaw. nakedand then Re
walked out. Weathers saw thissamevideoonthenewsinFebruary of 2019.

Weathersexplainedthat a coupledaysaftrthe operationtook place,JasonGreene
called Weathersintohi officeandtoldhimabout themassage parlor operation.

15 "Greenethen showed Weathersand Wolfgang Danielthevideoon hiscomputer. He
hadaccessedthi video fromtheSIGTdrive. Greene toldWeathersthatRodriguez
hadgotten nakedinthevideoandthen Rodriguezgoesoffcamera. Greenethen
madeassumptions as to whatmayhave occurredoffcamera. Weathersstatedthat
Greenewasconcernedaboutthevideo. GreeneandDaniel told Weathersthatthey
were involved inthatmassageparlor operation.TheoperationwasnotaSIG
operation butSIGrecordingequipmentand a coldphonewere used. Rebecca
Prince and Rodriguezorganizedthe massageparloroperation.

Weatherswasconfident hat it was JayRodrigues in thevideo.Hestatedthatit as
nothisoperationand itwould havebeentheresponsibilityofGreeneandDaniel to
reportthe video if theywereconcernedabou it. Healsowasunsureofwhat

ictually took place in the video, whetherRodriguez gol alegitimatemassageor
engagedinsexual activity. Weathersdidnotknowhow farRodriguezhadbeen
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instructedto take theoperation. Sometimesundercoverofficers haveto letthe
prostitute grab theminordertoprove tha theyarenot apolice officer. Weathers
statedthathewasscaredtoreportthevideobecauseof thepowerthatRodriguez
had. Hebelieved DennisEadsmayhavebeen inchargeof InternalAfairs (14)in
2013and theEadsandRodriguezwerevery close.
Weathershad never been imolved in amassageparlor operation. Hehad
conductedotherprostitution operatons and itwasstandardpracticetouilze video
recording during operationsforevidencepurposes. Weathersexplainedthat he T
drivewas asecuredserver thatwasaccessibleolybytheSIGunit. Capt.Perry,LtNewhouse,Lt. Rodriguer,andtheadministrativeassistancewouldhavehadspecial
access0the Tdrive. Thevideowasfled on the T drive under, “2013, operations,
2013", then subfolder “operations"andlabeled “massage parlor”
Weatherswascontactedbyformer FMPD Officer O'NeillKerrinDecemberof
2018. Kerrhadheardabou thevideoandaskedWeathers fhewasavareof thevideo, Weathers10ldKerrthattherewas a video.ofCapt.Rodriguez. Kerr told

Weathersthathewasfiling acomplaintwiththe city againstCapt.Rodriguez. Kerr
wantedt0do apublicrecordsrequest fo thevideoso Weatherstold him theexact
location ofwhereto findthevideoonthe Tdrive. WeatherstoldKerrtotalkto
GreeneandDanielbecausetheywerethe oneswhowerethereandhandled the
video. Weathers thoughtthatbyprovidingthenamesofGreeneandDarel,they
wouldbeconjroniedandtll the truthaboutthevideo. Kerr old Weatherstht the
CityofFortMyerscouldnotfindthevideo.
Weathersstated that hemade acopyofthevideoshortyafterhewasmadeawareof
thevideo. BecauseofGreeneandDaniel'sconcernsaboutthevideo, Weathersfelt
thatheneeded 0make acopyofthevideoincasesomething everhappened. It was
originally onhis flashdrivebutthe flashdrivewasolds0hetransferredthevideo 0anSDcardandthrewawaytheflashdrive. Weathersput the SDcardinKerr's
mailbosatKerr'sresidence. Weathersnever toldKerr thathewastheonewhoput
theSDcardinhismailbox. Weathersdoesnotcurrentlyhave acopyofthevideo:
hegavehisonlycopy to Kerr. AngelaMontalvo, Weathers"girlfriend,wastheonly
otherpersonwhoknew that Weathershadthevideo.
SAS Wagner asked Weathers if he deleted the videooff ofthe FMPD serve.
Weathersstatedthathe didnotdelete thevideo. Henevermovedorrenamedthe
video. Weathers explainedthatnoonei abletodeleteanythingoffof he Tdrive
without specialauthorization.WeathersdidnotknowwhyGreeneandDarelwere
io listedonthe operationalplanforthemassageparlor.Hestatedthatthe might

havebeeninsupportroles,ormighthavebeencalled todropoffreco
equipment. erbleed atGre Dold is corr
camerawasusedduringthe operation. Atthat time,hfsanew deve
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usedbytheSIGunit. WeathersknewthatRodriguezhad told Greenethat nothing
wasrecorded onthedevicewhenhegave iback to Greene fiertheoperation,but
Weathers didnotspecify howheknew ihatinformationand did motwant10
isspeak.

SIGrecordingequipmentwasstoredin astorageclosetandeveryone inSIGhad
‘access10it. Therewasanequipmentsignout log thatwas looselyenforced. Money
Jorundercover operationscamefrom the SIGunit. Anoperationplanwasneeded io

|Date egetmoneyfor an operation. Therewas asinoutsheet formoney ha naded
ate Tobesignedbythecaseagent. Weathersexplainedthatif aroadpairol officer
1D rade afelonyarrest, adetective wouldthenfollow upwiththe StateAttorney's
1.0 Oficeanddo acasereport. Hedidnotrecallifanyonedid acase reportfor his

case,butbelievedthatroadpatrolmayhavehandled it

(Note: FDLE'sINV-51contains the audioforthisinterview)
OnMay17,2019, SA Boresreceivedthedocumentsthat shepreviouslyrequestedviasubpoenafrom

Callyoon April 29, 2019. Thesedocuments included three audio filesfromMarch14,2013aud a
spreadsheetdetailingthethreeaudio files.Thefollowingdetailsthe subscriberinformation and call
records:

veer. (ENfar Fort Myers Police:. i
Bate 12at 244 PMEST

3/14/2013|17:24:41|17:3025|| [|5:44| bug_2013.03-14_17-2441EDT.mp3_|
[371472013|17.3852|17.2304 | J| 4:12 |bug2013-03-1417.1852EoT.mp3_|

[eons| ass| 1ra6az|| J0:59bug_2013-03-14_17-15-13_EDT.mp3_|
(Note:anelectroniccopyofthesubpoenais maintainedinrelated items INV-52andthedocuments
providedbyCallyoaremaintainedinINV-53)
user
A40n'May 29, 2019, SASWagerreceivedanemailfrom Donald Weathers® attorney,TimCulhane.
The emailincluded screenshotsoftextmessage between Kerand Weathers. Thetextmessages
demonstratethatMr. KerrwasworkingwithMr. Weathersin ling his complaintagainst Jay Rodriguce,along with other membersoftheFortMyersPoliceDepartment. (Note:anelectroniccopyofthe
screenshots ismainteinedinFDLE'srelateditemsINV-54)

On May 31, 2019,SABores and SASWagner presented asearchwarrant forRodriguez's Cityof
Fort Myers Zdriveto Honorable JudgeDevinGeorge,whowastheon-calljudgefortheTwentieth
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JudicialCircuitinLeeCounty. JudgeGeorgeapprovedthesearchwarrantforthe Zdriveassigned to
Rodriguez.

OnMay31,2019, SABoresandSAS Wagnerpresented a searchwarrant forRodriguez'sagency
issued deskiopcomputertower, laptop,andiPad, Cityof Fort Myers Synology networkattachedstorage
(Q&S)device andtwoWestern Digitalharddriversto HonorableJudgeDevinGeorge,whowastheon-

judgefortheTweatieth Judicial CircuitinLecCounty. Judge George approvedthesearch warrant
he itemslistedabove.

OnJune 5, 2019, SAS Wagnerobtained a DVDfrom Cityof FortMyersITDirectorRichardCalkins.
‘This DVDcontainedtheemailsofcurreatandformerFMPDmembersforthedaterange of March 14,
2013 10 March21,2013. (SeeFDLE'sINV-60fortheseemails)

OnJune$, 2019,at 1410 hours,SAS Wagnerserved a search wamantforthecontentofCapt.
Rodriguez's CityofFort Myers Z Drive on Information Technology Director Richard Calkins. With
‘SAS WagnerandDirector Calkinsmonitoring,Network Engineer BarbaraWlscopied theinformation
fromthe Z Drive to a Kingston 16GBUSBdrive. Whentheoperationwascomplete (atapproximately

1440 hours) SAS Wagnertookpossession ofthe USB driveand left acopyofthesearch warrant and a
receiptwithDirectorCalkins.The flashdrivewas laterstoredinFDLEevidence.

wi
{iote:See FDLE's INV-55 and INV-56)

OnJune6,2019, SAS Wagneremailed DirectorCalkins a copyofthesearchwarrantfortheother
electronic equipmentpreviously received from theCityofFort Myers, slongwith an inventoryof those:
items.

On June12, 2019, SABorescontactedEricGutridgeviatelephonewhovolunteeredtomeetwith SA
BoresonJune19,2019 at 9:00 a.m. OnJune14,2018,SABoresreceivedanemailfrom AttomeyTim
‘Culhanewhostated thatGutridgehaddecidednottobeinvolvedandprepared abriefstatementasto
why. Theletter fromGutridgewaspreservedasFDLErelateditem INV-66.Thecontentofthisletter
includesthe following:
paait ime 12, 2019 -
&

FDLEAgent Vores,

Asyoumay know Ihad a long-decoratedcareer at the FortMyersPolice
Department from 2001 ~ 2017. 1dedicated my loyalservicetothesafetyofthe
citizensofthe Cityof FortMyersattheexpensesofmy ownsafety, wellbeingand
imespentwithmyfamily. In 2017 IwasunjustlyterminatedbythecurrentChiefof
Police, against all counsel by is administrationwhofound. policy allegations
‘againstmetobewithoutmerit, Duringtheinternalinvestigationmygoodnamewas
released10 themediawhopublishedunirutiulinformationabouttheinvestigation
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andlumpedme in withofficerstargetedin anon-goingFederalinvestigation,
Reporters publishedarticles implyingmyinvolvementwithpolice corruptionandp= racism although neither wererelevant 10 the allegations againstme.During that
time the FortMyersPolice Department madeno effortto rectifythesepublicfalse
statementsagainstme.As aresult, | haveenduredhardshipandunduestressfrom

thesepublicattacks onmycharacier. Furthermore,mywifeandfourchildrenwho
workandattendpublicschoolinthiscommunityhave endured similar duressas a
resultofthe mishandlingofmyinternalinvestigationbytheFortMyersPolice
Department.

1 havesince regainedmyconfidence and re-establishedmyselfas a valued
contributing member ofsocietyinthe civilian sector.Basedon myadverse
experience wilh the unfairtreatment andprocess oftheFortMyers Police
Department 1havenointerestinthe voluntarypariicipation ofanyinvestigationor
theon-goingrhetoricthat hassaturatedthatagency. Pleasereceivethi letteras
therespectfuldecline 10 voluntarilyparticipate inanylawenforcementinterview
regardingthe happeningsofthe Fort Myers PoliceDepartmentas 1hadno
participation in theeventinquestionor firsthandknowledgeof theseevents.

Respectfully,
EricGuridge

On June 12, 2019,SABoresand SAS Wagner obtainedanaudiorecordedswomstatementfrom
formerPMPDOfficerSeanFitzpatrick.Thefollowing represeats asynopsisoftheinformation obtainedduringtheinterview (for acompleterecordrefertotheaudiorecordingofthisinterview):

Fitzpatrickis aformerlawenforcement officerwith FMPD,workingthere from
2007 until August of 2014. He currently works for Alcoholic Beverages and
Tobacco (ABT) inFortMyers. In 2013, Fitzpatrick was acommunitypolicy officer

Fitzpatrickdid notworktheoperationatthe NewAsianMassage parloronMarch
14, 2013, buthewasawareoftheoperationbecausehehad receivedcomplaints

aboutthebusinessanda businessofofGrove Avenue. Hehadconducted
surveillanceatbothmassage parlors. Fitzpatrickwasintrainingthedateofthe
New sianMassage parloroperationbuthispartner,DavidConticell, setupthe
operation. Fitzpatrickwasawarethatanarrestwasmadeatthe NewAsian
Massagebecausehecomplieddocumentsfrom bothoperation and providedthem to
theDeparmentofHealth. Fitzpatrick. recalled.theSpecial Investigation Group
(SIG)notwanting10beinvolvedwiththefirst massageparlor operationat New

ianMassage.

Fitspatrick explainedthatthe operationatthe massageparlor offofGrove Avenue
wasorganizedbytheSIGunit. Hisroleinthe operationwas uniformedmarked
supportandheand Conticel wereparkeddownthestreet. WalterMichellwas the

Page91of148



Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

InternalAffairs Number: [IA20180u1
[DateofIncident: [March23,203 |
Date ComplaintReceived:_| December7, 2018
[DateofReport:  [March2z,2001 |

undercoverforthatoperation. Fitzpatrickdidnotknow alot ofdetailsaboutitand
explainedtheSIGunion as, “asecretive group, they didn’treallywantpeople

pee volvedinheisu"

4 Themarkedsupportunits would normallytransport thearresteetothejailor a
“holdingcell. TheSIGdetective wouldcomplete thenarrativeandsendit to the

arrestingofficer. Thetransportingofficerwouldinputthearresiee’s information
andthe chargesandtheninput the probable cause narrativeprovided bythe
detective. Theprobablecausenarrativewasnormally emailedtothe arresting
officerand thencopiedintothebooking sheet. Thedetectivescouldalso upload
their narrative directlyintoUBS (UniversalBooking System). Fizpatrick stated
thathedidnotlike assisting theSIGunitbecausehewould havetomakearrestsfor
them andputhisnameon theirnarrative. Thedetectivesnamewouldbe listedon
thebookingsheetas “reportingofficer”bu theydidnotsignthearrest reportor
provide asupplementalreport. Whenmakingan arrestthe notarizing officer could

+Havebeenanyoneatthejailat thetimeofbooking.

RodriguezwasneverFitzpatrick'sdirectsupervisor andtheyare nolfriends.
Rebecca PrincewasFitzpatrick'ssupervisorin 2013. Fitzpatrickiscurrently
RebeccaPrince'ssupervisoratABT. PrincerecentlyspokewithFitzpatrickabout
theincidentinvolving Rodriguez. SheadvisedFitzpatrick thatshewasgoingto
speakwithFDLEagentsand thatshewasupsetaboutbeing involved.She saidthat
Rodriguezputherin abadspotandif shehadknownabou itshewouldhavedone
somethingabout itthen. Fitzpatrickdid notbelieve thatPrinceknewabout the
video.

Fitzpatrick explained that a detective from theSIG unitwouldhaveneededto
Jollow-upwiththeState Attorney'sOffce in referencetothe massageparlorarrests.

aroadpatrol officerweretomake a vice ordrug relatedarrest, theywere
supposed10 copyall of thebookingreportsand place itin a bosinthehallwayfor
SIG. TheSIG secretary,Jil, wouldthen ake it to the SIG office.

Fitapatrickdidnotknowaboutthevideountil ts recentreleaseonthenews. Hedid
notrecall hearing anyrumors about Rodriguezandthevideoprior to its release.
Fitzpatrickwasabletoidentify Rodriguez inthebeginningof(the) videothatwas
shownonthenews.

(Note:seeFDLE's INV-61fortheaudiorecordingof his interview)

OnJune12,2019,SCIAAndrianoreceived arequestfrom FDLESABorestoanalyzecall detail
records or he fllowing telephone mumbers:
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239-877-7468

A , SABores requestedcalls between alloftheaboverecords,withtheadditionof
orwhich norecords were provided)from thetimeperiod of February9, 2019throughthe lstle ofrecord

SubscriberFiles received were ss follows:

ii from 12/01/18—409/19

owof fort Myers IT Dept
22002% 5
Fort Myers, FL
Call Detail Records from 12/03/18— 04/05/19
(VOLTE and Incoming Oulgoing Files)
lia*

Steven
719 Joel Bivd
Lehigh Acres, FL 33936

FBétailRecordsrom 12/01/18—05/10/19(UTC)
coiecos DY

BIstsot veyCons somstios

Page93 of 148



Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

TaternalAfiNaber: [AR0IS0T |
|March23,203 |

DateComplaint Received: December7, 2018

[DiteofReport:  |March22,2001 |

Callaw,12/01/19-04/18/19)
(VOLTE and. ing Files)
Verizon Case]

—

a waa

pei

 —
(VOLTEandIncoming Outgoing Files)

VetaCoD

DE
2200 2* St Fort Myers, FL=H
(VoLTE and. ling Outgoing Files)
VerizonCase|

free

from 12/01/18-4/18/19
(VOLTE and Outgoing Files)

Vion Coe SR
239-887-7468
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MaidyouLook CleaningServicesLLC
9175W 29% St
Cape Coral, FL 33914
Call DetilRecards from 12/01/18—4/18/19 (UTC)

Hab pw

Bo itee eetvietmb
providedthemtoSABoresonJuly3, 2019.ThespreadsheetswereattachedelectronicallyasFDLE
relateditem INV-67. Thesespreadsheetsarealso providedherein.

EmsEEeee

Thesewere268 phone calsand/or text messages between Mr. Kerr's phone and Angela Montalvo's
(8383 Weather's girlfriend) phone betweenthedatesof February 10, 2019 and April 19, 2019. (SeeHBEE’s INV 67forthe spreadsheet
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Internal Affairs Investigation

TnternalAffairsNumber: |1A 2018-011
[Dateofincident: —___ [March23,2008 |

‘December7, 2018
[Dat€ofReport: ~~ [March2z,2001 |

|. OnJune 13, 2019,SA Bores received. phonecallfrom Rachel Zysk oftheSuarezLawFirm. Zysk
is RichardNotaro’s attomey. Sheadvisedthat Notarodoesnotwishtospeak withlaw enforcementsnd
hehadnoknowledgeofthe matterinvolving Rodriguez. Zysk advised thal agentsmaycontactheror
herassistant, Pam Miller, if theyhave aspecific question for Notaro.

OnJune 14, 2019,SABoresandSAS Wagner obtained an audiorecorded swornstatementfrom
Officer| ‘Thefollowingrepresents asynopsisoftheinformation obtainedduringthe
interview(for a complete recordrefer totheaudiorecordingofthisinterview):

—yworks a) the FMPD andhold the positonofacingsergeantfor
EnforcementUnitandK-9unitQialso amemberofU.S. Marshals

Date Fugitive Task Force. The Special enforcement Unit works mid 10 long term
investigationsfocusingondrugs andguns and.assistsnarcoticswith uniform
suppor. workedfor FMPD since 2002andwas amemberofthe
Special Group (SIG)for aboutninemonthsto ayear in
approsimately 2008. From 2010to 2013,QRves assignedful timeto the
US.MarshalsTaskForce.

54Bore i awareoftheoperationatNewAsian Massagein
2013. "nol Jamiliar Lith the massage parlor operation that was

conducted af NewAsian Massage. recently madeawarethat there was a
videoof theoperation but had. not watched it. Atthetimeoftheoperation,

hadnoknowledgeofthe video 100 busy at that time
” th theU.S. Marshal's Task Force, tatedthalgoodfriends
M44 ithRodriguezandtheygofishing together 0] "heardrumors

spreadby AnthonyThomasthatbadthingsarecoming fo recri SY
was recently inierviewed by Capt. Newhouse during the In

into the allegationsagainst Rodriguez. Duringthat interview,
CR ic vr htKer ningabou avido

havingsexonduty. thafidnotknowabout
anyoft. didnotknow Kerrandhadnot talkedto Kerr:

never spoke with[J]about the massage parlor operation or video.
edthat Rodriguez nevetalkedaboutworkwhentheywouldgo fishing

together. hadcalled Rodriguezafer thereleaseofthevideo ocheckup
onhim. askRodriguezanything aboutthevideo. Rodrigueznever
spoke havinganykind ofsexualrelationswhileonduty.

(See FDLE's INV-62) for the audioofthis interview)

OnJune 14, 2019,SABoresretrievedthetwo WesternDigitalharddrivesand Synology NAS device
fromthe FDLE evidence vaultand transferred themto SA Chris Tissotforcomputer foreasics. (See
FDLE's INV-57 and INV-58 forrelted documents)
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

Interal Affairs Number: _[TA2018011 1]
[DateofIncident: ___[March23,208 |

December7, 2018
[DateofReport: ~~ |Marchaz201

On June 17, 2019, SA Peter Kennedyremoved FDLEEvidence Item #12, “Wester Digital (SIG
VideoPrimary) Hard Drive”,fromthe FDLE FortMyers Reginal Operation Center(FMROC)Cyber
Labtemporaryevidencelocker. SA Kennedyphotographedth item prior toandduringhis examination
ofit. DetailsregardingSA Kennedy's examination ofthis temandtherecoveryof a notable videofile
aredetailedinthedigital forensic reportthatismaintaineddigitally asa elated tem (SeeFDLE'sINV-
65). Uponcompletionofhisexam,SAKennedyretumedEvidence Item #12tothetemporaryevidence
locker. During his examination,SAKennedylocated thevideooftheundercover operation atNew
‘Asian:Massage.whichoccurredonMarch14,2013.involvingJay Rodriguezasthe undercovercKrp it[hess
1 Digital Evidence Forensic Report for Evidence Item#12

EVIDENCEITEMEXAMINED
‘ThisDigital Forensics Reportspecificallydetailstheexamination ofthe following Evidence Item:

« Evidence Iiem#12~“Western Digital (SIG VideoPrimary)HardDrive

As Picturedbelow:
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

InternalAffairsNumber: TA2018-011

DateofIncident: [March23,208|
DateComplaint Received: December7, 2018

[DateofReport:  [March22,2021 1]

|ierie '
Digital Bvidence ForensicReportforEvidenceItem#12

‘SOFTWAREUTILIZED
“AssessDataFTK Imager [Version 3.1.32]
X-Ways[Version1961

LawEnforcementoris gents,

Digital Bvidence Forensic ReportforEvidence Item #12.

SQFT
FORENSICEXAMINATIONOFEVIDENCEITEM#12
A

EvideiiceItem#12 - Ablack WesternDigital“MyBookLive"extemalnetworkharddrivewith“SIG
"VIDEO",“W DRIVE”,and“PRIMARY”ontheexterior.

FORENSICIMAGING
On June 17, 2018 (error/ should be 2019), SA Kennedy removed Evidence Item #12 from the FMROC
CyberLab temporaryevidence locker. Evidence lem # 12waspackagedandsealedin a clearplastic
bagandSAKennedyhad 10cutopenthepackagetoacces thecontents. SA Kennedyconfirmedthe
contents of Evidence Item #12 matched the listed description. SA Kennedy observe the following
oifisbleinfomation on theextssiorof the housing:

[2
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

Internal Affairs Number: [1A208011 7]
|March23,203|

Date ComplaintReceived: |December7, 2018
[DateofRepor:  |March22,200 |

‘Model: My Book Live
~~ Serial Number: WCAWZ2490269

MAC Address: ~~ 00:90:A9:BC:11:27
User Applied Labels: “SIG VIDEO”, “WDRIVE”,and“PRIMARY”

=
TwomveTN
“pmiseany

41:

ASKennedydisassembled Evidence:Item #12andremovedtheharddrivecontained within. The
followingarethedetailsof theharddrive, asdisplayed ontheexterior:

Make: ‘Wester Digital
Model:  WD30EZRS- 11991

‘Serial Number: 'WCAWZ2490269
Size: “3.078”

¥;
| Digital EvidenceForensicReportforEvidenceItem#12

i pa, _-
. : .
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a
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Fort Myers Police Department a
Internal Affairs Investigation

Internal Affairs Number: [1A2018-001 1]
Date of Incident: March 23, 2013
DateComplaint Received: December7, 2018

DateofReport: [Machzz20m|
SSKennedyconnectedthe harddrivelocatedin Evidence tem#12 to the sourcepotof aTables
Forensic SATA/IDEBridge write-blocker [model: T35u, serial # 653591EA, as pictured below:

i EE
SAKennedy validatedthatthewrite-blockerwas functioningpriortoconnectingtheharddrivefrom
Evidence Item #12.

SA Kennedybeganhisexambyexaminingtheharddrive directlyusing theforensicsoftware, X-Ways
Forensics, version 19.6.

On June18,2019, SAKennedyconducted aphysicallevelforensicimageof theevidenceitemusingthe
following software:AccessDataFTKImager,version 3.13.2. The Forensicimagewascompleted
‘successfully (Successful)andtheimagehasheswereverified. Belowis asummaryofthe loggenerated
bythe Access Data FTK Imager Software:

Created ByAccessData®FTK®Imager 3.1.3.2
Case Information:
Acquired using: ADI3.132
Case Naber FM-14.0072

Digital Evidence ForensicReportfor EvidenceItem#12.

Evidence Number, Ext Namib 12Unico asp: Westra DighaMy Book Liv” rd Driv Sig Video WDrivePray”
Examiner: SA Peter KennedyNoe

rTp————
Physical Evidentiary Item(Source)Information:Doicelato
Source Type: Physical
[Drive Geometry]
Cylinders: 364,01TocksperCynder: 255
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

internal Affairs Number: [TA2080 7]
Date of Incident: [March23,208|
Date Complaint Received: | December 7, 2018
Dateof Report:

SectorspeTr: 63
Besper Sector: 512

Sector Count: $360.533,168
PhysicalDriveInformation]DriveModel:WDCWD30EZRS-11)SCSI DiskDevice
Drive Sere Number WD-WCAWZ2490265,
Riedove Fiovale dove ple
rr

coun: 1565565872
ATTENTION:
“Th following seo) the suredivecoudctberd:“1672489568 rough 1565565887
“Thecontent ofthese sectors wer episcd withzoi the me.
(Computed Fishes]
MDS checkaurn: 4552801407148 SRDSToh
SHAT checksum: 1093600058098TSca2ec29901 ied 665211Sued
Inge Information:
RB8ahionsarc:Tue Jon 18 16:038 2019
Keguivition finished:Wed Jun 19 19:46:49 2019a:ISome esetem250

Complete ListOited ue 0 Length.)HFN 140072112 ImageEvideae lim M1220
Image Verifcaion Results
Veriheaion sted Wed Fu 19 19:51:02 2019
Verification ished Tha Jon 20 0524:14 2019
MDS checkaur:5528014074084RDS To vied
SHAT checksum: 1053eb00SadSRTSos2ec2991bokG652a:veied
TTDipl viensFore Reportfr Evens Tem #2

bo note that number ofsector spearf nohavebeen able to beread.Thisdocs otappea fo havetho cidence thatwas located.
Boe theimagingprocessfinished,SA Kennedy reassembledEvidence tem#12,reamedittoitspackaging,rescaled th packaging, ndplacedthepackagebackintothe FMROCCyberLab temporary evidence other
FORENSICTOOLUTILIZATION
Following the imaging, SA Keanodyexamined thecontats of Evidence lem 12's forensic imageusing X-Waysforensic software, version 19.6.
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

InternalAffairs Number: [1A208011
DateofIncident: March23,20 |
Date Complaint Received:_|December7,2018
DateofReport: [Marh22,20

NOTABLEFILESRECOVERED
During SA Kennedy'sexamination ofthehaddriveofEvidence lem #12,SAKennedy locatedonovideofil ofnote Thefollowingaethe dota oftis videofle:

FileNome: V-0004
FileType: AVI Video File
‘SHA-1HashValue: 03FDADFE3TFPOASBGSDSFFE6SCAIST6ESABMFES

susan: Content Description: This fileappears to depict the rocoding ofthealleged incident thatDate prociiated thisinvesigation.The timesampinthe lowe right comerofthe video begins atPa “2013.3.14 17:38:18" andends at“2013.3.14 1751158".
"Thi video spearsto hav bocamadefrom a surptitousrecordingdevice. Thefollowingar thetimestampsatwereprovidedbythe fle sytem:

CreatedTime: ~~03/15201307:31:33.1 (UTC-5]Modified Time: 03/1412013 16:52:04.0(UTC - 5]Record Changed: 03/15/2013 07:32366[UTC -5]
Accessed: 03/152013 073133.[UTC -5]

There wasnometadataof note contained withinthe video il,
htiwesc a tn oilptf tset of bedive edin Bins12:
°° [rot)Sharesipuble/SigVidea/Operations3-14-13-AsanMassage

‘There were 20 other fileslocatedwith th same ditecorypa atisvideofile,SAKennedydidnotlocate aayothe file that wer accessedorcratedo th harddriv aroundthesame timeasthisvideo il.
ADVDcontaining arecovered copyofthisvidowillbeenteredioevidence.

DigitalEvidenceForensic ReportforEvidence Item #12

JE SXSTEMANDDRIVEGEOMETRY
EILESYSTEM

“Theharddrive located withinEvidenceItem#12containedfourpartitions,the fourthpartition of which
encompassedthemajority ofthe physicalspaceofthehard disk.Thispartionappearstohavebee thepartitionthatwasusedforstorageof files.Thefollowingarethedetailsof thispartition:

File System: EXT4
Total Capacity: 2,995,968,278,528 Bytes [approx..2.7 T)
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

InternalAffairsNumber: |1A2018-011
DateofIncident: [March23,203
Date ComplaintReceived: _| December7,2018
[Dateof Report: [Marenzpzom |

ByiewSector: 512
BytedCluster: 655%
Total Clusters: 45,714,348

Approximate Free Space: 53%

‘Biv GroveTRY Spm
Belowis thefolderstructureoftheharddrive =

locatedwithinEvidenceliem #12, 5. ae
pertinsparticularlytothenotablevideofile Se
thatwas recovered. Sr

ay

DRI asFor5 es!
Sr

Snanon
SnHom

LEE =

DI} June 26, 2019, SA Kennedy removed Evidence Item #13, “Wester Digital (SIG Video Back-up)
Hard Drive”,from theFMROCCyberlabtemporaryevidencelocker. SA Kenedyphotographedtheitemprior t andduringhisexaminationofit.Hedisassembledtheevidenceitem anddocumentedthe
harddrivecontainedwithin.Thedetails oftheharddriverareasfollows:

Make: Western Digital
Model: WDBACGO030
Serial Number: WMCITI 181321
Size: “3.0TB"

SAKennedyconnectthehard drivelocated within EvidenceItem#1310 a forensicexamination
computer via awrite-blockingdevice. Usingthe forensicexaminationsoftwareX-Ways Forensics
6
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

Internal Affairs Number: [TA208011 7]
DateofIncident: [Mareh23,203
Date Complaint Received:_| December7,2018

[DateofReport: ~~ [March2z201 |

[Version 19:6}, SA Kennedy directly examined the hard drive located within Evidence ltem #13. Tho
cobtents ofthe harddriveappeared10 containabackupofEvideace Item #12,basedonthe similar
folderstructureand conteats. SAKeanedywasabletolocatethesamenotablevideo filein asimilar ile
pathlocation whichwasrecovered from Evidence Item #12; however,thefilesystemtimestampswere:
differentthanthoseobservedforthesame file locatedontheharddrivefrom Evidence lem#12. Its:
unknownwhatthecauseof thetimestamp changesmayhavebeen,as a numberoffactorscanresultin
thechangeoftimestamps,suchasthebackingupofthe fils. Thefollowingarethe timestamps orthe
notablevideo fileon EvideaceItem #13:

Created: 4/1072013at 01:47:19.4[UTC 5]
Modified: 3/14/2013at 16:52:04.0 [UTC-5]
Accessed: 4/1022013at01:48:46.4 [UTC- 5]

enReco Changed: 47102013 a101:48:55.0 (UTC 5]
[Versic
itnthatEvidence Item #13appeared(0be abackupofthesamecontents locatedinEvidenceliem
#12andno additionalevidencewas located,no forensic imagefilewascreatedofthe harddrivelocated.
‘withinevidenceitem #13atthttime. Uponcompletionof hisexam,SAKennedyreassemble Evidence
Item #13andreturned it totheFMROCCyberLab temporaryevidence locker.

On June 16, 2019, SE Kennedy removed Evidence Item #14, “Synology NAS Device w/ power
cord”, romtheFMROCCyberLabTemporaryEvideaceStorage.SAKennedyphotographed Evidence
Item #14priortoandfollowinghisexamination ofit. Evidence Tiem#14containedfour WesterDigital
'WD30EFRX 3.0TBharddrivesinanunknownRAIDsetup. ThedetailsofEvidenceItem#14are os
follows:

11. Make:Synology
© Model: DS412+ [4Bay NAS DiskSution]

G19" SerialNumber [NAS]: DLIN02353
"Serial Number [HDI]: WCCITI467777

Serial Number [HD2]: WCCITI469161
Serial Number [ED3]: WCCITI477414
Serial Number [HD4]: WCCITI472626

GiventheunknowdynamicofEvidenceItem #14'sRAIDsetup, SAKennedydidnotdisassemblethe
NASandconnectedit10 aforensic computer through a write-blockingdevice. However, onco
connected to aforensiccomputerthrough awrite-blocking device, SA Kennedywasunsuccessful at
getting Evidence Item #14 to power on.SA Kennedyceasedhis exam at thatpot,re-sealed Evidence
lem #14 ntspackaging, an retmed othe FMROCCyberLab temporaryevidielocker.

ADDcontaining arecoveredcopy ofthevideo filerecoveredfrom Evidence Item #12wassubmited
{810 PMROC Evidence Vaul. Digial imagestakenofEvidenceTem #13andmainaind digi
LE relateditem #63.
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

InternalAffairsNumber: JIAZOBOML 1]
[DateofIncident: [March23,203 |

December7, 2018
DateofReport: [March22,201|
On June25, 2019,SA Boresobtained a DVDfromCityofFortMyersITDirectorCalkinscontaining

theemailsofcurrentandformermembersof FMPDbetweenthedaterangeofMarch6,2013toMarch
13013. Emailspertainingtothemassage parlor operationonMarch 14, 2013weremaintained

cifonically inFDLErelatediesasINV-59.Anexaminationoftheseemailsrevealedthefollowing:x
© March5,2013, at 7:03am. -Lt. Princeseatanemailto Lt. JayRodriguez,Ofc.

‘DavidConticell,Ofc. SeanFitzpatrick,Ofc | copiedCaptainJimMulligan
withthesubjectlineof “Massage op”. This email thefollowing: “The “massageop”
at 1791BoyscoutDr. isscheduled forMarch 14°at 4:00pm. Wewillbriefat the tationandgo
outfromthere.1fanyofyouhaveanconflictswththatdaleor timepleaseletmeknow". (sic)
March12.2013,at 12:54pum,- Lt.RebeccaPrincesentanemailto Sgt.Rick Notarowith the
subjectline of “Equipment”. Thisemailcontainedthefollowing: “Rick,can 1utilizesomeof
ourmonitoringequipmentonThursdayat4-87 Preferablythephonesplease. Thanks”

7192" Marsh13,2013, 10:56am. - Lt.RebeccaPrincesent an emailtoSig.Rick Notarowiththe
Jct” subjectlineof "MONITORING EQUIPMENT”. This email contained the following: “Just

#1 checking ontheequipmentrequestfortomorrow. Tharks”

© March 13,2013, at 2:54 pn,~CaptainJim Mulligan seat an email to CaptainMelvin “Duke”
‘Perrywith thesubject line of“LtPrincesop”.Thisemailcontainedthefollowing: Lt. Prince
wastoldby Sgt. Notaro thathe wouldhelponheroperation based ontheconversation.
‘Betweenyouand I. Iwasunderthe impressionLt Princewould continue withher op andSIG
Would providethenecessaryequipment.Thetime to worktogetherwasin November. Now that
Sgt.Notarofaces possible embarrassmentorscrutiny fornot addressing the complaintwhen
originally askedhewantstobeinvolved. Thiscouldhavebeenresolvedinoneafternoon
monthsago. LL.Prince hasaddressedtheissueandcameupwith aplan to addresstheissue

1,3 Sinceshe sresponsibleforthedistrict.Pleaselet meknowifSIGisproviding the equipmentor
14" takingthecomplaint. Jimmy”

© March14,2013,at10:24a.m. Lt.PrincesentanemailtoSgt.Rick Notaro withthesubject
lineof “0p”. Thisemailcontainedthe following: “Just wondering whisassisting tonight?”

© Mareh14,2013,at8:55pm. - Lt. Rodriguezsent en emailto RebeccaPrincewith thesubject
lineof “narrative”. This emailcontainedtheattachment listedonthefollowingpagesandthe
followinglanguage: “Letmeknowifyougetitok."
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

Internal Affairs Number: JIA201801 1]
DateofIncident: [March23,20i31]
DateComplaintReceived:_| December7, 2018
[DateofReport: |March2z201 |
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

InternalAffairsNumber: JIAZOW8OLL
[DateofIncident: [March23,203 |

‘December7, 2018
[DateofReport:  [March2z,20 |
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

InternalAffairs Number: [A2018011— |
[Dateoflncident: ____ |March23,203 |
Date Complaint Received: _| December7, 2018
[DateofReport: ~~ |March2z,2021 |

© March14,2013,at9:13pum. Lt.Princesentanemailto Lt. Rodriguezthesubjectlineof
“Re;narrative". Thiseaail containedthefollowing: “Gotit”.

© March1S.2013,at11:30 a.m,- Captain MulligansentanemailtoRebeccaPrincecontaining
thefollowing: “Nothingonthe Chiefsreporton this. Iit media worthy?”

© March15,2013, at 11:49 a.m. - Lt.Princesent an email to Captain Mulligan containingthetnternfollowing: “Yesprob..Sorry wedidn'tgetout tillalmost midnight. Doyouwantmetohave
“Date Contceltypesomething up?”

"+ March15,2013,at11:50am, - Captain Mlligen sent anemai o Lt. Pricecontainingthefollowing: “Yes, thatwouldbegreat”.

© March18,2013,at5:33p.m. ~Lt.PrincesentandemailtoSgt.Rick Notaro withthesubject
lineof“Massageparlors". Shecopied Captain Perry, CaptainMulligan, Officer Conticeli, and
OfficerFitzpatrick.Theemnailcontained thefollowing: “Rick, received twomorecomplaints
ofprostitutioninmassage parlors inmydistrict.Thefirstis at 1957Grove Avene.Thesecond
is 4120 Cleveland Avenue. If youguyswanttoworkthesemyselforOfficer Conticelli will
provideyou thespecific information. Thanks.” (sic)

"2 #"" March19,2013,at8:42am. ~CaptainPerry scatanemailto Sgt.NotaroandcopiedLt£742 PrinceandCaptain Mulligan. This emailhadthesubjectline “FW:Massage parlors”and
“contained theemailfromMarch 18, 2013. Thisemail contained the following: “Sergeant

Notaro, Pleaseaddress ASAP to resolvethecomplaints”

OnJuly19, 2019,SABorescontactedthe Universal BookingSystem(UBS)helpdeskandspokewith
CISQuality SpecialistBryanPlatten. SABoresinquired about who accessedthe UBSFMPD arrest
report2013-02675. Me.Plattenexplainedthesystemwouldonlyshowhim wholastmade changes to
thereportandwhoapprovedthereport.Healsoexplained that therewerethreoentriesforFMPD report
‘number2013-02675and statedthat itcouldhavebeeneditingbytheauthor.

Platten advisedthat OfficerID850-0479authoredandapprovedthearrestreportinUBS. Platten
identified officerID 850-0479asOfficer Sean Havenner. Healso statedHaveanermusthavehad
supétvisor rights to beable to approvearrest reportsinUBS.

SABoresaskedPlatten abouttheabilityt0includeotherofficersin an arrestreportunder Officers)
Reporting”.Platten explainedanofficerisable toincludenames ofotherofficerswhocontributedtothe

arrest: however, thoseofficersarenotnotifiedthattheyar listedasreporting officers and arenot
required to sign asupplementalreport.

Platten seatan email to SA Bores containing ascreenshotofwhathewasabletoview inUBSregarding
MPDreport number 2013-02675.Theemailwasatachedas FDLE relateditem INV-68andinserted
below:
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Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

tera Affsles Namber: [TATOO |Dateof ncldent: Madar|
DateComplaintReceived: December7, 2018

[DateorReport: [Marehzzzon |

WE

On August 16, 2019, SA Bores received redacted versionsof FMPD Intemal Affairs investigations
2017-017 and 2018-011 from FDLE Assistant General Counsel Jeff Dembly. DeputyChief Jeffrey
Myers provided copiesofthesereportstoAttoreyDambly at his request. (Note:SeeFDLE's INV-81
forthese documents)

OnAugust 21, 2019, SABoresreceivedanemailfromDirectorCalkinsexplainingthattheFMPD
hasalwaysused astandardformatforfirstinitial andlastnameforlogging intotheir unique user
accounts. Jey Rodriguez's username is “rodriguez” which is unique to him along with his password,
‘whichonly theuserknows. (Note:SeeFDLE’s INV-83forthisitem)
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Internal Affairs Investigation

Myer
Infernal AffairsNumber: JTAZOIBO~~]

DateofIncident: [March23,203|
DateComplaintReceived: _| December7,2018
DateofRepo [March22,2017]

On August 21, 2019, SA Bores received an email from FMPD Deputy Chief Jeffrey Meyers,
containing GeneralOrdersineffectMarchof2013andRodriguez'scorrespondingelectronicsignature.
(Note: General Order 22.1,titledSpecial InvestigationsGroup (SIG)andGeneral Order22.2 Titled
‘Confidential Sources,alongwithRodriguez'scorresponding electronic.signature arc maintainedin
FDLErelated itemsasINV-54)

410nAugust23, 2019,SABoresreceived an un-redacted copyofCapt. Rodriguez's swornInternal
“aisfor IA’s 2017-017and2018-011 nil).Inreviewingeach,SABoresnotedthe following:

OnFebruary6, 2018, FMPDLieutenantBrianO'Reilly obiainedasworn, audio
recorded statement fromRodriguezaspartof the oficial internal affairs
investigation. Prior to_being placed under oath, Lieutenant O'Reilly provided
RodriguezwithhisLaw EnforcementOfficerBillofRightsandGarrity Warnings. In
isswornstatement, Rodriguezwasasked, “Faveyoueverreceivedoralsexfrom a
femaleinformantorprositute?” Rodriguezreplied, “No.” Rodriguezwasalso
‘asked, “Haveyou everbeenrecordedreceivingoralsexfrom afemaleinformantor
prostitute?” Rodriguez replied, “Absolutelynot".

OnJanuary8, 2019, FMPD Captain William Newhouseobiained a sworn, audio
Onrecorded statement fromRodriguezaspartofthe official internal fairs

NF investigation. Priortobeing placed underoath, CaptainNewhouseprovided
Rodriguez withhisLawEnforcement Officer Billof RightsandGarrity Warnings,
both ofwhichweresignedbyRodriguez. Inhisswornsiatement,Rodriguezwas
asked, “wereyouever involved in sexwhileonduty?” Rodriguezreplied, “No.”
Rodriguezwasalso asked, “Haveyoueverengagedinsexualactivity onduty with a
sex workerorprostitute?” Rodriguez replied, “No.”

(See FDLE's related itemsINV-82)

OnThursday, SeptemberS,2019,at 11:30am,Captain Newhouseattended a meeting with Chief
Diggs(intheChief'soffice). ThismeetingincludedSABores,SAS Wagner andSACPollardwiththe
FloriddDepartmentofLawEnforcement. AssistantStateAttomey(Twelfth Judicial Circuit) Andrew
YafSickl nd bis supervisorwas prsent as well. Depty its Randy Pepin ud ef Meyerswere
Joinattendance. ASA VanSickleannouncedthathisoffice wasplanningtofile criminalcharges
againstCaptain Rodriguezbasedupontheinvestigation conductedby SABores.Thecriminalcharges
included:

Official Misconduct~Felony ~F.S. 838.022(1)(e)
«Perjury inOfficial Procesding -Felony —F.S. 837.02(1)
«Prostitution—Misdemeanor~ F.5. 796072)0)
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OnMonday, September9,2019,FDLE SABoresobtainedanarrestwarrantfor JayRodriguezfor
thechargeslisted above.Judge JosephFullerapprovedthearrestwarrant.TheAffidavitforthearrest
‘warrantwasincludedonthenextseveral pages:

intern
Date
Dr
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On Monday,September 9,2019 thearrestwarrantwas issued forRodriguezonthechargesofF.S.
838.022(1)(s) Official Misconduct, FS. 837.02(1) Perjury in Official Proceeding, and F.S. 796.07(2)(0)
Prostitution.

,.QpMonday,September9,2019,at 10:59am,Captain Rodriguez seatanemailtoDeputyChief
RendallPepitoneandArleen Stocbenau(The Chief'sAdministrative Assistant), containing amemo for
bisretirement. Thememoindicatedhewasretiringfromthe agency,effectiveSeptember 18,2019.

{ @Note: acopyof thisemailandmemowereincludedinthecasefile)

OnTuesday, September 10, 2019,atapproximately 10:30 a.m, Rodriguezsurrenderedhimself to SA
Boresat the FDLEoffic,locatedat 4700TerminalDrive, Fort Myers, FL. SABorestransportedhim to
theLeeCounty Jail andbookedhim ontheoutstandingwarrant. (Note:anelectroniccopyofthe.
booking documentswasmaintainedin FDLE'srelate itemsINV-87)Rodriguezwascharged withthe
followingcrimes:

«OfficialMisconduct-Felony-FS.§38.022(1)(8)
+ Pejury in OfficialProceeding — Felony —F.S.837.02(1)

+24"Prostitution—Misdemeanor ~F.5. 796.07inds”
bspTuesday, September 10, 2019,ChiefDiggs orderedthatCaptain Rodriguezbeplacedonunpaid
&dministrativ leave,pendingthe outcomeofths intemalaffairs investigation, as provided forinFort‘MyersPoliceDepartmentGeneral Order 7.1, Section XIV(A)10. CaptainRodriguezwasnotifiedofthis
unpaidleavestatusviaemailand certifiedmail. (Note:acopyofthisnoticewasincludedinthecase.
fle)

The estofCaptain Rodriguezandhis voluntaryretirementdoesnotchange thecurrenttolling
status ofthisIntemalAffirs Investigation (IA 2018-011),as tolling continuesduringthepending
prosecution. FS. 112, S32(6)(A)2provesthefollowing, “The runningofthe limitations periodis tolled
during ihe timethat any criminal investigationor prosecutionispendingin connection with the ac,
‘omission,or other allegationofmisconduct”.

11765 Wedaesday, September 18,2019, SABorismetwithCaptain Newhouseandprovided himwith a
Sorfpleecopyofhercriminalinvestigation. (Note: FDLE's criminalinvestigativereportandrelated
document.was includedinthecasefile) Captain Newhousethenbeganreviewing FDLE'scriminal
investigation andcontinuedto do sooverthenextseveralweeks.

On Wednesday,September 19,2015,Captain Newhousehad adiscussion withChief Diggs,notifying
himofthe possible needtoaddadditionalsubjectofficers to thisinternalaffairs investigation. For
example, Caplain Newhouse pointed outinconsistenciesrelating otheswom testimonyofformer
‘Detective Donald Weathersand Officer Jason Greene,aswellasinconsistencies between theswom
testimonyofMr. Weathersand Detective WolfgangDaniels. Theseinconsistencies included the
following:
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[EormerDetectiveDonaldWeathers

= DuringhisMay 14,2019swomstatementwithFDLE,Weathers testifiedthat heviewedthe
video coupleofdaysafertheoperation tookplacein2013.

«Weatherssaidhe saw thevideodepictedJayRodriguez.atthemassageparlor in question.
Weathers saidRodriguezandthe engagedinconversationand he eventually saw

Rodrigueznaked.

© Weatherstestified that a coupleofdaysaftertheoperation tookplace,Detective JasonGreene
called him otohisoffice andtold him aboutthemassageparlor operation. Weatherstestified
hatDetective JasonGreeneshowedhimand Detective Wolfgang Danielthe videoonGreene's

apy COMPS. Weathersssid hat Groene acoesedthe videofromtheSIG Tdrive.

_* Weatherssaid Detective Greenemadeassumptionsastowhatmayhaveoccurred offcamera
andseid Detective Greenewasconcernedaboutthevideo.

WeatherstestifiedDetectiveGroeneand DetectiveDanielwereinvolvedinthe massageparior
operation.

© Weathers testified hebelieved GreeneorDaniel told him acovert camerawasused
duringtheoperation. WeathersknewRodriguezhadtold Greene Wasrecordedonthe
device whenhegave it back toGreeneafertheoperation,but Weathersdidnotspecifyhowhe
nen thatinformationanddidnotwan tomisspeak.

‘DstectiveGreene (HeiscurrentlyanOfficer,butwas a Detectivein2013)

© Greeneprovided aswornstatementto Captain Newhouse onJamuary31,2019,satinghewas
notinvolvedinthe massageparloroperationinquestion.

Greene toldCaptain Newhousehehadno knowledgeof CaptainRodriguezengaginginsex
whileondutywith asex worker.

Greenetestified to Captain Newhouse ho had never seen a videoofthe undercoveroperation
involvingthemassageparlor(NewAsian Massage).

Greenestated toCaptain Newhousehedoesnothaveanydirectknowledgethat theallegation
,; relatingto JayRodriguezengaginginsexwith asexworkerorprosifutewastc.

«Greene provided aswornstatementto FDLEonMay§,2019,testifyinghedidnotworkthe
operationon March 14, 2013,anddidpotprovideCapt.Rodriguezwiththerecordingdevicefor
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theoperationatNewAsianMassage. GreenetestifiedtoFDLEhehadnotseenthevideoprior
10itsreleasein2019.

s
On January31,2019,during asworn statement,Captain Newhouseasked Detective Daniel ifhe
everwitnessed JayRodriguezinvolvedinsexwhile ondutyandDetectiveDaniel respondedthat
hehadnot.

Deniltold Captain Newhousethat,asfarashecouldrecall, the SpecialInvestigations Group
‘was notinvolvedintheoperationandthatLt.Princeandothershandledtheincidentontheirat

© Captain NewhouseaskedDetective DanielifMr. Kerr's eccusationthat “SIGdetectivesworking.
that OP, JasonGreeneandDetectiveWolfgang Danielwitnessedandrecorded oneJay

“Rodriguez involvedinsexwhile onduty”wastrue.DetectiveDanielresponded,“Ihave,Ihave
Det” 10memoryofthatsir.” He alsosaid, “Idon’trecall that.”

+ On April30, 2019, Detective Del provide swornsateen o FDLE.Drie testified he
didnotworktheoperationattheNewAsianMassageParloronMarch 14,2013. Daniel
testifiedhedidnotknowaboutthevideoinquestionuntilit wasreleasedin2019,

‘OnWednesday, September 25, 2019, Captain Newhousereceivedananonymousletteraddressed to
“ProfessionalStandardBureauc/oCityof Fort MyersPoliceDepartment”. The letterwaspostmarked
September23,2019.ThisletterwasaddressedtoChiefDerrickDiggs,listing carboncopies (CC)tothe

following:PSBFMPD,FDLE, NewsPress, NBC2, Fox4, MayorRandyHenderson,andCity Manager
SacedKazemi. Theanonymousauthor ested thatthefollowingofficersbeinvestigatedtoerte yfbrn(MR vr er,Woligons
Daniel, DavidConticelli”. ‘Theunknownauthor wrote,“The stalement providedtoinvestigatorsat
DLEclearly show deceptionandcollusiontothecriminal actthatoccurred”. (Note:thisletterwas
includedinthecasefile)

On Wednesday, September 25, 2019, at 12:00 p.m., Captain Newhouse participated in a phone
conferencewithAttorney JohnPotanovicandAssistant StateAttomey(12* Judicial Circuit)AndreVan
Sickle. Mr.PotanovicrepresentstheCityof FortMyersinemploymentrelatedmattersand ASAVan

Sickleistheprosecutorassignedto handletheRodriguezcase.Bothattomeysagreedthetolling
‘provisions outlined in F.S. 112.532(6)(8)2 are not only applicable to the allegations against Captain

Rodriguez,but alsoapplytoothersthatmaybenamedasadditionalsubjectofficers inthematter.
AttorneyPotanovicsent afollow-upemailto Captain Newhousedocumentingthe abovementioned
conversation. Thisemailincludesthefollowing:in
Dorie Captain Newhouse -J

Page 1300f148



Fort Myers Police Department
Internal Affairs Investigation

[InternalAffairsNumber: [1AZ018011
[Dateofincident: |Marh23,208 |

[DateofRepor: ~~ [March2z,201

Thisis 0 confirm ourtelephone conversation today, whichincludedAndrewVan
Sickle, AssistantState Atiorney, 12* Judicial Circuit. Mr. Van Sickleisthe

prosecutorassignedtotheJay Rodriguezcase.Of course,the JayRodriguezIA (IA
2018-011) hastolledsincethe time the criminalinvestigationcommenced.Itismy
understanding thatyouhavereviewedan FDLEreportand listenedto audio
collectedaspartof the FDL investigationandhavedeterminedtheremaybeother
officers, includingbutnot necessarily limited t0JasonGreeneandWolgangDaniel,
whomay need10 beadded as “subject officers”in IA 2018-011due to
untruthfulnessallegationorothermisconduct.

SLE ES 112.532(6)(a)(2,) provides that “The runningofthe limitations periodis tolled
DE duringthe time thatanycriminal investigationorprosecution ispendingin

connectionwiththe act, omission,orotherallegationofmisconduct”. In my
pinion (and theopinionMr. VanSicklesharedduringoutcal) tislanguage would
servetotollaninvestigationconcerningWolfgangDanielandlor Jason Greeneas
subject officer added to IA 2018-011 as the allegations of misconduct (eg.

unirutbfulness) are inextricable intertwined withand connectedtothepending
criminalprosecuionofJayRodriguez. PerFS 112.532(€)(a)thetolling wouldstart
asofthedate FMPDreceivednotice o theallegationsby aperson authorizedby
FMPD to initiatean investigationofthe misconduct. Ifyouareauthorizedto
initiateaninvestigation inoallegedDanielorGreenemisconduct,then Ibelievethe

tolling beganonthedate youreadthereportorlistened to the audio whichgave
+a. 15 0the allegations(s of truthfulnessorothermisconduct. Iiisonythe Chief
as: ohocaninitiatesuch an imestigation, believethetollingbeganasofthedatethe
“Chief becameawareoftha informationwhichmaygiverise otheallegation(s)of
untruthfulnessorothermisconduct

Pleasefeel free to contactme if you have any furtherquestionson thismatter.

Basedupontheaforementioneddiscussion, the poteatial needtoaddadditionalsubjectofficerstothe
originalIA involvingJayRodriguez doesnotchangethecurrenttollingsatus.

OnThursday,September 26, 2019,at2:31am. AnthonyThomas Jr. sent anemail to Sheriff
Marceno,whilecoping a longlst of individualstoinclude Chief DiggsandASAAndrew Van Sickde.
Mr. Thomas requested thattheLeeCounty Sheriffs Officeinitiate acriminal investigationofJay
Rodriguez for “violationsofFlorida Statute 817.49 (fling afalse police report) and Florida Statute$18.13 arpering with evdenc). Mi, Thoms sdstrally te, “The Fort 1ers Pole

Department should haveknown thatthecomplaint Mr. Jay Rodriguez fledwasfrivolous and without
merit". Here, Mr. Thomaswasrefering to criminalcomplaintfiledby Jay Rodriguezon February11,
2019 (FMPDReport number 2019-01724) alleging that Mr. Thomas committed the crimes of extortion
‘andsexualcybeharassmentagaiasthim. (Acopyofthisemailwasincludedin thecase file)
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[DateofReport:|Maren22,2021
On Wednesday, October2, 2019, ASA Van Sickle responded to Mr. Thomas, notifying him that he

shouldfilean initial complaintregardingtheallegedcrimewiththeFort Myers Police Department. (A
copyofthisemailwasincludedinthecasefile)

OnMonday,October 14, 2019,Mr. ThomassentChief Diggsanemail(containing the chain of
‘emails above), requesting acriminalinvestigationinto thedescribedmatter. (Acopyofthisemailwas
includedinthecase file)

OnTuesday,October 15, 2019,DetectiveRalphLouissaintwasassignedto investigateMr.Thomas"criminalallegationsagainstJayRodrig. DetetiveLouisaintsubsequentlycompleedFMPDreport
number2019-11358,documentingtheallegations. Thenarrativesectionofthisreportcontainedthe
following:

Or “On October 15, 2019 Detective Louissaint was assigned to investigate a
sho" complaint madebyAnthonyThomasJr (DOB 2/2/1983). Thomashas filed a
- complaintagainstJayRodriguezforviolationofFloridaStateStatute(FSS)

817.49 ~filing afalsepolicereportandFSS918.13 —tamperingwithevidence.
Thisstemsfrom a previousFortMyersPolice Departmentcase(reportlt 2019-
01724).

Thomashassen emails expressing hisconcernwith FMPD investigatingthis
case. ThomaspreferredthatLeeCounty Sheriff’sOfficeinvestigatethecase.
Thomas"requestwasreviewedbyAssistantState AttorneyVanWinkle[sic]of
the 12*JudicialCircuit. VanWinkle[sic]advised thattheStateisoftheopinion
thatThomasshouldfileaninitialcomplaintwithFMPD. Theallegationwould
initiallybereviewedby FMPDforvalidityandinternalproceduralissues. The

¥ «complaintwouldthen bereviewed for conflictof interestreasonsand ifsuch
8 conflictexists,the StateAttorneyinLeeCountywouldreferthemattertothe

governorfor assignment.

On October 15, 2019 at approximately 3:00pm Detective Louissaint called
Thomasvialandlineto scheduleanappointmenttoobtain asworn statement.
Therewasnoansweranda-voicemessagewaslefton Thomas’answering
‘machine with Detective Louissaint's contact information”.

OnOctober31,2019,at9:59 a.m., DetectiveLouissaintandOfficerKristinCapuzzimetwithMr.
‘Thomasandhisattorney,PeterDennis,at Dennis’office (1533 HendryStreet,Suite 300). Mr. Thomas
provided aswornaudiorecordedstatementinthematter. (Note:thisswornstatementwasincludedin
thecasefile)

Detective LouissaintparaphrasedMr. Thomas statementbelow —
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Date Complaint Received:_| December7, 2018
[DateofReport: |March22,2021 |
Thomasfeels that it is improper thatFortMyersPoliceDepartment is investigatinghiscomplaintand
feelsthati shouldhavebeen referred to FloridaDepartmentofLawEnforcement (FDLE).Thomassaid
thatRodriguezadmittedin his interviewwith DetectiveLangtonthat Rodriguez didnothave anycontact
with Thomas viatelephone,email,nortextmessage. ThomasbelievesthatRodriguesfiled afalsepolice
reportfromanincidentthat100kplaceonDecember3, 2018(FMPDreport f 2019-01724). Inthis
reportRodriguez accused Thomasofviolating Florida State Statute 836.05(extortion).Thomassaid
thatnoneofthe wilnessesinterviewedin FMPDreport2019-01724corroboratedRodriguez's storyand.
70witnessheardThomassay anything toRodriguez aboutmoney. ThomassaidRodriguezfiled the

ainttwomonths afierthe incidenthappened the samedayRodriguez wasbeingputonrainem.Thom iitel crime vas commie dshv nd
id have immediately reportedthecriminalviolation committedby Thomas. (See Supplemental

Report #4 2019-01358)

DetectiveLouissaintprepared a“RequestforCaseReview”packetandforwardedhisinvestigationto
theStateAttorney'sOffice forreview.Thecasewassubsequentlyassignedto ASAAndrew Van Sickle
(Twelfth JudicialCircut). Nocriminalchargeswere filledas aresult of this review.

OnFebruary21,2020, CaptainNewhousewaspromotedtotheraskofMajorand willbereferredto
a8suchthroughout theremainderofthis report.

On Monday, March 9,2020, FloridaGovernorRonDesantisdeclared a“StateofEmergency”forthe
StateofFloridaregardingtheCOVID-19pandemic(ExecutiveOrderNumber 20-52).Thisdeclaration

idtended by theGovemor through Executive Orders 20-114, 20-166, 20-192, 20-213, 20-276, end
poeAdditionally,theGovemorextendedthe “StateofEmergency” for60days,effective February

2 2021 (ExecutiveOrder 21-45). (Copiesofthese Executive Orders were included in the case fil),
Florida Statute 112.5326) denotes, “The running of the limitations period may be tolled for
emergenciesornatural disasters duringthetimeperiod wherein the Governorhasdeclared astateof
emergency within the jurisdictional boundariesoftheconcernedagency”. Thereby, the 10-day

limitation.period for disciplinary actions resultfrom this internal affairsinvestigationwas tolled,
effective March 9, 2020.

OnOctober5,2020,JayRodriguez voluntarilyrelinquished hisLawEaforcemeat Certification
with the StateofFloridaCriminalJusticeStandards and Training Commission,via anotarized
form. Additionally,hevoluntarilyelectedtonever re-applyforsaldcertificationstatusnorseek
employmentus» lowcalorcment officer. On January 14,2021,theFloridaCriminal Just

irds and Training Commission “Accepted”this voluntaryrelinquishment andorderedMr.
Bibitigueztoimmediately surrendertothe Commissionhiscriminaljusticecertificate. (Copiesof
fliesedocumentswereIncluded inthecasefile).

On Thursday, November 12,2020, AssistanceStateAttorney Andrew Van SickleNolleProsequi the
criminal charges against Jay RodriguezforOfficial Misconduct,Perjury, and Prostitution
(19CF02631AL).(Acopyofthisdocumentwas includedinthecasefile). ASA VanSickleauthored a
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December7, 2018 at

‘memorandum documentingthereasonforthe NolleProsequiandthismemowasincludedisthe casefog NE

Theconclusionofthecriminalprosecution of JayRodriguezmeansthatthelimitation period 1
specified in Florida Statute 112.532(6)a2 (for disciplinary actions) is nolongertolled(pendingcriminal +
‘prpgecation),effectiveNovember12,2020.However, asmentionedabove,the limitation period
onitius to be tolledby ExecutiveOrderofthe GovernorrelatingtotheStateofEmergency declaration.
[ingtotheCOVID-19 pandemic,asspecifiedin FloridaStatute112.532(6)aS.

OnDecember3,2020,Major Newhouse notified Detective WolfgangDanielandOfficer Jason
Greene(viamemorandum)that theywereaddedassubject officerstothi internalaffairsinvestigation.
‘They wereaddedassubjectofficers becauseMajorNewhouse discoveredinconsistences betweenthe
swomtestimonythey previously providedandthesworn testimonyofformerDefectiveDonald
Weathersrelating to.theirprior knowledgeofthe existenceof a video depictingandundercover
operationonMarch14,2013. Additionally,DetectiveDanielandOfficer Greenewereprovided (via
memorandum)thetollingstatusmentionedabove. (Note: thememorandumswereincludedinthecase
le) OnDecember4, 2020, GulfCoastPBAPresidentMatthew Sellersemailed Major Newhouse,notify
him thathe wouldberepresenting DetectiveDanieland Officer Greeneinthematter.
jive
SOTO Friday, December4, 2020, Major NewhouseemailedSAS Grant Wager(FDLE)andrequested to
JEthefollowing FDLEpersonnelcompleteswornstatements fortheinternal affairsinvestigation:

‘+SAKendalBores Criminalcaseagent
©SA Supervisor Grant Wagner — Criminalcasesupervisor! assistedwithinterviews
©SAGaryNegrinelli -Assistedwith interviews
‘+SAChrisTissot — Computerforensics
+ SA Peter Kennedy -Computer forensics locatedvideo
« SCIAKelly Andriano ~Phonerecords —subpoenaduces tecum
«SADaniel Chu —Assistedwithinterview
+ DFCCristopherVaden-Computerforensics

GpFriday,December4,2020, Major Newhouseemailed ASAAndrew Van Sickleand requested
“ ggmpletecopyof hiscriminalcasefile (toinclude all depositions).OnFebuary 16, 2021,hsassistant

mailedcopiesofthree(3)depositionstoMajorNewhouse. TheseincludedthedepositionsofAgeat
Bores,DonaldWeather, andMr.Kerr. Theywereincludedin thecasefle.

OnTuesday, December 8, 2020, SAS Wagner telephoned Major Newhouse andexplainedthat FDLE
employeeswouldnotprovideswornstatementsasrequesied. SAS Wagner latersentanemaildenoting,
“Bill, perourphone conversation earlier, on behalfofthose listed belowof thase listed belowIam

decliningtheoffer toprovideswornstatementsintheIA investigation. We'rehopefulthatourreports
willsuffice”. A copyofthisemailwasincluded in thecasefile.
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DateofIncident:
Date Complaint Received: December7, 2018

[DateofReport:  [March22,2001 |

BeginningonDecember 10, 2020, MajorNewhouseconducted aseriesoffollow-up(confirmatory)
interviewswithmultiplewitnessesinthisinternal affairsinvestigation. Thesetranscribedinterviews

inchidedthe casefile.Thefollowingrepresents averybriefsynopsisofeachstatement:
EihardCalin 13202020

©Confirmedmeeting with Major NewhouseandBarbra Wills on January15, 2019,whereinMajor
‘Newhouseaskedthem tosearchforthevideoinquestionsusingthe search criteralprovidedby
Mr.Kerr ¢

‘+ ConfirmedtheywereunabletolocatedsaidvideoutilizingMr. Kerr'slocation directions

*ConfirmedthatonFebruary 11, 2019,he capturedthevideolinksemailedby Mr.Kerrand
‘providedthem toMajor Newhouse:

I8Qestifiodthat a fewweeks after February 11,2015[SBprovidedbienwithtree (3)external
B° compuesoredevisees

* Confirmedthethree (3)externalcomputerstoragedeviceswereturnedoverto FDLE

* Confirmedheprovided atruthfulswomstatementtoSABoresonApril3,2019

BarbaraWills (1210/2020)
©ConfirmedmeetingwithMajor NewhouseandRichardCalkinson January 15, 2019, wherein
Major Newhouseaskedthemtosearchforthevideoin questionsusingthesearchcriterial
providedbyMr.Kerr

"1 Confimodtheywere unable to locatedsidvidouilizng Mr, Kerr's location dictions
W

* Confirmedsearchingforanyaudio filesrelatingtothe NewAsian Massageoperationand
confirmedshewasunable tolocateany

+Confinedsheumedoverthothree (3) extemalcomputer storagedevicesto FDLE
* ConfirmedsheprovidedSABoresanemaillistoftheFMPDemployees whohadaccesstothe

Financialdrive,SpecialInvestigationdrive, andtheDetectivedriveonthecitycomputerserver

* Confirmedsheprovide SABoreswiththree (3) DVDcontainingall(currentandformer) FMPD
‘employeesemailsbetween thedaterangesof2021and 2019

;% ConfinedsheprovidedSA Wagner with aUSBdrivecontainingtheinformationfromCaptain
‘Rodriguez Cityof Fort Myers Zdrive(inresponse10 asearch warrant)
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Date ofReport: [March22201|

+ Confirmedsheprovided atruthful swomstatementto SA Boreson April 16,2019

JuanSoto(12/10/2020)
«CurrentFinanceManagerforFMPD

«Beganworkingfor FMPDinApril2018
wit Confirmedmeeting withMajorNewbouseon March7,2019andbeing askedtolocateSIG

|Date+financialdocumentfor the first quart of2013(Specifically March)

(or, Testifidtha thesefinancialrecordsarenormally storedinbinderswithintheFinanceOfficeof
FMPDand on the Financecomputerdrive

© Testified thattherequested financial recordswere missingfromthe bindersandthe computer
drive

© Testified that hehadnoideawhathappenedtothedocumentsinquestion

© Testified thattheofficeisnotalwayssecured andcouldhavebeenaccessedbyanunauthorized
I
Hol Simone(1271012020)

"+CuraDeputy Diestor of Finance (s of March2019)
Confirmedthat SA Borescalledher andaskedaboutthemissingSIG financial documents from

2013

© Testified thatin2013 it wasnotpolicytosend SIG financial documenttotheCityofFort Myers
Financial Department

JoannDaniels (12/11/2020)

Curent Fiscal Assistant at MPD (s of August2013)

"+ HasaccesstotheFMPDFinance computerdrive (server)

©Testifiedthatshe hadnoideawhathappenedtothemissingSIG financialrecordsfor Marchof
2013

KhandveeMosely (1211/2020)
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DateofIncident: [March23,203
DateComplaint Received: _|December7, 2018
[DateofReport:  |March22,200 1]

©GrantWriter st FMPD (ssofMarch2017)
«Has access to theFMPDFinancecomputerdrive (server)
+Testified thatshehadno ideawhat happenedtothemissingSIG financial recordsforMarchof

2013

‘DiannKopllec(12/17/2020)

i,SeatFiscalAssistant at FMPD(a of June2014)

HasaccesstotheFMPD Financecomputerdrive (server)
«Testifiedthatshehadnoidea whathappenedtothemissingSIGfinancialrecordsfor Marchof

2013

‘SharonWright (12/21/2020)
« FormerFiscal Managerat FMPD(wasManagerin2013)

MajorNewhouse telephonedheronDecember 21,2020 andlefher a voicemail

+2s#Sheneverreturnedthephonecall

Jenétte Kruze(12/21/2020)

« FormerFiscalManagerat FMPD(fromMarch2015 to August2017)

©Testifiedthatshehad no idea what happenedtothemissingSIGfinancial recordsforMarchof
2013

Areen Stochenau (12/21/2020)
©StaffAssistant to ChiefofPolice (as of May2017)
3 Blasaccessto theFMPDFinancecomputer rive (server),butwas unawareshehadthis access

JEUTestified thatshehadnoidea what happenedtothemissingSIGfinancial recordsforMarchof
2013

HeideBrescher (12/21/2020)
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‘» Project ManagerfortheGroupViolenceInterventionProgram (asofFebruary 2018)

Hasaccesstothe FMPDFinancecomputerdrive (server),butwasunawareshehadthisaccess

®TestifiedthatshehadnoideawhathappenedtothemissingSIG financialrecordsfor Marchof
32013

| meer

|BaputyChiefJeffreyMevers (1/14/2021)

©ConfirmedhereviewedthefirstIAreportforLA 2018-011 anddeterminedthattheallegationwas
unfounded, basedupontheinformationcontainedinthecasefile

©ConfirmedIA 2018-011wasre-openedorcontinuedbaseduponnewinformationreceived

*Confirmedheprovidedcopies ofanonymousletterssentto FMPDto FDLE

*ConfirmedheprovidedFMPDGeneralOrdersineffectonMarchof2013, containingCaptain
Rodriguez’electronic signatureto FDLEattheirrequest

24ConfinedheprovideFMPDGeneral Order 21.1Spesial InvestigationsGroupandGeneralOrder
Be" "22>Confidential Sourcesto FDLEatthei request

EllenClvate (111472021)
+ Human ResourcesDirector (Reircon July8, 2020)
» Confirmedshereceived aseriesofemailcomplaints (thesubjectof this 1A)from Mr.Kerrin
December2018andJanuary2019

« Ensuredthese emailswereforwarded to ChiefDiggsandMajor Newhouse

+Confirmed that Mr. Kerr senther linksto the video in question to herin an email
Bae

»Confirmedthatshemadesurethe videolinkwasforwarded toChief DiggsandMajor Newhouse
fortheIAinvestigation

DetectiveJamesLangton (11472021)

*Confirmedhe wastheDetective assignedtoconductthecriminal investigation regarding
allegationsfrom Jay Rodriguez againstAnthonyThomasforallegedextortion andsexualcyber
stalking
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Confirmedhesubmittedth casefil to theState Attomey'sOfficeforconsideration

£7 ConfirmedtheStateAtomey'sOffic declinedto prossat the mater

«Provided acopyofthecriminalcase file to MajorNewhouse

Lt.BrianO'Reilly (1/26/2021)

Confirmedheconducted IA 2017-017, relating to anonymouscomplaintagainst JayRodriguez
© ConfirmedthatonMarch6,2019,at 2 pam., heaccompaniedMsjorNewhousetothe SIG

building to searchforexpenditurerecords.

»Testified theSIGofficewasindisarray andthereweredocumentsandpaperwork dumpedhrown
inthecenterareaofthe room

©Testified he observedexpenditure filesin thetrashand“thrown everywhere”

+ ConfirmedFDLEwasnotifiedoftheconditionsofthe SIGofficeimmediately

I(262021)
+Consimedillprovidedtruthful testimonytoMajorNewhouseduring[lfsworn interviewon

February 12019

+ Gontimeifrovidedmit estimony oFDL ringMfwor vesonMarch1,2019
 :252021)

+Confirmed [ll providedtruthfultestimonytoMajorNewhouse during [ffsworn interviewon
January 31,2019

+Confirmed fprovidedtruthfl etimony to FDLEduring wominterviewonMarch5,2019
» ConfirmedfffvitaessedtheconditionoftheSIGbuildingonMarch6,2019

«TestifedthadlidnotknowbowtheSIGoffice gotinsuchpoorcondition

Officer SeanHavenner (1/26/2021)

L%Confirmedheprovided truthfultestimony toFDLEduringhissworninterview on March5,2019
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JillNewhouse (12612021)
wp“42”Confirmedsheprovided trthfultestimonytoFDLEduringherswominterviewon March 20,

TT)

‘Set.DavidConticelli (1/27/2021)

©Confirmedheprovided trubful testimonytoFDLEduringhis swominterviewonFebruary21,
2019

27202)
+=~+-Gonfirmed {providedtruthful testimonytoFDLEduring [lwo interviewon June 14,2019

73Denid,asreportedbyMr.Kerr, thatfll]participatedin adiscussion with DetectiveVincent
Doyle, WalterMitchell, andDetective Wolfgang Danielinthesquadbayabout Jay Rodriguez
engagedinsexualactswith aprostitute

 Testified thatfffkoewnothing abouttheallegationspriortothevideo'sreleaseinthe media

Detective RalohLouissalat (1/27/2021)

©Confirmedthathewasassignedtoconductthecriminal investigation rogardingFMPD report
‘number 2019-11358, involving a complaint from Anthony Thomas sgainst Jay Rodriguez for
fling falsepolice report

CaptainJamesMulligan (1/29/2021)

+FormerCaptainst FMPD

+Declinedtoprovide a swominterview

ChiefDouglasBaker (1/29/2021)

«FormerChiefof Police

«Declined toprovide a swominterview

[=
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‘Angels Montalvo(1/2021)
+Former FMPD RecordsSupervisor
+ GirlfiendofDonaldWeathers
‘+AttomeyTimCulhane(representingDonald Weathers)sentMajor Newhouseanemail,indicatingMs. Montalvodeclined toprovide a swom interview fortheIA

DonsldWeathers(1/2021)
+FormerDetective at FMPD
2,Declined 0provide a swominterviewforthe 4,via hisstorey TimCulhane
DeansEads(12021)

» FormerCaptainand FormerInterimChief of Policeat FMPD

*Testified hehadneverheardthe accusationsagainstJayRodriguezinvolvingthemassageparlor
incident,priortothevideosreleaseinthemedia

 Testified henever saw thevideoinquestion

* Testified thatifhehadpreviouslyheardtheallegationsagainst Jay Rodriguez,hewouldhave
ordered animmediateItemalInvestigation

snd
{4EaricoDoro(12021)

« FormerLicuteaantat FMPD
ConfirmedheassisteclMMNbyproviding llaccess tothesafeintheSIGofficetolookfortheback-upSIGvideo storagedevice
* Confirmedtheback-upSIGvideostoragedevice wasnotinthesafe.

* Testifiedthatwhenhetook overcustodyoftheSIGsafe,itdidnotcontainthestoragedevice:

* Denied thathehadeverseenthevideoin questionuntilafteritsreleaseinthemedia

sb.MikeForbes 1/2021)
* FormerFMPDSgt.andDetective (workinginSIGin2013)
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*On 2/1/2021,MajorNewhousespokewithanatiomeyrepresentingMr. Forbes

*Theattorneysaidshewouldlet Major NewhouseknowifMr.Forbeswaswillingtoprovide a
swominterview

‘©Theattorney nevergotbackwithMajorNewhouse
| Intery
 BafestiveBradDickerson (2212021)
LT

©FormerSIGDetective (workinginSIGinMarch2013)

*Testifiedhehadnoknowledgeoftheallegationandhadneverseen thevideooftheincident, prior
toitsreleaseinthemedia

EE
111.8 Fompleted the offense reportforFMPD 2019-01724, relating to allegations from Jay Rodriguez
*" againstAnthonyThomasforextortion

$+ Obtained awritenswornstatementfrom JayRodriguezforthiscriminalinvestigation

DetectiveVincent Dovie (2722021)
 Testified Kerrdidnottellthe ‘whenclaimingthatheoverheard aconversation

ovei Daniel, and himself; about Jay Rodriguez
allegedlyengaging in sex acswithaprostitute

© Testified thedescribed conversation didnot take place

‘Office Sean Fitzpatrick (232021)
fren
+ FormerFMPD Officer

» ConfirmedheprovidedtruthfultestimonytoFDLEon June12,2019

‘Lt.WalterMitchell (2/4/2021)
©FormerSIGDetective (workinginSIGinMarch2013)
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®Testified id not tellthetruth whenclaimingthatheoverheard aconversation
‘between ‘incent Doyle, Wolfgang Daniel, and himself; about Jay Rodriguez
allegedlyengaginginsex actswith aprostitute.

©Testifiedthatheneverheardanyrumors of JayRodriguezengagedinsexwith aprostitute

AnthonyThomas

»Declinedtoprovide aswominterview

aRebecss Prince
D1, pe . i
=»Declinedto provide aswom interview

ONeillKerr

«Declinedtoprovide aswom interview
‘Sgt. CandicePetaccio

» Unable tocontactforswominterview

iseDeclined toprovide a swominterview

‘Sgt.RichardNotaro

«Declinedtoprovide a wominterview
YaChen

© Unableto locate for aswom interview

TET
¢Unable tolocatefor aswominterview

MeiHunLu

* Unabletolocateforaswominterview
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‘SubletInterview=Sgt.JasonGreene

“S80February25, 2021,st4:57pam, MajorNewhouseconducted aswornaudiorecordedinterview
with Sgt. Jason Greene. Matthew Sellerswaspresent, acingasSgt. Greene's union representative.

{ Prior to questioning, Major Newhouseprovided St. Greene with Garrity warnings and acopyofthe
LawEnforcementOfficers’ BillofRights. Additionally,Sgt.Greenewasprovided with ampletime to
review alldocumentsandstatementsrelatedtotheInternalAffairs Investigation.

Sgt.Greeneassertedthathepreviouslyprovided aswomstatementinreferencetothismatteron
January 31,2019, andthathistestimonywascompletelytruthful. Additionally,Sgt.Greenesaidhe

providedtruthful testimonyto FDLE Special AgentBoresonMay8, 2019. Sgt. Greene testifiedtothe
following:

»Hedeniedparticipating intheMarch14,2013 undercoveroperationatthenewAsianMassage
tu; Peron, locatedat 179] BoyscoutDrive

bial ‘Hedenied providingthe recordingequipmentto JayRodriguezforthis operation

Hedenied knowingwho providedtherecordingequipmentto JayRodriguezfortisoperation.

Hedenicdreceivingbackthe recordingequipmentfrom Jay Rodriguezaftertheoperation

He denied knowingwhomayhavereceivedthe recordingequipmentafer theoperation

Hedenied downloadingor uploadinganyvideofrom this operationtoany computersorother
devices

3:Hedeniedknowingwhomayhavebeen responsiblefordownloadingoruploadinganyvideofrom
thisoperation.

¥
« Hedenied(asreportedbyDonald Weathers)that acouple ofdays afertheoperationtook place

heallegedlycalled Wealhersintohisofficean toldhim sboutthe massage parlor operation

«Hedenied(asreportedbyDonaldWeathers)thatheshowedthevideooftheoperationto
‘WeathersandDetective WolfgangDaniel onhiscomputer

«Hedeniedhaving a conversationwithDonald Weathers relating tothe contentofthe video.
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+Hedenied(asreportedbyDonaldWeathers) thatDetectiveDanielsandhimselftoldDonald
‘Weathersthattheybothwereinvolvedinthemassageparloroperation

* He denied (as reportedbyDonald Weathers) that he told Weathers acovertffamerawas.
usedduringtheoperation

* He denied(asreportedbyDonald Weathers)thatRodrigueztold himnothingwasrecordedonthe
device whenheallegedlyreturnedit

Hetestified thathehadneverseen thevideooftheoperationinquestionspriortoitsreleasein
2019inthemedia

¢ Hedenied violatingFMPDpolicybyprovidinguntruthful sworntestimony to Major Newhouse
onJanuary31,2019

*HedeniedviolatingFMPDpolicy byprovidinguntruthfulswomtestimonyto FDLEon May8,
2019

‘SubjectInterview —Detective Wolfeane Daniel
On February 26, 2021, at 2:42 p.n., Major Newhouse conducted a sworn audio recorded interview

withDetective Wolfgang Daniel. MatthewSellerswas present,actingas Detective Daniel's union
representative. Priorto questioning,Major Newhouse providedDetectiveDanielwithGarritywarnings
and acopyofthe LawEnforcementOfficers’BillofRights. Additionally, DetectiveDanielwas
providedwithampletimetoreviewall documentsand statementsrelated tothe InternalAffairs
Tnvetigation.

DetectiveDanielassertedthathepreviously provided a swomstatementinreferencetothismatteron
January 31,2019, andtht istestimonywascompletelytruthful. Additionally,Detective Danielsaidhe
‘providedtruthfultestimony to FDLESpecial AgentBoresonApril 30, 2019.DetectiveDanieltestified
tothefollowing:

© Hedeniedparticipating in theMarch14, 2013 undercoveroperationat thenewAsianMassage
‘parlor,locatedat 1791BoyscoutDrive

©Hedenied providingtherecordingequipmentto JayRodriguezforthisoperation

tay Hiedenied knowingwhoprovidedtherecording equipmentto Jay Rodriguezforthisoperation

.» Hedeniedreceivingbacktherecordingequipmentfrom JayRodriguezaftertheoperation

* Hedeniedknowing whomayhavereceivedthe recordingequipmentaftertheoperation:
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Hedenied downloadingoruploadinganyvideofromthisoperation toany computers or other
devices

«Hedeniedknowing whomayhavebeenresponsiblefordownloadingoruploadinganyvideofrom
thisoperation

Hedenied (as reportedbyDonaldWeathers) that acoupleofdaysafterthe operationtook place
Th waspresentwhen Sgt.Greeneallegedlycalled Weathersintohisoffice andtold himsbout
themassageparloroperation

2246 $iedenied (as reportedbyDonaldWeathers)that Sgt. Groeneshowed th vidso of theoperation to
‘Weathersand himselfonhiscomputer

*Hedeniedhaving » conversationwithDonald Weathersrelatingtothecontentofthevideo
«Hedenied (ssreportedbyDonald Weathers) that Sgt.Greeneandhimselftold Donald Weathers

thattheybothwereinvolvedinthe massageparloropezation

+Hedenied (us reportedbyDonald Weathers) tat he told Weathers &coverJlcamera vas
‘usedduringtheoperation

+ Ho denied(areportedbyDonaldWeathers) thatRodrigueztoldSgt.Groene nothingwas
2 y recordedonthedevice whenhe allegedlyreturnedit

+ He testified thathohadneverseen thevideooftheoperationin questionsprior{0 itsreleasein2019inthemedia

HedeniedviolatingFMPDpolicybyprovidinguntruthful sworntestimonyto Major Newhouse
on January31,2019

*HedeniedviolatingFMPDpolicybyproviding untruthfulsworntestimonytoFDLEonMay 8,2019

‘Hedenied (asreportedbyMr.Ken)tathewasinvolvedin adiscussionwithDetectiveDoyle,
TREwe.ichlwhenie Ketova he cuiCopsReds
¢ "cagaginginsexualactswith aprostituteduringanoperation

On Friday, February 26, 2021, Major Newhousesentanemailto Jay Rodriguez,requestingthathe
participate n'aswominterview forthis investigation. Additionally, MejorNewbouse provided Mr.
Rodrigucawith alisofthespecificallegationsagainsthim.Mr.Rodriguczneverrespondedtothe
email. Theemail iscontained withinthecase file.
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On Tuesday,March9,2021,Major Newhousesent acertifiedlettertoJayRodriguez,requestinghe
participatein a swom interviewforthsinvestigation. Thisletterincluded a lstofthespecific
allegationsagainsthim.The letterwasdeliveredtoMr.RodriguezonMarch 15, 2021,at 2:18 pm. Mr.
Rodriguez filedtorespond to therequest foraninterview withinthe S-businessday timeframe outlined
intheletter. Acopyoftheletterwasincludedinthecasefle.

Inn Friday,March12,2021,SA Bores(Now“Kendall”) metwith MajorNewhouseattheFort Myers
Jplice Department.Shetumedover series ofevidenceshecollectedding her criminal invesigaion.

is evidence includedthefollowingitems:

©AppleiPadwithcase/keyboard (Capt. Rodriguez"assigneditem — returned to inventory)
«Dellcomputer tower(Capt. Rodriguez’assigned em — to inventory)
 WestemDigital (SIGVideoPrimary)harddrive (Refurmed
«Wester Digital (SIG VideoBack-up)harddrive Rn
+ SynologyNASDevicewithpowercord(Returmed
 Westem Digital handdrivewicordcontainingsurveillance vide fromSIGoffice(PlacedinIA fle)
«2012-2013 Financial Requesis &Expenditure Reports(Placedin1A file)
« 2013 FinancialRequests &ExpenditureReports(PlacedinIAfile)

+9-2012briefs&complaints PlacedinIA fle)
Fie2013bis&complaints(lacedin IA6)

*Panasoniclaptopwithchargingcable (Capt. Rodrigues assigneditem returnedtoinventory)

OnThursday,March18, 2021,Major NewhousetelephonedMattSellersandmadehimawareofthe
itemsreturnedby FDLEandretrained withintheIAcasefile. Major Newhouselet Mr. Sellersknow that
Acting Sgt.Groene and DetectiveDaniel couldexaminethe itemsiftheychoseto. However, Major
‘Newhouse explained hehadnoadditionalquestionsforGreeneorDaniel.

On Friday, March 19, 2021, at 1:30 p.m. Major NewhousemetwithDetective Danielandprovided
himan opportunity to reviewtheadditional documentsprovidedfromFDLE(listedabove). Detective
‘Daniel reviewedthedocuments. Major Newhouseaskednoadditional questionsofDetective Daniel.
‘DetectiveDanielelectednottoamendhispriorsubjectemployeeinterview.

a
©./OnFriday, March19,2021,at4:00 pan., MajorNewhousemetwithActingSg.Greeneandprovided
imanopportunity toreviewtheadditionaldocuments providedfromFDLE (listedabove). Acting Sgt.
Greenereviewedthedocuments.Major Newhouseaskednoadditonalquestionsof Acting Sgt. Groene.
DetectiveDanielelectednot to amendhisprio subjectemployee intervie.
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Underthepenaltiesof perjury, Ideclarethat I haveread theforegoingdocumentandthatthefucts stated :
initaretruetothebestofmyknowledgeandbelief.

1theundersigned,doherebyswear, underpenatyofpeciry, that, 0thebest ofmypersonalknowledgs,
information, andbelief, 1havenotknowinglyorwilfully deprived,orallowedanather to deprive, the +
subjectof theinvestigationofanyof therightscontained in ss. 112.532and112.533, Florida Statutes, :
Dates :
24) re _31 3/aa [sea]

sjor William R. Newhouse Date

o
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